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FOREWORD


Dear reader,

Yet another book in the Pacific Alternate Series. It's been one more good time for me, as I love to write about this story. Unfortunately for the Japanese, things are a little less fun. America has finally geared up toward full war production; its ships are numerous and better armed. Its air force is now blanketing the skies, with well-trained pilots and superb aircraft.

It’s not yet time for the killing stroke, but America has definitely started the reconquest of the Pacific and grabbed the strategic initiative for good.

We pick up our story three months after the events of the last book. Johnston Island has been bombed to oblivion by American B-29s now based out of Pearl Harbor. A final confrontation is looming between the two surviving concrete battleships and one hell of an American super battleship, the Montana.

The island-hopping campaign is now also starting for the U.S. forces, as they are poised to land in the Gilberts, the Marshalls, Samoa, New Caledonia, and have their eyes locked on Midway.

In the South Seas, General Douglas MacArthur is in the last finishing touches of Operation Cartwheel, the destruction and liberation of the main Japanese base in New Britain, Rabaul.

A confrontation looms in Southeast Asia, as the Japanese react to the relentless Allied advance in Siam and the Malay Peninsula. A Japanese fleet will also soon arrive to make things interesting around Singapore.

I hope you guys are doing well. I am having a busy summer, coaching my son’s two baseball teams, eating up a lot of my time, but I have still found some time to get you guys a book to read. Next up, I have to decide what I want to do. I hesitate between book 2 of the WW1 series or the third installment in the Napoleonic Alternate Series. Haven’t decided yet.

Until next time, I wish you all a great day and hope you enjoy my work.

Max


PROLOGUE


Gun duel in the Marshall Islands

Kwajalein Atoll, January 15, 1944

The Marshall Islands, located about 2,800 miles southwest of the Hawaiian Islands, had been, until the outbreak of World War One, occupied by Imperial Germany. The Japanese had gleefully conquered the small islands and atoll chain in 1914-1915, as well as many others all over the Pacific, like the Marianas and the Carolinas. Once the war was over, they received a mandate from the League of Nations to administer the area. In 1944, it was a Japanese fortified area with a few lagoon anchorages (like at Kwajalein) and several airfields. In short, a perfect spot for naval bases the U.S. Navy wanted.

In the 1930s, Japan had, of course, fortified most of the Marshalls into support facilities, building defenses, harbors, and airfields. All these strategically placed islands and areas were essential to the Japanese concept of perimeter defense for its Empire. Every one of them was to be fortified and defended, thus supposedly making the American advance difficult and bloody through the Pacific, because they would need to attack them before going further into the Empire's core. At the beginning of the war in 1942, the Marshalls were also used as a jumping-off point for the invasion of the Line Islands, the Gilberts, and Samoa.

The Americans needed to saddle themselves with the task of clearing out a path into the Pacific to win the war. They now had their main base on Oahu, but more would be needed to make the approach to Japan and to defeat the multitude of Japanese forces across the Pacific.

As much as America pushed hard toward Johnston Atoll and had its eyes on liberating Midway and Wake, the road to the Japanese home islands did not lay on that axis since the distances were too great, and the USA could not use any of these to have bases for their aircraft to reach Japan itself. After all, none of the fighters America had could cover the distance (2,000 miles) between Wake and the Japanese Home Islands. They could potentially base their long-range "Doolittle 29s" modified bombers there, but as had been shown in Hawaii, no measure of heavy bombing replaced infantry and ships to conquer land. If the United States wanted to defeat the Japanese (not just destroy their cities), they needed to approach closer to Japan before attacking it and depriving the Imperial Navy first of its ships and bases. Only then could victory be contemplated.

Ever since their reconquest campaign of Hawaii in the Summer-Fall of 1943, the U.S. Navy had been busy repairing its base and supply logistics. After its victory at the Battle of Johnston Atoll and having cleared Oahu's flanks (liberating the rest of the Hawaiian Islands), they started to send significant reinforcements to Australia and New Guinea, all the while building up for an offensive in the Central Pacific. And the Marshalls were right in the middle of where they wanted to go.

The islands were a tempting target for the USA because Japanese naval and air activity had greatly diminished in the area following Yamamoto's retreat toward Japan. In essence, there was nothing Yamamoto had to intercept most Allied movements across the Pacific in January 1944.

From the American perspective, completely obvious to the fact that the Grand Admiral might have foreseen their move in the Marshalls, the only fleet that could have done something was the Imperial Navy's much-weakened 1st Fleet under Admiral Saemu Toyoda (based in Truk). The entire affair thus looked safe and without significant risk for a task force to enter the area. Allied intelligence on the island chain was spotty at best because the Marshalls had been completely out of range of any Allied airbase. However, the multitude of atolls in the area were a tempting target for the Americans because they wanted to have a foothold in the Central Pacific to continue their advance into the Caroline Islands and toward the Philippines.

(…) Prelude to the naval battle (…)

Admiral Nimitz had consequently decided to send reconnaissance in force to test the defenses in the area and to flush out any Japanese ships lurking around. The fleet was led by escort aircraft carriers Manila Bay and Natoma Bay. They were flanked by a brand-new battleship, the Vermont. Cruisers Baltimore and Boston flanked the capital ships, and ten destroyers were sailing around them to protect them from torpedo attacks and to act as a flak screen. The idea was to sail in, ferret out any of the Japanese aircraft, bases, or ships, and then fight them if they were not too numerous, which was the most probable possibility.

From what U.S. military intelligence had been able to gather (radio traffic and Magic decoded messages), the Japanese didn't have a lot of fleet units or many planes in the Marshalls. All of them had been concentrated on Johnston Island in the recent battle there, and most were now either destroyed or gone back to Japan. It was thus deemed a low-risk affair to sail all the way to the main atoll (Kwajalein) and see what could be poked out of the nest. Unfortunately for them, they were completely unaware that a big danger lurked in the area. Furthermore, the reason they had not detected anything was that Yamamoto had sent something very precious to Kwajalein and ordered it to keep total radio silence. He was fearful of losing that very precious ship to submarines, and thus, silence was its best defense.

The American task force approaching the small atoll of Wotje, at the northernmost area of the Marshalls, had been recently created in the USA. All the ships were brand new and had just finished their sea trials. Under the command of a dynamic commander, Rear Admiral Daniel J. Callaghan, they had gathered offshore San Diego and sailed immediately toward the island chain. On the way, it stopped for a refuel and resupply at the recently liberated Palmyra Atoll in the Line Islands, and then it was off to its mission. It was also joined by the recently repaired battleship South Dakota, which came all the way up from the repair yards in Sydney, Australia.

Following his twin defeats in the Battle of Kauai and the Battle of Johnston Island, Grand Admiral Isoroku Yamamoto retired to Japan to repair his ships and plan the next phase of the war. Japan was now switching to the strategic defensive, and the naval commander needed to change the entire stance of the Imperial Navy. Gone were the days of grand-style operations and sea battles. The U.S. Navy was just too big to contemplate any chance at victory or to confront directly.

He thus sent the main body of the Combined Fleet back to Kure and other ports in Japan. But the man was not blind to his enemy's next obvious target, the Marshall Islands. He consequently detached a small (but mighty) task force to Kwajalein to be assigned to the area's defense, including none other than the super battleship Yamato.

Another battleship, the Yamashiro, flanked it. Simultaneously, the two dreadnought's air cover was entrusted to the escort carrier Kaiyo (plus the island's airfields) and cruisers Ibuki. The usual screening of destroyers formed a protective ring around them. The Imperial Navy task force was under the command of Rear-Admiral Obata Chozaemon, formerly in command of a fleet in the Indian Ocean, before moving back with his damaged battleship to Japan for repairs. Yamashiro was back to top shape and fully patched up in January 1944; it was ready for operation. The Kaiyo and the Ibuki were brand-new ships, thus harboring the best and most up-to-date Japanese tech.

So, the stage was thus set for yet another battle in the Pacific. The American task force, sailing close to the small atoll of Wotje at the island chain entrance, quickly attacked the small airfield and Japanese fortifications there. Rear Admiral Obata Chozaemon, the Japanese task force commander, did not take long to react when he'd heard of the U.S. Navy approach to the area he was tasked with defending. He picked up steam and left the Kwajalein anchorage (the atoll didn't have a port, but the Nipponese ships used the lagoon) about eight hours after receiving the first reports of enemy activity at Wotje.

(…) The warmup: Battle at Wotje (…)

Wotje comprised 72 islands and was a difficult place to assault, hence why the Japanese Imperial Navy had chosen it as a base. It was about sixty flight minutes from Kwajalein. The Japanese defenders on the island included some 5,000 armed soldiers and sailors (Army and Navy) with about five hundred civilians and Korean slaves (construction workers).

Once diplomatic relations started to worsen between the United States and Japan, the island, along with the entirety of the Marshall Islands, became an important place to defend. There, the Japanese military built bases, airfields, and small port facilities. They brought guns, planes, and everything in between to defend islands like Wotje.

Filled to the brim with guns of all make and origins (old British and captured Russian guns from the 1905 war were brought along), the island was like a hedgehog of muzzles pointing at the sea and at anything that would dare approach it in anger.

Early in 1942, a large armed transport named the Ikita Marut was sunk near the Island by an enemy submarine, and its guns (120mm) were removed from the half-sunken hull and installed on the island. Before the battle of Johnston Island and the recall of everything available by Yamamoto, two squadrons of planes were stationed here, namely torpedo bombers and patrol bombers, although at the moment of the American attack in January 1944, only ten planes remained because the rest had been either destroyed in the battle at Johnston or else shipped away to one of the “many) beleaguered spots in the Japanese Empire.

After a couple of air strikes on the airfield and the seaplane base, the fifty American planes from both escort carriers Manila Bay and Natoma Bay made short work of the tiny Japanese air force and then contended with the island's flak defenses. The fight there was also short with the arrival of the battleship Vermont and the two heavy cruisers (Boston and Baltimore), who, after a quick long-range bombardment, made short work of the smaller Wotje defenses. The island was well defended against smaller ships and ready to repel an amphibious invasion but ill-suited to fight the big guns of a modern battleship like the all-new Vermont. Within a few hours, the clash was over, and the American vessels took some distance from the atoll as incoming ships were detected by Vermont's excellent and top-of-the-line radar set.

(…) The duel (…)

By the end of January 15, the fighters from the two escort carriers had warded off several additional airstrikes, this time from Kwajalein and from the Kaiyo. It also had shore bombarded Wotje to ruins, and it was almost time to leave. But Read-Admiral Callahan decided to stay and fight once he was made aware of the approaching Japanese ships by his radar people.

Rear Admiral Obata Chozaemon steamed full ahead with his battleships, intending to fight it out with the U.S. Navy's big guns. The Japanese made it to the island's vicinity by dusk, spotting the Americans with the radar from Yamato. The American fleet commander, already aware of the enemy's presence, ordered his ship to prepare for battle. Callahan might have hesitated if he'd known the full extent of Japanese proficiency for naval fighting at night (they'd trained hard on that aspect) and the fact that Yamato was with the enemy task force. He'd read the after-action reports of the night actions in the Solomons but decided to disregard them, as he felt his ships would fare better since they knew the Japanese approached.

As the light fell on the horizon, giving the sky an orange glow and the sea a mirror-like state, the big guns from the battleships on both sides lit up with powerful explosions. The Japanese fired first, since Yamato could fire from further away because of its main guns sporting 460 mm of pure power, compared to the 406 mm of both U.S. Navy’s battleships. The Japanese gunners on the super dreadnought managed to score a hit on the Vermont’s superstructure before the Allies closed the range to fire their salvos.

By then, it was utterly dark, and both fleets continued to approach each other, firing away as they went. No hits were recorded for a while as both Americans and Japanese maneuvered with agility and avoided the other’s salvos. By 2 AM, the Japanese ships had closed the distance to short-range, flanked by a small non-descript atoll. It was at that moment that the Yamato indeed showed the full extent of its power. It found the outline of the Vermont against the moon, just two kilometers away. To the spotters on the ship, it almost seemed like the enemy appeared out of thin air. Such was the vagaries of night fighting at sea, as they had learned in their relentless training. One always had to be ready for action and to recognize the sign that a ship was nearby (sound, outline, small lights, or the moon's reflections on steel, for example). The American ship’s radar also detected the Yamato, and it was soon a matter of which of the two steel giants would hit the other first and how hard.

Firing its full three triple turrets salvo, Yamato hit the American ship with the mighty force of its guns, creating a spectacular explosion that lit the night – and both fleets- for a long instant. All vessels from both sides then suddenly opened fire with all gun’s blazing. The gun exchange was spectacular, from a distance, full of flashes, tracers, large sprouts of water, explosions, and awesome sound. Each side poured as much metal as they could into the other. Vermont also slammed a few shells on Yamato’s armor belt and forward-most main gun but failed to penetrate and inflict enough damage to make it count. With only one main gun still operational, the American dreadnought fired one last time and again damaged the Yamato with two shells.

This type of heavy firing could not be sustained for long by both ships. Fortunately for the Nipponese vessel, it was a lot better armored and thus could withstand much more punishment. But the opposite was also true for the Yankee ship. Vermont, already stricken by the Yamato's first salvo, was shattered by seven shells, and it could not take the powerful onslaught anymore. The great ship loudly exploded, splitting in two to sink in mere minutes. The blast was a spectacular display of fire and light, as if a fire mushroom had appeared over the water.

The Yamashiro, dueling with the South Dakota, didn’t fare as well as its bigger brother. The Japanese ship was older and had not been modernized to the same extent as the South Dakota; thus, it got the short end of the stick during the exchange. It was riddled with shell impacts, starting four major fires that rolled across its superstructure like a wall of flame, killing a third of its crew. Within minutes, the Japanese battleship was crippled and out of action.

The Japanese cruiser Ibuki dueled with Boston and Baltimore and managed to avoid most of the American shots while hitting Boston with a lucky salvo.

By 3 AM, both Admirals had had enough and ordered a turn about to their fleet at almost the same time. Casualties on both sides were heavy, but the Japanese remained masters of the area.


Johnston Island’s end

Montana's baptism of fire, January 16, 1944

The Johnston Atoll Base was but a shadow of itself. Relentlessly bombed to oblivion by hundreds upon hundreds of American aircraft (B-17s and Doolittle 29s bombers), it was a sorry excuse for a harbor and an airfield.

Following the Imperial Navy’s retreat to Japan and the depletion of the Japanese air wings in the Central Pacific as a whole, the sky had been clear for the Americans, and they’d taken full advantage of it. Japan didn’t have the possibility of reinforcing the base without risking its carriers, and that was not something Yamamoto had been willing to do. It had taken months of ferrying back and forth by the Japanese transport ships and aircraft carriers to bring the fighters that otherwise were out of range of any conventional rebasing flight distances.

Admiral Chester Nimitz had thus been content to bomb out the base, as it represented no risk to do so. After two full weeks of round-the-clock bombing, nothing was left in terms of air defenses, and then the submarine docks, airfields, hangars, and oil facilities with everything in between were smashed to oblivion during the next two months. The situation was such that several evacuation attempts were executed by Japanese destroyers and a few transports, although only essential construction personnel and surviving pilots were taken. The soldiers were ordered to stay on the three small islands and to hunker down in their bunkers. Their orders were clear: resist as long as possible.

But strong defenses remained, and no number of aerial bombings or air strikes by the carriers had been able to silence them. The two concrete battleships built by Japan still stood proud and strong and impeded any American intentions of landing to capture Johnston Island.

The Japanese copied the concept of Fort Drum in the Philippines, a sort of battleship made out of concrete with walls thirty feet thick and equipped with gun turrets just like battleships. The Nipponese leaders had been much impressed by the strength of the American fort during their Siege of Manila in 1942. The place had resisted for weeks on end, and no amount of assault or bombing had reduced it. Thus, Yamamoto caught on to the idea and decided to recreate the concept with concrete battleships.

Two of them were built, and the guns of two old and decommissioned pre-dreadnought-era battleships were shipped in to act as their weapons. The Fuji-Class battleships had two 305 mm caliber twin gun turrets, which were deemed perfect to use in a fixed defense role since they had been gathering dust in Japan since the end of World War One. Both “concrete battleships” were then named after their turret’s forebears: The Fuji and the Yashima.

Both of the naval forts were horribly pockmarked and scarred, looking like derelict constructions jutting out of the water. But looks could be deceiving, and both of them retained their main guns because it had been almost impossible to hit the things with planes. Most of the machine guns were also operational because they had been inside the fort itself, only jutting out by tiny embrasures impossible to hit with bombs without extreme luck. Most of the flak guns were gone, however.

The Americans had even tried with dive bombers. It was to no avail, and the turrets had been hit a few times, but the Japanese had reinforced their protective armor with so much metal that they remained operational, and no Allied bombs had been able to penetrate them. When they got damaged, they got repaired.

Thus, the Japanese remained in control of Johnston Island up until January 1944 because the Americans had not yet been able to approach with their landing barges and amphibious ships. It soon became obvious to the American commanders Nimitz, Mitscher, and Kinkaid in the lead that a different solution had to be found. There were thoughts of leaving the base alone as it was a hollow Japanese stronghold without any hope of becoming operational without major effort, but then American pride won out in the end. Johnston Island was U.S. territory, and there was no way they would leave the Japs they hated so much on it.

What changed the situation was the arrival of something truly big and powerful on the American side. The giant super-battleship Montana, finally completed after three years of work, was ready for action. It brought to bear 70,000 tons of might and steel to the battle and an ideal solution to break the damned forts. It came armed with an incredibly large 18-inch/48-caliber Mark 1 gun (457 mm) in four triple turrets (so a total of twelve guns), making it the most formidable battle platform afloat on the Allied side and a true contender for the Yamato and Musashi, the bane of the U.S Navy and its allies.

“Sir,” started the ship’s Captain, Vice-Admiral Dave Westmoreland. “The ship is ready for action.“ “Well,” answered newly minted Fleet Admiral Marc Mitscher. “Let’s see what the big boy has in store for the Japanese,” he answered. Admiral Mitscher was one of the U.S. heroes of the Pacific War to date, being the man in command of the fleet that liberated Oahu and then the victor of the Battle of Kauai over the Imperial Japanese Fleet. And then again, victorious in the next naval confrontation against Yamamoto himself at the Battle of Johnston Island. “Sir,” added the comm officer, leaning just beside the radioman. “The Dunkerque and the Tennessee also report ready for action.”

The man was keen to see the super battleship in action, first and foremost because it was the weapon of choice to destroy those damned concrete battleships, but also because it was America’s response to the two big Japanese bastards of a ship, Yamato and Musashi. He would have loved to see the face of that self-righteous Grand Admiral of theirs when he heard of the news of the Montana’s appearance on the waves. The United States Navy had a score to settle with the Nipponese super dreadnoughts, as the mega ships killed many of their own battlewagons, and that was a terrible insult to American pride. The latest of which was the South Dakota, sunk the day before by Yamato in the Marshall Islands.

The awesome punching power and the range of the Montana’s 457 mm guns meant that it could bombard the concrete battleships from a distance and that it could also move in close and withstand the 305 mm guns of the old Fuji-class battleships guns. With the help of both the Tennessee and the French Dunkerque, he was confident of putting an end to the two pesky naval forts.

Everyone on the bridge of the mighty vessel awaited Mitscher’s next words. The Admiral had moved his flag to Montana and made it the flagship of the entire U.S. “Signal the other two battleships that we fire a concentrated salvo at exactly 1200,” he said, looking at his watch to make sure he was giving the right time. The comm officer didn’t say a word but smiled, then relayed his orders. Mitscher looked around the bridge and saw that everyone else was also smiling.

Thirty seconds later, the combined salvo of three mighty battlewagons fired altogether. They were standing roughly to each other’s side, with Montana in the middle. Tennessee's nine 14-inch guns were joined by Dunkerque’s eight 330 mm ones. A millisecond later, Montana’s mighty 18-inch guns boomed with all their power.

The combined, coordinated salvo was something to behold. A loud thunderclap was heard, and impressive gouts of flames exploded out of the thirty muzzles in lances of flames several dozens of meters long, and the sea in front of the three ships undulated like a bursting bubble, with ripples the sizes of waves rolling in their wakes.

Moments later, the shells traveled the ten-kilometer distance to the twin naval forts and then arrived at their destination. Unlike moving ships, the Fuji and Yashima concrete battleships could not evade, and their position had been carefully plotted by the American aviators. Thus, the U.S. range finder had no trouble at all in zeroing in on them. There was no finding the range nor straddling shots. All of the thirty shells slammed on their first target, the Fuji.

Having fired a millisecond before the Montana and the Dunkerque, Tennessee’s shells arrived first, slamming on the side of the concrete and exploding in a great fury. Then the Dunkerque shells joined, adding to the maelstrom, but the explosion truly took a life of its own when the incredibly powerful 18-inch shells of the Montana crashed in. They plowed through the concrete battleship walls like they were a hot knife going through butter. They penetrated sixty feet deep before igniting in a cataclysmic explosion. The result was nothing short of spectacular. The entire structure of the Fuji came apart as if a volcano had opened it from the inside.

Every Japanese soldier inside the fort was vaporized instantly, and the power of the blast sent a concussion wave a kilometer in radius. The Fuji had been full of ammunition, and all of that went up in flames at the same time, joining in the explosion. Debris and shrapnel were catapulted as far as three kilometers away, some slamming on Johnston Island, others on Yashima.

Stunned, every Japanese soldier, sailor, and gun handler on the stricken Johnston Island Base looked numbly and in shocked silence. Many of them had their ears ringing like broken doorbells, and for the ones nearest the blast (on the Yashima), some had even lost consciousness.

What replaced the explosion was an impressive and towering column of dark smoke with an ever-expanding shroud of haze and debris landing everywhere on the ocean surface across a large radius.

Not understanding what had just happened because they thought themselves safe from battleship shells, the Yashima naval fort handlers never really had the time to comprehend what was falling upon them before the next Allied salvo hit them as well, creating much the same in terms of destruction and death. One instant, they were there; the next, they were gone along with their mighty concrete battleship.


Kure naval base

Tokyo, January 17, 1944

The Kure naval base, also known as the Kure naval arsenal for its great role in the building of several Japanese warships (carriers Akagi and Soryu battleships Fuso and Yamato, amongst others), was the headquarters of the Imperial Navy's combined fleet for the whole Pacific theater. At present, the yards were busy building a light cruiser, the Oyodo, and had recently finished work on the heavy cruiser Ibuki. Most of the other docks and drydocks had their work cut out for them, as several ships were in for repairs after the many major battles in the Pacific.

Grand Admiral Isoroku Yamamoto, the commander-in-chief of the Japanese fleet, was deep in thought, walking the busy decks of the fleet aircraft carrier Zuikaku. The great ship had been gutted by several bombs and had limped back to Japan with gigantic holes in its decks, a list to port, and a severely damaged control tower. It was also the last remaining main fleet carrier operating with the Combined Fleet. The Imperial Navy now only had three of them left from the six that originally started the war. The Shokaku and the Kaga were still afloat and located at the Truk Atoll in the South Pacific. He sighed at the memory of the three great ships he’d lost. The Hiryu, the Soryu, and the great Akagi. What saddened him even more was the slowness of Japanese shipbuilding construction. He stopped walking for a moment as a few repair workers walked by, saluting him with a respectful bow before going about their work. In the distance, he saw the shapes of two aircraft carriers under construction. One was the Taiho, and the second one was in the dock that built Yamato. The Shinano was supposed to be the third Yamato-Class battleship, but it was decided to convert it to a carrier in 1942. The ship was so big it could only be completed in the largest dock Japan had. He wished he could have them here and now since the U.S. forces were so numerous that it was almost impossible to do anything to stop their depredations over the Empire’s Pacific dominion.

The Admiral, walking amongst the welding torches, welding sparks, cranes, and busy sailors, was nonetheless satisfied with the progress of the repairs. The ship would be ready soon for action. Looking up over the ship, he could see the three operational battleships he had with the Combined Fleet, Mutsu, Fuso, and Hyuga, in succession, moored just outside the docks. The three ships were now fully repaired. They weren’t carriers and thus would not help Yamamoto fight the multitude of American flattops, but they could take a punishment and give one in return. At least, that was something. In the distance, he also saw some of the new builds of the last three months; the small escort carriers Akitsu Maru, Shinyo, and Nigitsu Maru. They weren’t perfect and could only marginally add to his airwing fighting power, but they were better than nothing.

The Admiral, flanked by many officers, was inspecting all the ships under repairs. He had also gone to other shipyards in Southern Japan to do the same in the last few days. He'd wanted to see the progress but also gauge the morale of the sailors and marines. He had been surprised to see that most still retained a high level of confidence in the war's final outcome.

It was a welcome sight for the strategic mastermind, but it made him sad since he didn't see how Japan could win the war. Without the "lock" that represented Hawaii, the U.S. Navy was free to roam the Pacific at will, and that greatly worried Yamamoto. His base at Johnston Island had not even lasted more than one or two battles, and now it was truly gutted. There were even troubling reports of enemy super battleships rivaling none other than Japan’s own, Yamato and Musashi.

The two concrete battleships were gone, and now he expected the Americans to land and conquer the leftover of the base in a very short time frame. To think he’d received good news just a day before with the report from the Yamato sinking yet another American battleship. His happiness was short-lived with the bad news that came out of Johnston the very next day.

The Americans had apparently produced even more ships and war material than he had dared think, and he suspected that it was only the beginning. If they even had what he’d considered his only edge (the Imperial Navy’s super battleships), he didn’t know what else he could do.

With the battle near Kwajalein, he now expected the Marshalls to be the enemy’s next target. The U.S. Navy had probably sent the fleet that fought Yamato as a recon in force to test the Empire’s outer defensive perimeter. He also believed that the U.S. was just weeks from landing in Wake and Midway. He'd decided that the Imperial Fleet, sufficiently repaired, would do something about that and challenge the Americans again, even if his chances were slim of attaining any type of success. He didn't think it would affect the ultimate outcome, but the Admiral had to try something, and anyway, the high command (Dai Honei) that was about to meet would demand he do something about Allied depredations in the Central Pacific.

The Japanese headquarters at Truk Atoll (in the Southwest Pacific) also reported strong enemy reinforcements in the Coral Sea and Australia. The Allies now controlled the Solomons with their conquest of Bougainville. They also occupied the entire northern coast of New Guinea and were poised to land in New Britain to attack Rabaul, the Japanese stronghold in the South Seas. Something would have to be done about that since, with strong forces, the Allies could unhinge all of the Empire's southern conquests. He just didn’t know what and when. He closed his eyes briefly as they moved right beside the Zuikaku repaired plane elevator. “One thing at a time, Isoroku,” he muttered to himself. “What was that, Grand Admiral,” said his chief of Staff, Admiral Matome Ukagi. “Never mind, Admiral,” he answered with a weary smile. His long-time right-hand man knew better but decided to pretend otherwise. “Very well, sir.”

Avoiding yet another welding station while walking toward the almost repaired control tower of the Zuikaku, Yamamoto could make all the plans he wanted; the results would be the same, he thought sadly. While he could not tell his countrymen the truth of it, Japan would eventually lose the war, and badly. It was just simple mathematics, and many of the military fanatics would never accept these facts as reality. They would always believe in Japan’s ultimate victory, regardless of the odds.

The United States of America was something else compared to tiny Nippon. He had seen the gigantic factories, the size of the country, and the power the Yankees could wield. Most of his countrymen, including the leading elite, had never been to America. While they could look at a map and intellectually understand that the United States was a bigger and more powerful country than Japan, they simply could not comprehend the giant of a powerhouse with which they had chosen to pick a fight.


The Last three months of the Pacific War (Oct-Dec 43)

The situation in January 1944

Overall - Pacific

The Japanese Empire of January 1944 still covered a huge area of the Pacific and Asia. The Imperial flag flew from as far away as Samoa, New Britain, New Caledonia, the Dutch East Indies, Indochina and Malaysia, and everything in between (the Philippines, the Pacific islands, Manchuria, Korea). It was a huge area, and at first glance, Japan appeared all-powerful. But appearances were deceiving in this case.

Yes, it controlled a huge area, but the forces trying to pry its control away were truly powerful. In the span of a mere year, it had lost very important zones, like the Hawaiian Islands, the Solomon Islands, and Burma.

Its fleets were in shambles, and the ones of its adversaries were growing tenfold. The troops arrayed against it were also more numerous by the day. The size of the Empire it controlled also forced it to defend itself in many different areas, making it impossible to concentrate in one place. The U.S. Navy was pushing hard through the Central Pacific with its Hawaii-Johnston-Marshalls Islands offensive, and the Imperial Navy no longer had enough ships to actually tackle it head-on without risking being wiped out. On land, things were not going well either, with the Chinese pushing hard on continental Asia and the Indian-British in Burma.

In the South Seas, where the Japanese forces had put a lot of effort into pushing through the Allied defenses and invading Australia, the entire affair was morphing into a disaster of epic proportions.

There was not one area of the Pacific where Japan didn’t feel threatened in January 1944, and it had good cause to believe that way. The Allies were on the offensive and firmly held the strategic initiative.

Hawaiian Islands- Central Pacific

The conquest of Oahu and the occupation of Pearl Harbor had been a major problem for the United States of America since it also combined with the Japanese occupation and conquest of most of the Pacific islands with good harbors, like Samoa, New Caledonia, and the Line Islands. As Grand Admiral Yamamoto envisioned in his plan of attack and strategic control of the Pacific, it worked wonders to dampen the American war-making capabilities in the Pacific. Without Oahu, it would have been impossible for the U.S. Navy to try any direct attack through the Central Pacific, and it forced the Americans to create a long and arduous supply line to keep Australia in the war. The so-called “milk run” had done its job, but the cost of such an operation had been humongous, notwithstanding the impact on the tempo of Allied operations in the South Pacific.

With the reconquest of the Hawaiian Islands in a daring operation in the Summer-Fall 1943, the U.S. forces now had a harbor and a base of operation to attack all across the Pacific, toward Japan, the Marshalls, the Caroline Islands, and supply Allied forces in the South Seas a lot more efficiently.

Now, America was finally ready to bring the war to the heart of the Japanese Empire. It operated and executed three simultaneous offensives in January 1944 (toward Johnston, the Marshalls, and the Gilberts), and more were coming against Samoa, New Caledonia, and other outlying Pacific islands. It did not look good for Japan.

South Seas sector

The South Seas were a critical area for the Japanese, and they had poured everything they had into the fight for first Australia, then New Guinea (with the Kokoda Track campaign), and then the Solomon Islands. But they had lost every campaign in the area. The ultimate result of these defeats meant that the Allies were about to land in New Britain and attack Rabaul, the main base in the South Seas.

With that base, the Allies would be in a position to strike at the heart of the Japanese Empire and make a run for the Philippines, one of their major war objectives. The final battle for New Britain was about to begin, following three months of Allied preparations for the offensive, and the Japanese trying to strengthen their defenses as best they could. The ultimate prize in the theater was the Gibraltar of the Pacific, Truk Atoll, the most powerful and biggest Imperial Navy Base located in the Caroline Islands. Once that fell, there would be no hope for Japan.

Burma-Sumatra-Southeast Asia

The Imperial Japanese Army had bowled through the Allies in the entire theater in 1942, with rapid conquest of the Dutch East Indies, Malaysia (and the Singapore fortress), Thailand, and then Burma. The Japanese land forces even invaded China and were able to lay siege to the Nationalist capital in Chongqing, further storming Kunming, the critically important southern industrial city.

But all of that was in the past now. Following severe supply shortages, because the Empire was busy attacking and pouring all it had into the South Seas campaign, the Imperial Army had withered on the vine and was pushed back and severely trashed. It simply did not have what it needed to fight properly and on equal terms. The obvious result had been defeat, humiliation, and retreat.

Now, disaster barrelled down on the Japanese as the entirety of Burma was under Allied control, and the Indian-British forces were on the offensive in Thailand, trying to push through toward Malaysia and Indochina. The British had also landed in force at the western tip of Sumatra, and that could be a problem, for if the Imperial Army could not retain control of the large island, the Empire would lose most of its oil resources.

Conclusion – Pacific Theater

The conclusion was obvious in January 1944. Japan was losing the war, and unless something truly miraculous was done, it would not be able to turn the tide. 


Assault on Tarawa part 1

Operation Galvanic, January 17th, 1944

The Southern Attack Force (Task Force 53), commanded by Rear Admiral Harry W. Hill, USN, approached a tiny atoll in the Gilbert Islands, right in the middle of nowhere in the Pacific. The Gilbert Islands, a group of sixteen atolls lying near the Marshall Islands and in the center of the Japanese Empire, were occupied by the Japanese since March 1942, when they occupied it with small forces detachments.

Launched from Jaluit with an SNLF Marines battalion, both the Makin and Tarawa atolls were rapidly conquered because there were no real defenses on the tiny islands, even if the Gilberts were located in strategic spots. In those days, the Allies didn’t have much in the way of troops apart from a few scattered larger bases in Australia, the Hawaiian Islands, the Philippines, and the Dutch East Indies.

It didn’t take long for the Japanese Imperial Navy to move a seaplane tender to the area and to build an operational seaplane base in order to properly cover the area in terms of air reconnaissance. Several weeks later (June 1942), a construction battalion moved to Betio to build an airstrip. It was also at this time that the Japanese started to fortify Tarawa, but without really believing the enemy would come. After all, they were master of the Pacific in June and July 1942, and the military reverses had not started yet.

The Japanese wave of expansion did not stop there and continued eastward toward Samoa, Fiji, and French Polynesia, so the war sort of forgot Tarawa for a while. But with the changing tide of war, it came back with a vengeance.

When Admiral Chester W. Nimitz, Commander in Chief, United States Pacific Fleet, had given the go-ahead for Operation Galvanic at the end of the fall of 1943, following his intentions to drive through the central Pacific islands toward the Philippines and Japan. Tarawa and Betio, in particular, became prime targets because of the airfield, the troops fortified there, and the seaplane base. The large lagoon could also be used by the U.S. Navy, and so the attack was decided upon.

The conquest of the small but numerous atoll group was essential for the Allied cause. It was a great springboard for an attack further in toward the Marshalls and the conquest of the main Japanese base in the area, Kwajalein. Also, it would effectively cut any possibility of supplies for the Japanese forces in the Fijis and Samoa. It wasn’t as if the Imperial Navy was sending a lot of reinforcements or goods to those far-flung and now almost isolated bases, but Nimitz nonetheless wanted them out of supply for the attacks he planned there. Galvanic was also a good way for the Marines and the Army to continue to bloody their troops in a sort of controlled way. After all, Betio was tiny and not believed to be too difficult to storm. They had already done well in Hawaii, but it was felt more experience was needed as more and more raw troops arrived from the Continental United States.

Betio was the largest island in the Tarawa Atoll. At the time of the battle, this long, narrow island was where the Japanese airstrip sat, with most of the Japanese troops in the Gilberts. By January 1944, four thousand defenders were entrenched and well-prepared for the enemy assault coming their way. The “defenders” also included Korean forced laborers shipped from the Asian mainland, but it wasn’t expected they would fight hard.

But they’d done their part (however reluctantly) for the Japanese defenses. In the year prior to the battle, these laborers worked to construct and enhance the Japanese defensive capabilities on the ground. A ton of defensive positions were thus built, riddling the entire island with bunkers, trenches, gun positions, and machine gun nests. The Japanese and their workers thus built with concrete, sand and coconut trees. Empty steel oil drums were filled with sand and built into walls near the beaches. Firing positions were made with interlocking fields of fire. Some barbed wire (at least what was shipped from Japan) was laid on many of the beaches and near the central command bunker, with obstacles dangerous to any Allied landing craft foolish enough to approach the fortified island. Eleven Type 97 Chi-Ha medium tanks were also covered with sand in large trenches dug for them all the way to their gun turret, making them almost impervious to American fire unless they were hit on the turret itself.

Well over forty artillery gun emplacements bristled out of Betio, and the islet was covered with gun muzzles oscillating between large (120mm) and small pieces (13mm). Since Japan was strapped for resources, guns, and military hardware in general, large guns bought from Britain during the Russo-Japanese War of 1905 were also shipped to Betio to add to the defense. They were a long way from home and also close to retirement, but the Japanese high command used everything it had as it couldn’t produce everything it needed.

With a tiny surface of a few miles, Betio island was not very hard to fill up with defenses and soldiers to man them. It was thus one of the most heavily defended spots (relative to its size and the density of the defenses) in all of the Pacific.  Rear Admiral Nika Tetaki, the commander of the force about to die for the Emperor, liked to boast that his island was so strong that “It would take more than one hundred years to storm this place!”

[image: A black and white rectangular object with text  Description automatically generated with medium confidence]

Task Force 53 escorting the 2nd Marine Division about to land.

At 0400 in the morning, everything was ready for the landings. Food was distributed so the Marines wouldn’t die with an empty belly. They moved into their ships below the net they climbed down. It was time to assault the Japanese stronghold.


Imperial Palace

Tokyo, January 17th, 1944

The main Palace Hall (Kyuden) was where the Emperor’s visitors were entertained. Over time, more governmental buildings and official function rooms were added to accommodate the various functions the emperor attended to.

Emperor Hirohito walked the large intricately decorated room alone. Well, alone was not exactly true, as there were always people escorting him everywhere, but he was left to his own devices, and no one asked anything from him.

Made of black granite, pine wood, and marble (the room was a place where Hirohito liked to spend time to think and ponder. The two chandeliers handing off the ceiling bathed the room with their glow. The things were made of 3,321 crystal glasses. He was proud of the construction, as it showed his people’s skills and workmanship.

The situation across the Pacific and in the war as a whole was getting very worrisome. While the bombs had not yet started to fall on Japanese cities, the military was losing ground every day to the Allies. It didn’t take a genius to see that if they maintained this tempo, they would eventually gut Japan.

The Navy had suffered several setbacks and now didn’t seem able to stop the U.S. Fleets from roaming about into the Empire. The Army had not been able to do anything about Allied attacks in New Guinea, Burma, and other spots across the Pacific. It didn’t look good. It didn’t look good at all.

He sat down at one of the small wooden benches in the hall, crossed his legs, and looked at the great chandelier. He liked to marvel at the interplay between the colors as the light shone through and across the structure. After staring at it for a few minutes, he finally found his inner calmness back.

The was nothing else he could do but what he was already doing. Support his people, and take the decision to continue running the Empire. He, however, wondered if things could be fixed and surprised himself by thinking of peace with the Allies.

He took a deep breath, closing his eyes. He wondered what the military would think about that and decided they would not agree. There were proud men, and the Emperor knew they would never bow to the Allies. His body shivered slightly at the thought of the train of destruction coming right for the Home Islands, and he wondered what he could do about it.

Nothing much, really.


CHAPTER 1


Assaulting Tarawa Part 2

The 2nd Division fights, January 17th, 1944

U.S. Marine Dave Powers looked nervously at his rifle as the boat bobbed up and down on the waves on approach to some god-forsaken Japanese island. He’d been told the place was called Tarawa and that it needed to be assaulted because it had an airfield. The thing was needed for planes to rebase there to cover the follow-up attacks in the Marshalls and to cover the ships and the bases the Navy wanted to build in the Gibert Islands.

On his left sat his faithful friend Kurt Warner, looking equally nervous about the coming battle. “Powers, you certain you want to drop into the water with this thing,” said Sergeant Thomas Hartman, facing them. The NCO was talking about the large and shiny katana strapped to Dave’s back. He’d taken it during the assault at Kawaniki Peak, their last battle at the end of September. It had been General Toshinari Shoji's katana, the commander of the Kauai garrison. Most Nipponese officers had one, as it was supposedly a thing in the Imperial Army. Dave heard it had to do about Samurais and that Bushido code of conduct bullshit the Japs fought under. “Indeed, Sergeant, I will. I gather it could come in handy in a close-in fight.”

Hartman rolled his eyes and grunted. Having a katana was against regulations, but while this would have never been permitted at the barracks or stateside, things were different in the field. It always depended on the type of officer a unit had. Lieutenant Devers was a cool dude and didn’t mind the personalization. Several of the men in the unit had acquired Japanese sidearms, grenades, or other interesting tidbits of military hardware. Besides, the 2nd Marine Division was the hero division that landed in Oahu, first into Honolulu, and also fought at Kawaniki Peak on Kauai.

The discussion about the katana was interrupted by a loud whistling sound, this time very near the amphibious landing craft, and then by a large, towering column of water that crashed a ton of saltwater into the craft. They were instantly drenched. Japanese troops on Betio were well-furbished in heavy guns, light machine guns, and everything in between. Dave thought for a moment that it was not what they had been told to expect. The pace seemed heavily defended, and he suddenly felt a not-so-pleasant dred in his gut.

Following a naval bombardment by their two dreadnoughts escorting them to the Gilberts (the Maryland and battlecruiser Alaska), the first wave of Marines was approaching Betio’s northern shore in transport boats. It seemed like the trip from the transport to the shore took forever. “You have any idea what’s happening, Sergeant,” asked Warner. Indeed, it was taking a lot longer than the distance they had to travel. Hartman was about to answer when one of the sailors on top of the boat yelled between two explosions and another drenching of water.

“Everybody out! We have lower tides than expected, and we’ll have to abandon the landing craft on the reef surrounding this shithole!” Powers was pissed off like everyone else, but there was no time for an argument. The fucking Japs were firing at them.  The boat ramp opened and splashed in a soft thud into the water. Dave looked out like everybody else and gaped. The scene was a maelstrom of fire, death, splashing water, and LVT-1s (Amtracks) wading into the blue sea toward land.

He finally saw the Tarawa beach and the thousands of tracers coming their way. To his left and to his right, other amphibious ships were disgorging their marines in their Landing Vehicles Tracked (LVTs). Right beside him, a few marines floated, dead in the water, bobbing up and down in expanding pools of blood. The pristine blue of the water was getting muddied and bloodied by the hundreds of dead. Some of the large amphibious craft were either on fire or sinking, as they’d been hit by Japanese artillery guns. A blast catapulted a wave of water on him, and he ducked. He was drenched once more but otherwise was unscathed.

Then, the Amtrack inside the Amphibious craft moved forward, and his body lurched backward as it got into gear. The brainchild of Floridian inventor and philanthropist Donald Roebling, the LVT-1 was known as an Amtrac or Amtrak by U.S. Marines for “amphibious tractor” and “Alligator” or “Gator” by Roebling. What Roebling built in his estate workshop in the mid-to-late-1930s was an amphibious tractor intended for rescue work in the aftermath of Florida’s many devastating hurricanes. The military version was manned by a crew of six and carried twenty fully equipped men or 4,600 pounds of cargo.

Betio was hundreds of yards away, and they were under intense enemy fire. Dave made a quick prayer to God since there was nothing much he could do but ride the LVT to its destination. An enemy shell could land on them and kill them in an instant.

He was startled for a moment as a big blast reverberated to his left, and a slight concussion wave hit them moments later. He turned his head to see the battleship Maryland firing its main guns at Betio’s beach. The fire from the gun muzzle jutted out like lances of flames, and the next instant, a cataclysmic explosion erupted on the island itself. He took heart knowing the Navy was bombing the shit out of the Japs.

Once they reached the beach, they struggled for a few minutes to move past the sea walls and establish a secure beachhead, again under enemy fire. No amount of naval bombardment seemed to have done the trick. From Dave’s point of view, the entire island now looked like a molten volcano, but the enemy had apparently survived the ordeal in enough numbers to still shoot at them aplenty.

Damn, this was hard.


Pittsburgh Conference

The concept of unconditional surrender. January 5th, 1944

The sour face of Charles de Gaulle looked up from the document the man had just signed. The Frenchman seemed happy, for once, Churchill thought. The Pittsburgh conference was at an end. The four main Allied countries in the war had agreed on what should and should not be done with Nazi Germany and the Japanese Empire.

The Pittsburgh Conference had just concluded after four days of talks between the Soviet Union, France, the United Kingdom, and the United States of America. The Allies had met to discuss the matter of what would happen once final victory was achieved. Present at the meeting were Cordell Hull, the U.S. Secretary of State; Winston Churchill, the British Prime Minister; Charle de Gaulle, the leader of Free France; and Vyacheslav Molotov, the Russian foreign secretary.

No negotiation or separate peace would end the war like in 1918. The only thing offered to the Axis powers this time around would be their unconditional surrender. “Hell,” thought the British stateman sourly. If it was only him, he would offer them a hell of a good dose of total and utter destruction. He was tired of the two or three generations of Germans that had been challenging the world order since the mid-1900s. The Japanese military had been playing havoc in Asia for a long time as well. This needed to stop and for good.

From the point of view of pretty much everyone in the conference and also in an overall matter in the Allied countries, the Axis were the aggressors, the ones who had brutally conquered half the world. They also knew of the Japanese treatment of prisoners and conquered populations. Simply appalling.

And then there were the Germans and what they were doing to the Jews and other "undesirables" under the twisted Nazi ideology. Basic human decency and honor demanded that none of the men responsible for these atrocious and terrible deaths be taken into consideration for peace or for anything else for that matter. Certainly, no justice or pity.

The Declaration of Pittsburgh was simple. Surrender, and we will take over. No discussion, no negotiation. If you do not agree, we will find you and root you out of every rathole where you will dig yourselves. We will bomb your cities to oblivion like you did to so many of the countries you unjustly attacked. We will put all your leaders to trial and demand just reparations for the destruction you have wrought.

Churchill was satisfied with this turn of events. Some elements in the American government had wanted to treat in some way with the Germans, but good sense had prevailed. Nazism was a twisted, truly horrific ideology, and it simply needed to be destroyed, trampled, and thrown unceremoniously into the dustbin of history.

There had been no such issues with the Japanese. America was raving mad about them and their dastardly attack on Pearl Harbor. Their treatment of the civilian populations in the Hawaiian Islands was further proof of their barbary. America was intent on destroying Japan’s military might once and for all.

"Future generations will look up to what we decide today, my friends," said the British Prime Minister passionately before the final decision. "History itself will judge how we won the war, but also the peace," he finished to the audience of the top leaders of the free world. And they had followed his lead.

There would be no peace until all the world was free again with, as a bonus, Berlin and Tokyo turned into neat smoking piles of rubble.


Assaulting Tarawa Part 3

The 2nd Division fights, January 17th, 1944

Marine Private 1st Class Dave Powers watched as the three lines of assault crafts moved toward the large, menacing-looking reef barrier. All of their engines toiled hard and catapulted water behind them as they sped toward the shore. Japanese defenders on the ocean side of the island fired at them with everything they had. Tracers blazed everywhere. Several landing craft were hit on the way to Betio, and it was like sailing into a storm of smoke and death. Dave’s LVT eventually reached the immediate area of the island after many hardships, but without getting slammed with an enemy artillery round; thus, everyone inside was alive.

Unflinching in the face of heavy fire, Lieutenant Devers led the assault as the LVT-1 Dave was on finally made it to the island. He followed his brave officer in firing toward the bastards, trying to kill them. The Imperial soldiers charged them with their bayonets and rifle fire. Powers and his comrades jumped off the Amtrac, and they fought them with rifle bayonets, grenades, and flamethrowers. Dave was also able to use his katana for the first time on an enemy soldier, slashing a deep gouge into the man’s skull and killing him instantly. Nothing stopped the Americans at first, as their war machines rolled over barbed wires and obstacles while the Marines shot at everything they could see that moved. They fought and moved from behind the Amtraks as the armored things climbed the five-foot-tall seawall. Water columns churned, rose, towered, and fell everywhere as the ordinance was exploding all around. It was hard for Dave to keep track of everything that was happening. It was crazy how furious the fight was, and his mind drifted back to the landing at Bellows Beach not so long ago.

Then, it was time to assault the first Japanese strongpoints along the beach. The Amtrak’s .50 guns hosed the enemy positions, and Japanese soldiers started to die. Its heavy chainsaw-like sound started to cut away at the Nipponese defenders. It churned steel, sand, and human flesh, storming up dust and smoke.

A few minutes later, they were further inland (Dave had no idea how much they had advanced, but it felt like they had gone at least a football field long). From there on, the Nipponese fire was very heavy and getting worse. In the background, the heavy Jap guns continued to knock boats out right and left, and they exploded in flaming balls of fire. As they burst into flames, men jumped out like torches, yelling. Dave was grateful he had been spared that dreadful fate.

Bullets slammed the hard coral ground and onto the Amtrak’s armor, so he had to be careful as he walked behind it for cover. And then, the next instant, the driver was shot in the throat and was killed instantly. The Amtrac stopped dead and slid to the side. Dave crouched down behind the LVT as it was hosed with heavy machine gun fire. For a moment, the machine was covered in sparks and ricocheting bullets. Lieutenant Devers jumped into the machine, moved the injured driver, and took control to move the machine forward. It was a magnificent show of courage from the Lieutenant, and for a brief moment, Dave was inspired by the man, yelling out of his lungs and finding courage in what he was seeing.

Japanese fire then continued to increase in intensity, and Dave decided, at Kurt’s urging, to drop to the ground. He grabbed his rifle and stayed flat on the ground as more and more bullets streamed just above them like a blazing river of fire. “The fucking things are like a horizontal sheet of rain!” yelled Warner as he kept close to the ground, hand on his helmet. He looked up and found that Kurt’s comment was true. The multitude of streaming bullets was like a lid above him. “Just stay down, buddy,” he yelled back.

It was one hell of a fight.


Air battle over New Britain

Onishi back in action, January 17th, 1944

As he lifted off from the Rabaul large airfield tarmac in the early morning of the 17th of January, 1944, ace pilot Takashi Onishi could not help but think about the last two months he’d spent in Japan. After the disaster and defeat during the Battle of Bougainville and his narrow escape from certain death, he’d been shipped back to Japan to have a little bit of rest. Leaves were uncommon in the Imperial Army, but Onishi had deserved some after his long, uninterrupted service record.

As his excellent Ki-84 fighter (Nakajima Ki-84 Hayate) took up altitude, he could not help but think about Kikiko, his sweetheart. She was a lovely girl in Sasebo, and he had been involved with her since almost the beginning of the war in the Pacific. Her family was important in Sasebo, possessing several arms factories. The father approved of their potential union. Onishi would not have been able to court the girl if he hadn’t been a successful pilot in the Chinese air war and now in the Pacific. He thanked the high heavens every day for his luck. He was from a poor traditional samurai family from Tosa province and could not have hoped to date a girl of that caliber if it hadn’t been for his military service. He’d been lucky to be posted to the city for a few months back in 1939 and, as such, had met the girl’s father and family. They’d approved of their potential union. As a military officer with some fame attached to his name, he’d been given a chance and had not wasted it. The girl corresponded with him almost daily.

His leave had been pure bliss. First, he’d slept as he’d never slept before. And during every one of his waking hours, he spent time with Kikiko, the girl of his dreams. But by mid-December, he had been ordered to rejoin the squadron, and here he was, back in Rabaul and the damned South Seas theater.

“You sure you’re back with us, Onishi,” said Commander Hata as a jibe. Captain Takemi Hata was his squadron leader and had been since the start of the conflict. “Yes, sir. Ready for action,” he answered back over the radio. With these words, the group of Japanese fighters blazed in the morning sky toward their patrolling area.

The situation had not changed much during the time Onishi had been gone. The Allies had been sort of quiet for the last two and a half months, content to consolidate their new conquests in New Guinea and the Solomons. But now, it was obvious they were brewing up something big. Large troop movements and hundreds of ships had been reported assembling in Buna, Gona, and other places in New Guinea. The bastards were about to land forces on New Britain’s west coast. The same was also true in Bougainville, where enemy forces were concentrating in a big fashion.

Minutes went by while colors of green, brown, black, and blue swirled below Onishi’s fighter, as the New Britain ground was below them, full of jungle, trails and other terrain features. He tried to look around his canopy in order to spot any enemy coming toward them as they expected. After all, they were here to intercept the Allied marauding bomber and fighter formations coming at Raaul in a continuous stream of death and fire. The radio crackled to life with a message from the ground crews at Rabaul base(probably the radar station)e, and the entire squadron was vectored on a different heading. He knew why. American aircraft had been spotted. And there they were. The Yankees blazed in a straight line directly for Rabaul, and their job was now to intercept and destroy them.

Initially, the enemy planes looked like light gathering with the sun catching its many glistening metallic parts, their reinforced glass canopies, and the spin of their airscrew. Then, as the squadron hurtled itself to battle, the details started to appear become more obvious. Takashi could see the green and blue stars of American fighters sandwiching the B-24 Liberator bombers. The sky seemed full of them, packed in thousands of feet-deep layers. They came on steadily, wavering up and down along the horizon.

In a moment, and just like the rest of his squadron’s mates, the dread he’d felt at the bottom of his stomach flushed itself out in an instant. It was time for battle, and he felt at peace once more. For better or for worse, he would fight, perhaps die, or perhaps survive Kikiko’s face came up at the forefront of his mind, but then it faded away as he went through the motions of getting ready to fight. He went through the motion of preparing his fighter for combat, flicking the safe switch from safe to fire, and then he was ready.

He quickly summed up his knowledge of the B-24s. They were powerful heavy bombers, and he’d faced them before. His foggy mind finally cleared up.

It hosted ten 0.50-inch guns in the nose, the upper portion, the belly, a tail turret, plus in the right and left waist positions. He knew he would have to be very careful about his attack vector.

Commander Hata’s rang through the radio channel. “Everyone get ready,” he said, following his words with a flurry of specific orders for each flight of three fighters in his unit. The Japanese pilots moved as one in a wide arc to blaze right into the American bomber formation. Takashi his gloved arm from the throttle lever to the fire button as he approached the enemy he’d decided to target. He pushed the button, and streams of tracers spurted out of his Ki-84 fighter.

The aircraft's powerful engine roared to life as he put the full gas, his Hayate racing down vertically and at impossible speed toward his chosen target. The battlespace was filled with planes throwing themselves in every direction; he kept his cool as tracers and explosions raked his little plane, and then the enemy B-24 was right there; he continued firing away, riddling the fuselage with his cannon shells. He saw sprinkles of shiny sparks and shards explode away from the enemy bomber.

And then, he was semi-startled to see the enemy aircraft erupt in tracers that blazed toward him. It was a big explosion that rocked the Hayate hard, but he was used to it; thus reacted by banking his fighter to the left. And then, the first firing pass, the best one because they had surprised some of the gunners, was over. The enemy had finally spotted them. The sky was suddenly saturated with red and yellow .50 bullets racing across to kill him. He took a deep, low breath to try and steady his nerves. He resolved to push on and get the kill.

As he moved away from the doomed plane, he came across another one and reflexively fired again, deeply gouging the other bomber with his machine gun bullets. The K-84’s frame then shook, with the Ho-5 cannon joining in, and he was rewarded with flames lancing out of the enemy aircraft. He gave the enemy plane a brief burst of his cannons and then followed with one more. The smell and smoke of Cordite blew back inside his cockpit space, creating a stinky and bitter smell-taste in his mouth. Combined with the smell of the hot oil engine and the air compressors, it was what it was: the smell of war in a fighter.

He saw his shell and bullets blaze away as he got busy dodging the enemy.50 caliber coming for him by the dozens, making red lines in the sky all around his plane. His ordinance slammed the fuselage, with some ricocheting and some penetrating into the enemy plane. He grunted as he wasn’t certain he’d wounded the bastard. American bombers of this type were notoriously hard to kill.

Just as he was on top of him to turn away, Takashi noticed a red glow inside the bomber. He swung his plane in a tight turn and into position again, just in time to see several short lances of flaming lights spit out along the enemy plane’s sides. Then the Liberator started to go down quickly and barrelling into a spinning dive, exploding with smoke flying off pieces.

Leaving the doomed Americans to their fate, he pulled his stick to gain altitude to get in a position to kill another bomber and to avoid getting attacked by fighters at higher altitudes. He knew the Americans never flew without a sturdy escort.

The sky was clearing, but ahead toward Rabaul, he saw a small, tight formation of bombers completely ringed by a bunch of P-51 Mustangs. The bastard kept their heading toward their objective, Rabaul. As Takashi was about to plunge toward them, four flights (12 planes) of Zero fighters came, all guns blazing from below in an attack maneuver. They moved out and about, their guns firing away and flying at near full speed. Moments later, he felt elation and yelled in his cockpit as seven enemy bombers were hit by a continuous stream of bullets from the brave imperial pilots. The Mustangs didn’t lose any time to pounce on the offending pilots, and within another ten seconds, five of the Zeroes were barreling Toward the ground in bright fireballs.

The bomber formation scattered, and the P-51s also splintered in every direction to fight the attacking Japanese. He tried to concentrate as he saw the fighters veer in a large circle to face them in battle.

A tingle in his spine, one honed from his numerous flight hours and battle across the Pacific expanse, made him look up and about to see if any enemy fighters were near. He spotted two more P-51s moving in on his tail. The bastards had probably flown from higher up to ambush them when they attacked.

Instantly, he pulled back on the stick and streaked upward. The move saved his life. As he thundered into the climb, he saw enemy tracers race beneath him. While his K-84 turned, he had a quick look around the cockpit canopy. The entire Japanese fighter flight was getting shredded by an impressive number of enemy planes. Takashi looked agape at the sheer quantity of attacking P-51s. It was mind-boggling; the Americans were swamping them from above with three times their numbers. “Back to base, and everyone for himself,” yelled Hata over the radio.

He continued on his climb as fast as he could, without any thought but escape, as he’d been ordered. He shot into a large, towering white cloud and made it out of the battle zone. On his way back to base, he pondered on the gravity of it all. They were outnumbered and overwhelmed. He just didn’t know how things would play out, or more importantly, if he would survive the next few weeks as the godlike wrath of the American juggernaut fell down on New Britain.


Imperial General Headquarters (Dai Honei)

Meeting, January 18th, 1944

The day following his Kure shipyard visit, Grand Admiral Yamamoto had a quick breakfast after waking up very early to get ready for an important meeting. He wasn’t young anymore, and just that little visit to the ships of the fleet had worn him down. Well, maybe it was also because he’d worked late into the evening, well past two in the morning. He was in his Tokyo mansion north of the city, and the meeting at the Imperial General Headquarters with the Army, High Command, the Prime Minister, and the Emperor himself was in a couple of hours.

He was shaving and, as he did so, tried to figure out what would be the outcome of the battle in the Gilbert Islands. The damned Americans were invading Betio Island, and things were not looking well. There wasn’t much the Empire had been able to do to help the fortified garrison protect the small airfield on the island. He hoped for the best, but deep down, he already knew what the likely outcome was. “Grand Admiral,” said one of his female servants as she came by the sliding door of the bathroom, trying not to intrude. “Your car will be here in five minutes.” “Very well, thank you.”

Yamamoto lived in a large traditional Japanese house. Called “Minka,” traditional Japanese houses were furnished with a mat on the floor called a tatami. They also had sliding doors, and paper-like walls. Yamamoto’s home was made of concrete like many more modern Nipponese upper-class houses.

He finished removing his last bit of facial hair, picked up a towel to dry it off, and turned back to his room, putting on his pristine-white naval jacket. He then stepped out (after he slid the door along its wooden rail) and eventually walked through the entire mansion and outside. All the while, his many servants bowed as he walked by them.

Outside, the black staff car awaited, and a young Imperial Navy lieutenant opened the door to the backseat for him, and Yamamoto stepped inside. “Where to, sir,” said the driver with a serious face. “To the Imperial Palace.” And the car sped out of the courtyard.

The Imperial General Headquarters (Daihon'ei) was part of the Supreme War Council. It was founded at the end of the 19th Century. Its goal was to try and make both the Army and Navy work together. The two branches of the military were notorious for not being very cooperative with each other, and thus, discussions were needed to reach agreements on most combined Japanese military decisions.

Emperor Hirohito, as a way of making things operational and efficient, ordered (with the advice of his top people) the creation of the Imperial General Headquarters-Government Liaison Conference.

These conferences and meetings were there to integrate military and political decisions. Finding a middle ground on military planning was often tricky, to say the least. The Grand Admiral smiled as he thought of his rival, General Hajime. The man was not easy to deal with.

In 1942, things had gone surprisingly smoothly. It was not that it had been easy, but both services had followed the plans (more or less) and achieved victory on a scale that was only the stuff of dreams for most Japanese before the conflict.

But following the string of defeats and disasters of 1943, things were now back to normal. What had been carefully hidden below a layer of unprecedented successes was now a full-blown battle between the two. Resources were scarce, and both the Army and Navy believed they had the solution to Japan’s predicament.

The Emperor had called the meeting (Yamamoto was sure it was Prime Minister Tojo’s initiative) so the Army and Navy could discuss overall strategy. He hoped Tojo would not again side with the Army. The man was, after all, a product of the Kwantung Army in Manchuria.

As he was lost in thoughts (and about forty minutes later), the car stopped by the Imperial Castle. He was directed into the building by a sharp-looking staff officer. He eventually got to the grand and richly decorated meeting room, where Marshal Hajime, the Army commander-in-chief, awaited him. Also, there was Prime Minister Hideki Tojo and Admiral Osami Nagano, one of the top Navy men at HQ. Towering above them all was emperor and living god Hirohito, sitting on his throne, keeping silent as always. He wasn’t supposed to intervene in the meeting, just watch and approve the final decisions taken.

The room opened onto a large balcony with a plunging view of Tokyo. The windows were closed as it was cold outside. January was not a summer month in Japan.

“Ah, Grand Admiral,” said Tojo, sitting up from the central table. The other council members followed him; they all bowed, and Yamamoto did the same. He then specifically bowed low to the Emperor to salute him in his most respectful fashion. “Have a seat,” said Tojo, gesturing Yamamoto to a chair right beside Nagano and facing Hajime and another Army man, General Yamada, the commander of the Kwantung Army.

“Colonel Harakawa,” continued Tojo (he was the only one standing up). “Could you please bring the wooden stool and give us a general appraisal of the Empire’s current situation?” “Yes, Mr. Prime Minister,” answered the man standing in the corner of the room with two other Army soldiers. The two pushed the stool over to face the meeting table, directly facing Hirohito. Harakawa looked one more time at Tojo, who sat on his chair, giving the Colonel the signal to start talking.

“The Imperial situation is delicate at the moment,” he started cautiously. On his left, Yamamoto grunted mentally. “You’re damn right. It's delicate,” he told himself.

“I will give a presentation by splitting the Pacific Theater into three distinctive areas. The South Seas, the Central Pacific, and Southeast Asia. First, the South Seas. After the string of defeats in front of Port Moresby, the Kokoda Track, and across the Solomon Islands, our main base at Rabaul is now threatened and should be attacked soon if our intelligence estimates are correct. Admiral Toyoda, the Navy commander in Truk, doesn’t have the fleet units to stop the Allies from landing or operating in the area. We believe the enemy has at least five main fleet carriers with several escorts and light ones. Admiral Toyoda has two, with the Shokaku and the Kaga, plus a couple of battleships to face the three or four the Allies have. Furthermore, landing barges and troop concentrations have been seen by recon flights in Bougainville and just across Cape Gloucester, the western tip of New Britain. An invasion is imminent.”

The Colonel paused to move a little to the side to show the next theater. His job was not to comment but to give the facts, and then the men around the table would make the decisions.

“The Central Pacific is also under attack. As you know from previous briefings and meetings, the Johnston Island Base has been rendered inoperable, and the two concrete battleships have been destroyed by a new type of American battleship, one that intelligence estimates can face up to Yamato. The Gilbert Islands are currently under attack with a landing at Tarawa by the Americans, and there are strong indications invasions will soon occur at Johnston, in the Marshalls, Samoa, and other places in the area.”

“Finally,” he moved to the Singapore area on the map. “The southeast Asian theater is being invaded by the British, Indian, and Chinese forces, while the Navy in Singapore doesn’t have the units to halt Admiral James Sommerville. Enemy landings have been successful in western Sumatra, and their troops are advancing toward our oilfield installations. The Anglo-Indian Army has pushed our forces completely out of Burma and is now advancing down the Malay Peninsula toward Singapore and also toward Indochina. The Imperial Army doesn’t have the forces to face the Allies on equal terms.”

Yamamoto stayed impassive as he listened to the long litany of problems all across the Pacific. It was going to be a long meeting. After a few seconds (while he tried to regain his composure after such a heavy delivery of bad news), Tojo spoke up again. “Thank you very much, Colonel Harakawa.” The Army officer made the military salute and moved himself, along with the two soldiers, back to the side of the room, leaving the stool and the top brass to talk and decide.

“Well, it seems we are in a bind,” started Tojo with a sour face. “Marshal Hajime,” he motioned to the Army man to start. The old land commander looked directly at Yamamoto as he spoke up. “It doesn’t look like our precious Navy will be able to stop the enemy from landing in Rabaul and across the Pacific Islands. However, I think we can do something about Southeast Asia if we move enough troops and supplies there; the supply surge for the South Seas Operations in the middle of 1943 has greatly weakened my forces,” he continued, looking even more intently at the Grand Admiral. “We need to hunker down and defend every bit of land to the last, and make the Yankees pay for everything they want to take. I say we deploy the Navy in the role it should have been used all along. To support the Army and transport the men and goods needed to wage war upon our enemies. Only then can we hope to repulse them in New Britain, Southeast Asia, and the Central Pacific.”

All eyes then moved to Yamamoto, and the Emperor stirred uncomfortably in his chair. The tension in the air was palpable. Hajime had directly blamed the Navy for the Empire’s predicament, and weirdly, Yamamoto agreed with him. The Imperial Navy was the one that had been defeated at every turn in the last year by the Allies. Yes, the Army had reverses in New Guinea, but if the Empire had used enough ships, it may have prevailed with adequate supplies.

“As weird as this may sound,” started Yamamoto with a blank face, “I agree with Marshall Hajime.” Everyone held their breaths for a moment, and even Tojo was surprised by the Navy man’s statement. His mouth was open in bewilderment. Only Hajime smiled. Finally, he had the man he hated so much where he wanted him. “Well, Grand Admiral, please explain why you say this.”

Yamamoto’s pride was hurt badly, but he didn’t have a choice. His reputation had already suffered greatly, and he had to look at the Empire’s greater good, not his little self. “The Imperial Navy is no longer in a position to defeat the U.S. Navy, so we might as well do what the Marshal wants to do.” He paused and then spoke up again, seeing everyone was silent.

“U.S. industrial production has reached a point where we can no longer hope to achieve a Kentai Kessen (battle of annihilation) against the American Navy because they’ll just replace the ships as fast as we can sink them.

Furthermore, our losses, normal attrition during the conflict, have not been replaced. Navy intelligence estimates the U.S. Navy has received well over twenty carriers of all sizes since the start of the conflict, including several main fleet carriers, while we have received five without getting one main fleet carrier. They also produced several battleships, while only Musashi was completed for us. I am not even mentioning the plethora of support vessels, heavy cruisers, and planes they now have in their inventory. That is why I am saying this.”

Hajime, taken aback by his rival’s admission, was a little hesitant but started speaking again after a few seconds. “Very well, Grand Admiral. I propose we send troops to Southeast Asia, at least five to eight divisions, and the Navy will get the ships to make it happen.” Yamamoto nodded. “I also propose we send several of our main units to Singapore, since that theater is the only place in the Pacific where we still have numerical superiority over our opponents. With enough ships there, I believe we can stop the British fleet from roaming in the Southwest, perhaps even sink it.”

The Marshal continued, “What do we do about the Central Pacific?” “This remains a Navy show, and we will need some more troops to be sent to the various islands to get them fortified. The Marianas, the Carolines, and Palau are all important if we want to protect the Philippines. We will also help in Rabaul; I propose we reinforce Toyoda’s fleet with what’s available and leave the Central Pacific for now, as it will take some time for the Americans to conquer islands in the Marshalls and the Gilberts. They might also get sidetracked in attacking Samoa and New Caledonia. While this wouldn’t be good, it would give us some time to prepare the rest of the Empire for the unavoidable enemy offensive.”

Hirohito looked at the exchange in amazement. For the first time in years, the Army and the Navy seemed to want to cooperate and work toward a common goal. His earlier misgivings about the course of the war and the future of Japan were somewhat quelled by the positive development unraveling in front of him. The meeting continued for some time, but the Japanese Emperor found some measure of hope through all of it, even if the situation was as dark as a moonless night.


Assaulting Tarawa Part 4

The 2nd Division fights, January 18th, 1944

Marine Private Dave Powers looked with detached indifference at the floating bodies of his dead comrades in the water and on the beach. It was a gruesome sight, and it didn’t help his own feeling of doom. For a moment, he looked at the sky and wondered why he, of all those dead men, was alive. The glorious light of day was breaking over the horizon, giving the entire scene a macabre look, with shadows moving around the corpses. One moment, there were shadows, yells, explosions, and bright flashes; it was the dark of night, and he couldn’t see much. The next, he saw the scene before him. Death, smoke, fire, ships in the distance firing away at targets further inland, and landing craft ferrying more and more soldiers to Betio Island.

The casualty rate from the first day of the landing on Betio was a horrifying thirty-three percent. That meant that out of five thousand marines landed, a third of them were now either dead, wounded, or incapacitated. More were streaming in, and it looked like the Americans had been able to establish a toehold on the small island. The entire U.S. position was scattered, and the Marines had not yet been able to establish a continuous battle line. Fights were happening all over the small islands. Some places on the beach, some places on the reef, and then also in the interior, the bunkers and the small patches of jungle.

The first night had been lively, but not as bad as Dave had feared. Since the Americans had seen what the Japanese could do at night and with their Banzai suicide attacks, it had not been as bad as the first few nights in Hawaii, where the enemy had infiltrated their positions and killed many during the night. Men like Dave Powers knew they could be shattered to the surprise attacks, and had learned the lesson in blood.

Sporadic gunfire, yells, and artillery rounds had first slashed and rocked the dark of night, but surprisingly, they had not attacked. The reason was not because the Japanese had suddenly become shy or reluctant to charge to the death for their emperor. General Shibazaki had simply lost contact with his subordinate commanders in the field because the American shore bombardment had severed the buried communication cables his men had installed across Betio. Every Imperial soldier was thus reduced to fighting within his own sector without any hopes of orders or direction from higher up. While they did just that and fought with their usual vigor, the entire affair was now morphing into a plethora of small, uncoordinated action from the Japanese side.

Dave was leaning against one of the fortified Japanese walls near the beach while enemy tracer fire blazed above his head and the ones of his comrades. Right beside him sat a tired-looking Sergeant Hartman and his best friend, Kurt Warner, looking equally tired.

The fight was intense, and the 2nd Marine Division’s fight for Tarawa was entering its second day. But help was coming, and they all felt a little bit of hope at what they saw. They watched with anticipation as the two Sherman tanks rolled forward from the LCM, churning sand up in every direction as they raced from the water’s edge to inland.

The invading troops were also greatly supported by several Sherman tanks. While there were not many of their Japanese counterparts to fight, they did help the grunts to advance on the ground and also reduce machine guns and other hard-to-knock-out positions.

Dave again looked further out since the light and his relatively high elevation compared to the rest of the island gave him a commanding view of the scene. The lagoon was littered with half-sunken LVTs and LCTs landing vehicles, proving to all that the landing had not been easy. The Japanese had shot them like in a turkey shoot.

But Dave found comfort in the fact that his own platoon still had two of the armored Sherman beasts to help in their assault and to protect them against heavy ordinance. As the tank rolled past them, Lieutenant Devers gave them the order to follow. “It’s time to earn our keep, boys!” and off they went over the small wooden log parapet.

The moment he came into view of the Japanese position, his entire vision was clouded by tracer fire and billowing smoke. The Japs poured a wall of lead and might to try and stop them. The Sherman tank nearest him fired his main 75 mm gun, and the round thundered down toward a large Japanese coconut log bunker. Dave felt the blast concussion, and his ears rang even more than they were already. But he wasn’t knocked over, which was thus fine with him. The shell slammed on the side of the pillbox. The impact catapulted sand and logs in the air, and a giant fireball enveloped the entire place. The next moment, no more fire came from the enemy position, its occupants either killed or incapacitated.

As he advanced through the maelstrom of fire, he saw the second Sherman further forward, taking several rounds of enemy antitank fire.  Fortunately, they bounced off its tough armored plates. Then, a few meters later, the Sherman jumped hard upward as sand and fire erupted from under it. It had hit a mine and yet continued to advance. “That’s a tough bastard,” yelled Hartman between two rifle shots, apparently overjoyed by the armored machine’s resilience.

Dave ran forward, just like Kurt and the rest of the men, before moving to the sides. The Japanese defenses had faced the sea and while that had been good to knock out incoming landing shops, it wasn’t in this case because they were easy to outflank; Lieutenant Devers had given them a very good plan. They were to sprint hard and infiltrate the spots between the pillbox bunkers and then roll them over to attack their flanks. Within half an hour and heavy fighting (flamethrowing, grenades), Dave and his comrades had cleared a portion of real estate near the beach they’d landed on.

It was quick, easy and efficient. Only the 75 mm guns of their two supporting and blackened Shermans provided anything heavier than standard infantry weapons. But they’d been enough of a distraction to the enemy to let Dave and his comrades infiltrate and destroy them piecemeal.

Then, just as they were settling down in their newly conquered positions, several Japanese tanks decided to make an appearance in their sector. The fight between the light Jap tanks and the American armor was intense but brief. The Nipponese gunners did not lack in accuracy. But their light rounds simply bounced off the Sherman’s armored hide.

But there was only a pair of Sherman tanks, while there were over seven of the Japanese ones. Dave was about to wonder what they would do against them when Sergeant Hartman pointed to the two 37mm antitank guns being wrestled from the beach; the Japanese coconut seawall blocked any further movement forward.

The NCO barked some orders for Dave, Kurt, and about ten other guys to go help the gun handlers. “Lift ’em over!” A couple of minutes later, they were pulled into firing position, and they spat a few rounds at the Japanese tanks rumbling down toward them. Soon, the makeshift gunners slammed a round on the enemy machine, which skirred to a halt in the sand, with flames bursting from its side and smoke suddenly exploding outward from the hatch. With only three units left (the Shermans had by then dispatched three), the surviving tanks left the scene in a hurry, turning around at full speed. A loud cheer went up across the area as several American platoons had been pinned down by the sudden Japanese armored counterattack.

The fight continued as the morning wore on. By the end of the afternoon, General Shibazaki did not harbor much hope he could stop the Americans from overtaking his island. He could tell the enemy was advancing everywhere, and his own bunker was threatened as well.

At about 7 pm on that day, the commanders on the ground sent a message to the overall commander of the amphibious invasion, Admiral Harry Hill. The entire affair seemed won: “Heavy losses; Heavy fighting; But we are inching ever closer to total victory.”


Piva Airfield

453rd bomber group arrives in the South Seas January 18th, 1944.

In the early morning of January 18th, 1944, a long procession of the impressive looking “Doolittle 29s” landed one after the other at Piva Airfield on recently Allied-conquered Bougainville. The bomber crews had flown the long way around on the so-called “Milk Run” because the Americans still lacked the necessary airfields for them. Something was now being done about this issue with landings about to be executed in Samoa and New Caledonia, but until these operations were a success, planes had to go through the Pacific in the good old way.

To make this happen, they flew from Oahu to the remote Marquesas Islands. From there, they refueled at a newly built Air Force base to the Kermadec Islands, another 2,867 miles away. They then were able to reach Brisbane, another 1,750 miles away. From there, they executed the last leg of their epic voyage and were finally arriving at Piva.

The place was one hell of a base, albeit very recently built in the middle of nowhere. A week after the successful conclusion of the invasion of Bougainville, the 36th Naval Construction Battalion arrived and started work on an 8,450-foot by 32-foot bomber strip.

The first aircraft arrived three weeks later, and the airfield was officially put into operation the week following that. Then, in December, it was extended by an additional 2,200 feet to get the larger American bombers to land and fly off it. That made it possible for the 453rd bomber group to land and operate from it.

The 38th Seabee Battalion constructed four runways with everything needed to operate the base, including barracks, workshops, and other supporting facilities. At the same time, a fighter airfield was made right beside the bomber base. The airfield's final shape was completed on the 3rd of January 1944, and the setup was ready for the invasion of New Britain and New Ireland.

The building was done under the unrelenting fire of the enemy, but in the end, the Americans prevailed in installing themselves firmly on the island.

“You are now cleared to land,” said the control tower operator through the radio. “Acknowledge,” answered former fighter-now-bomber-pilot Harry Bergman. And his bomber descended upon the steel plating of the airfield runway. It touched down in a great noise of screeching tires and then taxied to the main hangar where they’d been instructed to go. The bombers would need some maintenance and refueling before they went into battle. Furthermore, the crews themselves needed some much-deserved rest. After all, they’d flown half across the world.

Harry went through the motions of closing down the aircraft for the ground crews to get in while the rest of the men inside the bomber got out. He eventually exited himself and was immediately hit by the wave of heat and humidity. “God,” he said out loud and to no one in particular. He was amazed at the stickiness of the air. He’d thought Hawaii was hot and humid, but he had been mistaken. There were worse places than that, and the Solomons were one of them.

After smashing Johnston Island Base to smithereens with a month-long bombing campaign, they’d been given some leave in the slowly rebuilding Hawaiian civilian infrastructure and spent some time at renowned Sandy Beach not far from Honolulu. Then, it was time to transfer to the South Pacific to join the fight for the liberation of New Britain and the drive through the center of the Japanese Empire.

Harry didn’t know what they would have to do specifically, but if he was allowed any type of guesses, he would put his money on their job being the destruction of the enemy’s rear bases. There were rumors of secret and powerful Jap hideouts in the Caroline Islands, and he was pretty sure his job would be to first find them and then destroy them all.


Assaulting Tarawa Part 5

The 2nd Division fights, January 19th, 1944

By early on the third day, Japanese commander General Shibazaki sent one last brave radio communiqué to Tokyo. “Our weapons are failing us, and most are gone, smashed by the damned Americans. Me and my men will soon be attempting a final glorious attack. May the Emperor live on for a thousand years.” American Marines penetrated and destroyed most of his seawall defenses. He could not reach any of his units, had no means to communicate with them, and his own large bunker was shaking from the hits lobbed at it by the U.S. battleships offshore. He had one option left, and it was what the Japanese did when they got desperate: One last, glorious charge at the enemy.

This bunker, a large two-story structure built like a small hill, was the best viewpoint on the entire island, as it was the highest point on Betio. By mid-afternoon on the 19th, the American Marines encircled it on all sides and were about to storm it after three days of bitter fighting between the two armies. Shibazaki had, however, no intention of making it easy on the hated Yankees.

Marine Private First-Class Dave Powers and his friend Kurt Warner led five engineers forward under covering fire. It had been another harrowing day of fighting, following a night of scares and desperation with his platoon fighting off one suicidal banzai charge after the other. At least now, they were about to end their ordeal and finish the work on Tarawa.

Powers traversed the sandy slope and reached the roof of the blockhouse only to be met by dozens of Japanese troops who had emerged to fight. He made several of them human torches with his flamethrower as Kurt emptied his carbine into them. The Japanese pulled back in disorder, and he was elated, along with Kurt. Two of the engineers were, however, killed. “Quick, guys,” he said to the military engineers. “Put the fucking charges before they come back.”

Dave looked at his weapon and smiled. He acquired the flamethrower a few hours earlier, taking it from a dead comrade. Sergeant Hartman had let him use it for the assault on the enemy main bunker. Just below the now five surviving men, the rest of Lieutenant Devers’ platoon covered them with their withering fire at the enemy, trying to snipe them out as they exited in groups from the bunker. The Japs were charging out of the structure like a stream of angry fish for one final battle.

The remaining engineers planted demolition charges while Japanese troops swarmed out of the blockhouse in one last desperate charge. These unfortunate men were gunned down in minutes. Just below the platoon, a Marine bulldozer shoved mounds of sand against stubborn firing slits, with the Japs inside firing until the very last moment. Gasoline was poured through ventilation shafts, followed by grenades. Explosives were detonated. In the distance, powerful detonations could be seen, the result of Maryland and Alaska firing from point-blank range at another last-ditch Japanese knot of resistance.

A gigantic explosion sucked the air inside the structure, and a loud muffled sound was heard. The Americans dropped to the ground for cover while a large cloud of dust and smoke covered the area. Within moments, it was over, and the Japanese command bunker was no more.

As the dust, soot, and sand fell back on his head and body, Dave stood up, cheering like the rest of the men. They were all dirty and worn down, but they were victorious. The Japanese defenders were defeated.


Fleet movements and strategic considerations

Beginning of January 1944

The Pacific War was entering its third year, and it didn’t look like it would end anytime soon. The Japanese Empire was still large and powerful, but the Allies were now attacking it on all sides with superior fleets, troops, and weapons.

The Allies held the strategic initiative and, as such, moved their fleets around to plan and execute the liberation campaign they intended to achieve against Japan. By the middle of January 1944, more epic naval battles were on the horizon, with the following fleet positionings.

SOUTHEAST ASIA THEATER

The Southeast Asian theater was a disaster in the making for the Japanese. The Allies had successfully defeated them in Southern China and Eastern India and had just finished the liberation of Burma. The Anglo-Indian Chinese troops were now pushing hard in Malaysia and Thailand and threatened Singapore and the Dutch East Indies. Furthermore, Admiral Somerville had landed in Sumatra (extreme west), and a strong force advanced toward Bolekbatung and other important oil-producing cities.

Following a rare agreement between the Imperial Navy and Army at the last Dai Honei meeting, it was decided to reinforce the fleet in Singapore and also to land eight divisions in Sumatra and Malaysia to stop the Allies cold.
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Hata had very big responsibilities with his fleet and aircraft, mostly based in Singapore. He was to stop the enemy's advance at once. While the Imperial Army would do its fair share of the fighting on the ground, he was to support them and make sure the supplies from the mainland flowed through to Singapore and Saigon (his other critical harbor in Indochina).

For the coming campaign, the Japanese possessed a lot of ground troops, and with the newly arrived eight divisions (four in Sumatra and four in Singapore), the Japanese hoped to turn the tide and, at the very least, stop the Allies dead in their tracks.

Grand Admiral Yamamoto thus ordered the battleship Nagato, recently repaired in Truk Atoll, to Singapore, along with heavy cruiser Tone (from Kure) and two new escort carrier builds, the Akitsu Maru and the Nigitsu Maru. Both were small carriers (each had fifteen planes), but added with the light carrier Chiyoda, it made for a potent air wing for Admiral Takemi Hata, the commander of the Japanese 5th Fleet.
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British Admiral James Somerville’s highly successful naval campaign had so far yielded very impressive results as it was able to defeat Admiral Kondo in the Indian Ocean and adequately support the counteroffensive that shattered the Japanese hold on the Andaman Islands and Burma.

In the summer and fall of 1943, he was even able to enter the Malacca Strait and bombard oil installations on Sumatra and Singapore itself. Some heavy Japanese air reinforcements then prevented him from doing more, as it became too dangerous to sail in the confined waters of the Strait. But this had not impeded the British Admiral from executing a brilliant amphibious operation with one British and three Indian divisions on the western tip of Sumatra. The troops were now advancing cautiously on the large island, and Somerville had been content to make sure they were properly supplied while he awaited the reinforcements, he was promised to continue his offensive. Somerville also now had the support of two powerful American air formations, the 345th Bombardment Group (B-24s and B-17s) and the 4th U.S. Air Fleet, composed mainly of newly built P-51s. Based in the Andaman Islands, these aircraft had the necessary range to support their operations all the way to Western Malaysia and Sumatra.

Naval reinforcements also arrived at the end of December 1943, and they were powerful. The battleship Thunderer had finally completed its repair in the Calcutta drydocks and had thus rejoined the British Indian Squadron. With the enormous successes in the Solomons and the Coral Sea, it was also decided to detach the British armored carrier Indomitable from the 4th Fleet to him in the Indian Ocean. The important ship was replaced by dozens of new ships for the South Seas campaign, newly built in the USA, and sailed through the Milk Run.
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The continuing battle for the mastery of Southeast Asia was as critical to the Allies as to the Japanese. The former because they wanted to destroy their enemy’s war-making capabilities and the latter because its survival depended on its successful conclusion.

SOUTH SEAS THEATER

In January 1944, the South Seas Theater was about to become the most critical area of the Pacific War. There converged the might of the Japanese and the Allies.

While the Americans had sizeable forces in the Central Pacific arrayed against Johnston Islands and for the multitude of amphibious landings they were planning, the bulk of their fighting force was under Admiral Spruance's command in the Solomon Sea and the area around New Britain.

Grand Admiral Yamamoto knew that retaining Rabaul was critical. With its fall, the entire Caroline Islands and Palau would be open to attack, and the loss of Truk would truly mean the end of any Imperial Navy capability to stop the Allies. For him, Rabaul was not important to operate in the Solomons or try to conquer Port Moresby. These were now unreachable goals for Japan. It was more of a shield for the rest of the Empire.

Thus, he had made a choice. He didn’t have enough ships to face the Allies everywhere around the Pacific. Admiral Mitscher and several task forces roamed the Central Pacific, but trying to fight them in the open would not have achieved any strategic purpose.

The Johnston Island Base was gutted and inoperable, while the Gilberts and Marshalls were sort of the Empire's exterior perimeter defenses. Further out (Fiji, Samoa, New Caledonia), the Japanese possessions there were so distant that it was impossible even to send them basic supplies.  These garrisons were left to fend for themselves.
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His plan was thus simple. He combined everything the Imperial Navy had left apart from a small fleet in Singapore. Even with all the remaining units, he would still be at a disadvantage. But he figured he stood a better chance of doing something about the incoming New Britain landings with his ships together.

Shokaku and Kaga, two of his three remaining fleet carriers, were finally repaired by the Akashi repair ship in Truk, and he sailed from Japan with the Zuikaku. Twin super battleships Yamato and Musashi were also reunited, along with battleships Mutsu, Hyuga, Fuso, and the newly repaired Ise. Followed three of the last Japanese heavy cruisers, the Aoba, Myoko, and the Ibuki (newly built). Over sixty support ships (destroyers and light cruisers) were also assembled. The fleet’s air wings were also supplemented by two newly built (and excellent) escort carriers, Shinyo and Kaiyo, each with over thirty planes.

Several air fleets were also transported on cargo ships and on everything that was available to Truk and to Rabaul in the midst of a mighty and relentless Allied bombing campaign. The Grand Admiral figured that if Rabaul fell nonetheless (a distinct possibility, after all), he decided to make the Caroline Islands and Truk Atoll safe in particular (five airfields were built on it).
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While his ship numbers and power were impressive, Yamamoto had a very tall order to fulfill. What the Allies brought to bear in the South Seas was in direct relationship with the importance they put on smashing Rabaul and piercing the Japanese defenses to penetrate the interior Japanese Pacific Empire and barrel down to the Philippines and beyond.

The newly created Allied Pacific Fleet, the result of the joining of both Admiral Spruance and Cunningham’s fleets, was one hell of a powerful fleet. Under the command of Raymond Spruance, it boasted no less than four main fleet carriers. The Essex and the Yorktown (with its repair in the Syndey drydocks completed), both veterans of the war in the Solomons and the Coral Sea, were now reinforced with the Intrepid, another Essex Class carrier, and the Hornet, which was repaired in the United States during the summer of 1944. Joining them to bolster the air wings were a staggering five brand-new escort carriers. All sailed from the USA through the “Milk Run” sea route; they included Kalinin Bay, Gambier Bay, Midway, White Plains, and the Solomons.

The two Admirals could also count on a very potent battleship component, something the Allies had not had for a while in the South Seas: Battleships New Jersey, West Virginia, South Dakota (newly repaired), and Indiana. Three heavy cruisers (Reno, Australia, and Duquesne), along with well over seventy support ships, sailed along with them.
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While just this fleet could have been enough for Yamamoto to contend with, it was now joined by the 2nd Allied Fleet under Admiral Kinkaid. One of the two recent victorious Admirals at the Battle of Kauai and Johnston Island, he arrived in Guadalcanal to form the second prong of the twin offensive MacArthur planned to slam New Britain with.

Leading the fleet were the main fleet carriers Lexington and Wasp (both Essex Class carriers), with two light carriers (Baffins and Langley) plus three escort carriers (Coral Sea, Corregidor, and Fanshaw Bay). They were flanked by heavy cruiser Wichita and twenty support ships (destroyers and light cruisers).

The Allied game plan was simple and fostered two main objectives. The first one was to land in force in New Britain from three different axes (landings in Cape Gloucester, New Ireland, and on New Britain’s southern coast), with the ultimate wish to destroy and conquer Rabaul. The second objective was to bring the remainder of the Imperial Navy to battle and destroy it.

Operations were slated to commence soon, first with Cape Gloucester and then, when things got into full swing, followed up with the other two landings. All the while, the fleet would be around the amphibious zones to try and bait the Japanese Grand Admiral into action.


CENTRAL PACIFIC THEATER
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In the Central Pacific, things were a little simpler because the Imperial Navy did not intend to try and fight the U.S. Navy. The reason for this state of affairs was simple. Yamamoto didn’t have enough ships, and instead of having his vessels defeated in detail in a myriad of small task forces, he’d chosen to assemble one last grand fleet.

From Pearl Harbor sailed victorious Admiral and Oahu’s liberator Marc Mitscher with two battleships (super battleship Montana and the French Dunkerque), two Essex Class carriers (Yorktown II and Bunker Hill), with no less than five light carriers (Pybus, Princeton, Cowpens, Monterey, and Cabot). He also commanded over one escort carrier (Liscome Bay) and 25 support ships.

Mitscher’s objective was to liberate Johnston Island, Midway, and Wake Island. Once this was accomplished, he was to double back to the Marshalls and smash the Japanese bases there to oblivion.
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Recently defeated in the Marshall Islands, Rear Admiral Callaghan was in Pearl Harbor in January, but was ordered to prepare for the invasion of New Caledonia and then transition to the South Seas to support the campaign there. He sailed with two newly built escort carriers (Manila Bay and Natoma Bay), one battleship (South Dakota), and two heavy cruisers (Baltimore and Boston) with ten destroyers as escort.
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Another American task force roamed the sea, this time in the Gilberts, just south of the Marshalls. Rear Admiral Harry W. Hill’s mission objective had been the occupation of Tarawa (recently successfully completed), and now he was to move to Samoa and liberate the critical harbor for the Allies to shorten their sea route to Australia. With the possession of that important harbor, the Americans would be able to shave off half of the distance between mainland America and Australia.

It sailed with two escort carriers for air cover, the Kitkun Bay and the Tulagi. For big guns, it had the newly built battlecruiser Alaska and the battleship Maryland, detached from Spruance’s fleet in the Solomons. It also had nine support ships (CA Albuquerque, 7 destroyers, and one light cruiser).

THE STRATEGIC SITUATION AS A WHOLE

The situation in the Pacific War was quite simple. Japan had lost the war but didn’t know it yet, nor was it able to rationally accept it. Its Navy had been beaten repeatedly, its land forces were being smashed by enemy bombs, and its air fleets were now no match for the Allied tech and their better-trained (and a lot more numerous) pilots.

Industrial production had now reached a critical point for the United States of America, which had an output twenty to twenty-five times greater than the Japanese Home Islands.

The Nipponese had taken a much bigger bite than they could chew and were now paying the price. The strategic initiative was firmly on the side of the Allies, and they were the ones now dictating the tempo of operations. With the liberation of Hawaii, Johnston Island, New Britain, and the plethora of Pacific bases, the Allies would soon be poised to deliver the killing stroke to the Japanese Empire.


Somewhere in the Malay Peninsula

Near the frontline, January 18th, 1944

The Japanese General gave some absent salute to the enthusiastic men, giving him their respects, as he was absorbed by all he had to think about. General Renya Mutaguchi, commander of the Japanese Burma Area Army (16th Army), had been defeated at every turn by the Allies. It wasn’t because he was incompetent. On the contrary, he’d been able to extricate his forces relatively intact from the deathtrap that was Burma. The main reason for the defeats was because of the lack of supply and support. The Japanese Empire was suffering and struggled to feed and equip all its forces. When Grand Admiral Yamamoto had gambled it all on one last offensive surge in New Guinea and the Solomons, something had to give, and Southeast Asia was chosen as the place they would take the needed supplies for the prolonged attack into the South Seas. Ending with disaster, the Yamamoto offensive had also created a hell of a problem for the Nipponese leaders. The 16th Army was defeated and lost all of Burma to the Allies.

One of the soldiers he passed by was amongst the oldest fighting men in the 18th Imperial Division. Ishiro Tanaka looked at his officer and sort of despaired of finding some hope of victory with him. According to his own beloved Yakuza Captain Hayabashi, the officer had a great reputation, and he supposedly did a good job in command. It had to do with the lack of food, heavy equipment, and other types of support needed to win a land war. But Ishiro wasn’t certain he was the man to help them win. In fact, he didn’t think any Japanese army could win over the numerically superior Anglo-Indian Chinese armies. There were just too many of them to kill with what they had.

He'd seen and fought the American Shermans and had already found them very hard to kill, as the Imperial forces didn’t have much in terms of anti-tank weapons and ordinance. The British Mathilda tanks were not a lot better for the Japanese trying to destroy them. Everything that was thrown at them just bounced off their thick armor. He had been able to destroy a few, but only by getting close and sending grenades into the tanks, immobilizing them by destroying their tracks, or else hosing them with oil and igniting the substance, roasting the occupants inside.

At least he’d been able to procure himself a reliable American M3 submachine gun. The gun was an excellent hand-held machine, but it was prone to break down. He’d found the weapon on a dead British soldier. Shooting the M3 was pretty easy. First, he cocked the pin. He next put a magazine and closed the lid to put his weapon on safe mode. Flipping open the cover to get ready to fire, he pressed the trigger. The American M3 machine gun was a great weapon of war, and the Japanese soldiers loved it.

Ichiro was no exception to the rule. By January 1944, it was almost comical to see the typical Japanese soldier’s equipment as they fought desperately for every inch of ground. Grenades, rifles, and even some large anti-tank guns. All were captured from the Allies because most of their original equipment, never replaced, had eventually broken down.

The major issue when using captured weapons was to find parts and ammunition, but with Captain Hayabashi, Tanaka didn’t have to worry too much about that. Now that they were back with the main body of the army, the man had reconnected with his contacts, and they were well-supplied. Ichiro also felt lucky since the Captain was providing them with enough food compared to the rank and file.

The overall army commander continued on his way as the soldiers saluted him. “Doesn’t he think himself smart,” said Captain Hayabashi, standing right beside him. Ichiro, who was always keen to hate an officer (he’d killed enough of the bastards during his military career and would still do so when he had the opportunity), grunted in approval of his superior’s words.

The elite 18th Imperial Division, or at least what was left of it, was entrenched in the Malay Peninsula. Ichiro and the Captain had no idea where they were apart from the fact that they were probably a few kilometers away from the Siamese (Thailand) border and the sea. The story that brought Ichiro and his resourceful captain to battle there was eventful. After fleeing Rangoon on a plane, they landed further east at yet another Japanese airfield. There they were commandeered by some asshole Colonel needing to get stuff done. But this proved to be an opportunity for the two men. A week into their arrival at the airfield, the Allies had pushed their way close, and the Colonel had wanted to evacuate and flee the enemy advance. The man was made of the same mettle as Ichiro and Hayabashi, meaning he wasn’t too keen on dying for the Emperor. This meant that the two men were able to move along with him as part of his unit.

Then, they fought some Burmese locals and tribes in the jungles to eventually rejoin the main body of the Army by the end of December. From there, they were shipped back to their Division since it was in dire need of replenishment.

Ever since then, they had been busy fighting the enemy and preparing their way out in case things went south with the defenses of the Peninsula.

Tanaka wondered what the next few weeks had in store for him and Captain Hayabashi. The war certainly took an ominous turn as it progressed. Long gone were the days when he was raping, stealing, and killing in Rangoon and Southern China. He mentally shrugged at the whole thing since there was nothing much else to do.


Extract of Tameichi Hara's book Teikoku Kaigun no Saigo 1967

Convoy escort in Brunei Bay, January 20th, 1944

After the Battle of Johnston Island, where the entire Japanese Combined Fleet was moved back to Japan, Grand Admiral Yamamoto decided the fleet would spend some time in Kure to get some much-needed and long-delayed repairs and upgrades. Many of the Nipponese ships didn’t have any radar whatsoever, and others had important damage from the battle. Not having been able to change the tide of the war yet again, the overall Pacific situation was not improving for Japan. It was easy to get a dreadful sense of foreboding for the Empire’s future. No longer did the Imperial Navy do what it wished, nor could it sail wherever it wanted. Everything was now a slugfest and one that Japan seemed to lose, small battle after small battle, like a death by a thousand cuts.

Shigure was one of the lucky ships that didn’t get too badly beaten up in the battle. Apart from some shrapnel hits, the destroyer was in fine condition. We thus soon got ordered to join the merchant fleet escorts to serve as protection for the much-needed and critically important convoys going toward Southeast Asia. On our way down, our job was to save the merchant ships from destruction as they brought food, ammunition, and other war supplies to the frontlines, now dangerously close to Singapore and Indochina. On our way back, the same ships would get loaded at different harbors through the Dutch East Indies with the primary resources needed for the Home Islands factories to process. Rubber, raw oil, steel, and other strategic materials.

One battle comes to mind as it is still something I dream about today, so many years after the war. Our ships (a task force of four destroyers) had been tasked with escorting and providing protection for two large oil tankers headed to Brunei in Japanese-occupied British Borneo. We were to pick up raw oil and then double back to Japan to feed the never-ending thirst of our oil refineries.

Brunei and British Borneo had been occupied quite early in the war. At the outbreak of the fight, the island of Borneo was split into two areas: The British-held north and the south under the Dutch East Indies government.

Borneo was critical to the Japanese war machine because of its oil and rubber. By June 1942 (following their Pacific Blitzkrieg), all of the island was under Imperial control, and the resources started to flow back to Japan.

From there, the Japanese authorities eventually put the oil wells back in operation (the Allies had damaged them), and a regular flow of oil started to pour into Japan by early 1943. The problem with that was that Brunei and the ships going toward it thus became a prime target for the multitude of Allied subs infesting the region. By January 1944, well over sixty Japanese destroyers and smaller destroyer escort vessels dedicated themselves to the inglorious task of escorting our brave merchantmen to and from the Home Islands. It was a dangerous proposition and often resulted in casualties. Most convoys lost at least one ship on every voyage. The sheer amount of tonnage sunk by the American submarines was staggering, and I learned the extent of the disaster for the Empire after the war. This, in itself, was decisive in Japan’s defeat and the Allied victory.

My story is thus, of course, one of destroyers fighting submarines and of losses and death. The night was hot and humid, but I remember not being able to hold the shiver I felt down my spine. I knew the enemy was near. We had just sailed by Tiga Island in Kimanis Bay just before we arrived in Brunei Bay. We had just caught up with destroyer Samagiri, which was about a thousand yards ahead of our destroyer and flanking one off the tanker’s port side. We then moved into a straight and tight group, with me on the starboard side and the other two destroyers protecting the second tanker. At that point, there was about 250 yards of distance between the ships in the convoy.

I caught the sudden movement of something sleek and fast on the water. It was dark, but I had been in the blackness of night for a while, and my eyes were well-adapted. I could not determine what the object, was but groaned, “Here it comes!” I said, as I expected the ship near is, Samaigigri, to be hit at any moment as the object had seemed to race toward it. But then, nothing happened. I was baffled and wondered if I was going crazy and seeing shadows.

The machine guns from two other destroyers in our task force (the Dogikaze and the Baashi) suddenly barked loudly and sent their bright tracer flashing toward the water. A large explosion resounded into the night. “Enemy submarine spotted, fired at, and now hit!” I looked some more at the torrent of bullet now streaming toward the bright fireball that had been the bastard of a sub on the surface

My own gunners opened up and joined in on the party, and then the enemy ships blasted out with one final explosion and rapidly sank into the water.

The enemy sub-captain had kept his boat too close to topside, enabling the two other destroyers in the convoy to spot and destroy it. Even if it was by pure chance, it was weird. I quickly understood why that was.

The sailors aboard the ships (destroters and escorts alike) cheered raucuously, but the entire affair didn’t last long as our night of battle was not over.

Another American sub had been lurking nearby, and it fired its weapons at a tanker while our collective attention was glued to the destroyed enemy craft. Two torpedoes slammed right on one of the big ship’s starboard sides and exploded in great fury.

A blinding flash erupted across everyone’s vision, and night became day for an instant. A fraction of a second later, the roar of the explosion and the concussion wave hit Shigure with the full force of its destruction. The bridge’s viewport windows were blown away, and I dropped to the deck to protect myself. The tanker was gone in an instant, and to this day, I feel lucky it was empty. If it had been full, Shigure would have been vaporized.

Coming back up in time to see the expanding fireball that used to be the tanker, the lookouts on the mast spotted what could only be a torpedo coming our way. It was only then that it dawned on me we were now in a battle with a group of enemy submarines.

I shouted an order to the helm: “Quick, now hard to port!”. A second later, destroyer Baashi was lit up with a bright flash as it got hit by an enemy torpedo. “Baashi is hit, Captain,” said the lookout officer. “It appears bad, sir,” he continued, with two more hits rocking the stricken ship.

Without drawing a breath, I looked in horror at the death of one of my companions. I knew the captain of that ship well, as we had been brought up at the Imperial Naval Academy together (in the same class). “Sir, torpedoes coming toward our stern,” said one of the lookouts on the bridge. By that time, many of my men had binoculars and got busy scanning the surface for incoming threats. ,

My legs buckled because of the dread I felt, and I put my hand on the rail to steady myself. The next twenty seconds flashed by in a blink. The first zipped not 80 feet from the stern; the next one came within a hair’s breadth of Shirugre’s hull. For a moment, the last one looked like it was going to slam right on our bow, as our maneuvering had then presented our other side to the American weapon. I closed my eyes, expecting a world-shattering impact, but nothing happened.

I called for a reverse turn, expecting more weapons coming for the vector of the last one. “Starboard helm, half, quick!”

The move was not, however, instantaneous. A destroyer sailing at near full speed needed at least half a minute to get it done. The moment between the order and the turn was harrowing, but nothing happened, while the world around us was erupting in fire. Our ships were firing widly into the water, while the destroyers were lobbing depth charges, catapulting large water columns in the air.

I remember checking my watch, seeing that not even two minutes had elapsed. It is amazing how time runs differently during a naval battle. You have to experience it to understand it.

Then, the enemy attack abated as the remaining subs dove. Their captains must have decided that they had scored a big hit, and that prudence was the better part of valor for that night.

We, of course, sailed hard for the spot where we thought the torpedoes had originated from and peppered the area with our depth charges, hoping to score. After a few minutes, a large oil patch appeared on the surface. We called it a day, satisfied we had killed at least one of the bastards. We thenstayed close to the destroyed tanker to see if it could pick up any survivors, and we continued on, all senses on the alert, into Brunei Bay and then into the harbor, where we finally left our care safely in the docks.


USS Cisco

Off the coast of Brunei Bay, January 18th, 1944

January 16th, 1944, somewhere southwest of the Philippines

USS Cisco, an American submarine under the command of skipper Jim Cloutier, surfaced in the middle of the night near the coast of Japanese-occupied Formosa.

“Go up and send the signal,” said Cloutier to Drake.  The man was the sub’s signalman. “Yes, sir,” said the sailor, opening the submarine’s hatch in a clang. Tons of dripping water poured in, drenching him and splashing on the steel deck. A wave of fresh air entered the sub’s stale confines, giving everyone an energy boost along with a smile.

Drake sent the Morse code signal into the dark void that faced the Cisco. A minute later, he got two light signals back. The two other American subs were close, having moved to this isolated, middle-of-nowhere spot as agreed with the Cisco.

Cloutier, who had followed Drake outside, spoke. “Signalman. Peto and Sunfish confirm the convoy’s location?” “Yes, Captain, look,” answered Drake, pointing toward the two blinking lights. “The enemy convoy is on a bearing south-southwest toward Borneo. Likely destination is Brunei Bay.” “Very well. Signal them that we’ll be there with them for the party.”

“Ah,” he continued, lifting a finger to emphasize his words. “And give them my compliments. Tell them we’ll position ourselves in the convoy's expected path,” “Yes, sir,” and signalman Drake executed the light signal (in Morse code) to give the other subs their instructions.

Once he was done, the other subs blinked their lights a few times to acknowledge receiving their orders. “Anything else, Captain?” he said. “Yes, tell them good luck and good hunting. First hit to get a round in the next bar we meet.” Cloutier turned around and dropped down the ladder to get back in Cisco. “Yes, sir,” answered Drake with a smile.

(Night of the 20th of January, 1944, off Tiga Island, near Borneo and Brunei Bay)

Lieutenant-Commander Jim Cloutier gave one last look at the two large Nipponese tankers slowly entering into view before giving the order to fire a couple of torpedoes. The island in the background was outlined by the moon's reflection. It was a beautiful sight, and if Jim had not been in a submarine and at war, he would have thought the scene beautiful. But that wasn’t the case, and his job was to kill ships; thus, he couldn’t care less how picture-perfect the scene was. “Forward torpedoes fire,” he gestured, pointing backward with his finger (the torpedo firing mechanism was behind the periscope, and its operator faced Cloutier’s back).

The USS Cisco had been waiting for the last few hours, anticipating a nice target along with her comrades (USS Peto, USS Sunfish) in the newly formed submarine wolfpack. It wasn’t their first operation together, as they had fought Japanese convoys multiple times (like the battle for convoy Hi-81) in the Carolines and near Australia. But it was their first time so deep into the Japanese Empire.

The sub was nicely lined up perpendicular to the southerly direction the very large Japanese convoy was heading. He also saw the four flanking destroyers, two on each side of the tankers. They’d shadowed the enemy small convoy for a day and now were certain it was headed for Brunei Bay. This meant they were going to get oil, but Cloutier hoped they would be able to sink both before they got in. He also hoped they would not lose one of their own.

He’d waited patiently for the vessel to enter the Cisco’s sights for the last ten minutes. Two destroyers were close (there were four of them protecting the convoy), watching and trying to cover the angles.

Just as he thought everything was on point and all was good, a bright fireball exploded in the night, flashing light across the entire area. “What the hell,” he said in amazement. He turned his periscope toward the site of the explosion and was horrified to see that either the Peto or the Sunfish was on fire. “The fucking Japs have rammed one of ours,” he exclaimed out loud, not being able to keep this to himself. A collective breath intake seized the bridge. How could this be? Why was the sub on the surface?

“Sir, the torps should hit right about now,” said Lieutenant Draymond, stopwatch in hand. The four Mark 14 torpedoes (the sub had four forward tubes for launching its weapons) went straight for the target. It was apparent that the Japs had seen their wake as the ship tried to scramble for speed. Even with the darkness, he also saw the four destroyers’ funnels gushing forth with dark smoke, a sure sign that they were picking up speed – and coming his way. The American submarine on fire continued to light the area, and thus, it was possible to see the Japanese ships very clearly. For a fleeting moment, he wondered if the two other subs in his groups also fired at the enemy.

He watched for the few more seconds it took for the four torpedoes to reach the target. Even if it tried, the enemy tanker ship could not dodge as it was too slow, and the American ordnance impacted the ship. All four of the improved torpedoes exploded. The large vessel lifted up from the sea in two pieces, catastrophically opening it to water and igniting a gigantic explosion.

The Nipponese ship was empty, but gas fumes from its previous trip lingered and thus ignited in a big way upon impact. The destruction was as impressive as the ammunition ship he’d hit during the battle against the large Japanese convoy in the Carolines in the summer of 1943.

Secondary explosions, even more potent than the first one created by the torpedoes, scattered horizontal and vertical pillars of fire. Dark smoke gushed forth in a starlike pattern, showering debris and shrapnel all around. One of the destroyers was caught by the blast and disappeared from Jim’s view for a few moments, only to reappear with raging fires on its deck.

“Dive!” and the Cisco dove down as fast as it could because time was of the essence. The enemy destroyers would try to locate them and send depth charges to kill the sub. While the turtle-like nine knots the sub could make while submerged underwater was slow, it was what Cloutier had, so he made the best of it. He tried to put as much distance as possible from the three Japanese destroyers that came right for his ship.

A minute later, the Japanese ship had almost caught up with the Cisco, and they could even hear the ping noise of its sonar. “Keep pushing the engine!” yelled Lieutenant Draymond over the internal radio to the engine room.

After a ten-minute chase, the Japanese destroyer was over the sub, and everyone in the Cisco could hear its ignominious propeller battering the sea above in heavy slushing noises. And then loud thuds reverberated all around them. “Depth charges in the water!” “Everyone, brace for impact!” yelled Draymond to no one in particular.

And then their world rocked. Three loud booming noises were heard, and the Cisco shook from all its length. Every sailor or officer who hadn’t held on to something solid was thrown off of their feet, falling on the ground or hitting walls. Several injuries would later be reported.

“Release oil, all stop to the engine, sink to the bottom!” yelled Cloutier through the hatch, without waiting for Draymond to relay his order. The move was a typical submariner’s trick they learned in training. It was intended to fool the enemy into thinking it sunk their ship. Stopping the engine dead and sinking to the bottom also signaled the enemy they were done for.

A tense minute passed while the Japanese destroyers circled around for another pass at where they were. In the meantime, the sub continued to drop down on the seafloor, and the pressure on its hull mounted. After half a minute, the entire sub started to groan from the strain. “More depth charges into the water!” yelled the sailor at the listening station. And then their world shook again, but less violently because they were further down than the depth the Japanese destroyer men had set the charges to explode.

Everyone stayed still for a few minutes while the Japanese ships circled again to return to their position. The hunters dropped four more depth charges for good measure and then sailed back toward the convoy, which continued on its way toward Brunei Bay.  

Everyone breathed an enormous sigh of relief at the enemy’s departure. They’d survived and, even better, sunk a big enemy tanker! Cloutier waited for the darkness to fall before resuming their course, and the Cisco eventually surfaced to a lovely evening on the Pacific, the Japanese convoy being long gone at their agreed meeting point with the other two subs. The skipper opened the bridge’s hatch and left the ship to breathe; the air was rank in the submarine. Every sailor would get their five minutes of topside in the next hour.

Some light signals were sent into the darkness, but no answer came back. He smiled at a good day’s work but worried at the fate of the two other U.S. vessels. One was obviously gone, and the second seemed to be as well. “Lieutenant Draymond,” he said to the officer just climbing up the ladder to the conning tower. “Yes, Captain?” “We stay here for an hour since we still have darkness. Keep sending the signals every ten minutes. If we get nothing after an hour, we’ll sail away and assume our brothers are gone.” “Yes, sir,” answered Draymond with a solemn face.


Cutting the Japanese jugular

(continued from Sallying Pacific, Book 6)

The submarine war against Japanese shipping, beginning of 1944

Imperial shipping lanes ranged large and long all across the Pacific Ocean, from American Samoa in the east to the Burma, Sumatra, and Indochina in the west and from the southern half of Sakhalin Island in the north to the Dutch East Indies in the south. They also stretched across most of the Pacific Islands to the Bismarck Sea, some parts of the Solomons Islands, and all the way to New Caledonia. These routes no longer needed to supply Hawaii and Johnston Island, and the decision had been taken to leave New Caledonia, Fiji, and Samoa to their own devices.

Regardless of these “improvements” for the Japanese merchant marine level of responsibilities, it remained an impossible task. The shipping lanes were the lifeblood of Japan's war effort, but the country’s navy didn’t have the capability to support such a large expanse. Japanese home factories needed a lot of resources to keep running and supporting the war economy. In return, the troops in the Pacific, Asia, and China needed food, ammo, and reinforcements to keep fighting.  The Japanese merchant marines needed to meet all those needs in as much a timely fashion as in a matter of volume.

The Allies and the U.S. Navy, in particular, entertained a very healthy fleet of submarines to sink as many of those ships as possible. By the end of 1943, the Japanese cargo carrying capacity of seven million (about a month and a half into the war, in April 1942) was reduced to about five point five million tons by the end of 1943, despite a rigorous building program having priority in Japanese shipyards. In short, the Allies sunk a staggering total of 1,250,000 tons during the 1943 year. That tonnage represented 263 cargo, merchant men, troop ships, tankers, and others. It was a disaster of epic proportions for a nation already strapped for resources.

Japanese imports of resources went from roughly twenty point five million tons in 1941 to about sixteen and a half by the dawn of the 1944 year. Unfortunately for the Empire, it seemed that it would continue to drop like an anchor in water for 1944.

Now that Allied bases were getting closer and closer to the Imperial interior shipping lines, the submariners forecasted to be even more effective. 1944 would NOT be a good year for Japanese industrial production.

Men like Tameichi Hara had their work cut out for them in the months to come.


CHAPTER 2


Extract from General Macarthur’s book, Reminiscences, 1964

Cape Gloucester and the beginning of the invasion of New Britain

By the beginning of 1944, Japanese control of territory in the South Seas had greatly diminished. The line they held was from Madang in northern North Guinea to New Britain and New Ireland. They still had sizeable garrisons in the Solomons and elsewhere around, but these were now isolated. They were thus irrelevant to the continuation of the war. Condemned to wither on the vine, they were useless to the Japanese defenses.

With the enemy on the backfoot by our recent string of victories, I pushed high command to continue to press hard and fast to stay in a position where we held the entirety of the initiative. It was time for the killing stroke part of Operation Cartwheel.

The Allies now had considerable strength with which to launch an unstoppable offensive on the New Britain-Carolinas-Marianas axis and smash the Japanese defenses open to land back into the Philippines. As I have stated many times before, taking them back was not only the fulfillment of an American promise. It would also cut the enemy factories form the resources in Southeast Asia.

I proposed that that it was time to combine everything onto one powerful trust toward the achievement of that goal. Taking Rabaul and Kavieng was the first two steps into the drive. The offensive I wanted to execute was what I considered the best route in order to use our combined air, naval, and ground forces. The ships would move the troops around the enemy-fortified areas while the bombers, now advancing at the same time we took more areas, would support them.

The liberation of the enemy-held Green Islands was the first step into that drive as I had my eyes set on Rabaul. Our forces landed on February 25th. Following a quick and sharp fight, they conquered the entire islands, the air bases, and the small supply harbors. With that successful outcome, the campaign for the Solomon Islands concluded. All of the forces south of the Bougainville were thus isolated and condemned to slowly die in place, with no hope of reinforcement, supply, or support.

And then it was time for the first pincer of Operation Cartwheel to get into gear. The 3rd Marine Division was again ready for action following a stint in Australia for a well-deserved rest, refit, and reequipment phase. I sent it right back into action as the centerpiece of my ambition to conquer Rabaul.

The landing at Cape Gloucester was thus launched. With no significant naval opposition (the Imperial Navy was nowhere to be seen as our large fleets covered the crossing from New Guinea to Cape Gloucester), the operation went well. The 3rd rapidly took control of several small air bases in and around Cape Gloucester. The Army's 323rd Airborne Battalion was sent right behind to exploit the Cape Gloucester beachhead.

The Japanese in New Britain were waiting for us and did not intend to give in easily. The defense force, under the command of General Ichio Matsusa, numbered about 8,000 men from a hodgepodge of units shipping in haste following the defeat in the Huon Peninsula.

Matsuda established his HQ at the foot of Mount Talawe, , to stay near where the action would be. Unfortunately for him, we knew where he was, thanks to our code-breaking intelligence services.

The next operation to be set forth was the landing at the southern coast of New Britain, about sixty miles from Rabaul. As this would be a very difficult operation, I opted to do the Cape Gloucester landings first and then use all available naval and air force for the second landing.


The Green Inferno Part 1

The 3rd Marine Division land in Cape Gloucester January 24th, 1944

On the early morning of the 24th of January 1944, Marines Johnny Burgeau and Sherman tank machine-gunner Eric Vandermain poised off the coast of New Britain. Both men were not near each other, but the outline of Mount Talawe was in their sights as the light of dawn showed itself amidst the humidity-ridden fog of the previous night. Talawe was an extinct volcano towering over the landscape where they were about to land.

Johnny was in an LCI (Landing Craft, Infantry), a large amphibious landing vessel built for the purpose of landing soldiers and marines on beaches. Eric was in an LCT (landing craft, tank), the same concept for vehiciles and tanks.

Flames billowed from the guns of American and British-Australian ships, ranging from battleships to destroyers, scattering the morning calm. The entire newly combined Allied Pacific Fleet (under Cunningham and Spruance) was in attendance with its four powerful dreadnoughts (New Jersey, Virginia, South Dakota, and Indiana), nine carriers (four main fleet carriers: Essex, Intrepid, Hornet, and Yorktown) and flanked by close to one hundred smaller support ships and cruisers.

As he watched the light show and listened to the rumbling thunder of battle and destruction, Johnny steeled himself while daylight was fast approaching everywhere. The attack signal would soon be given, and off to the beach, he was going to go. The landing craft was sailing in a circle offshore and slightly out of range of bullet fire, awaiting for the navy boys to be done smashing the area they were about to assault.

For ninety more minutes, the fire support ships blazed away, rocking the beaches and jungles in a tumultuous succession of blasts and explosions.

The goal of the U.S. Navy ships was to neutralize instead of trying to destroy everything. All the while, Johnny was sweaty as hell and didn’t feel so good. The weather was so hot it was difficult to breathe in the combination of blistering heat and humidity. He looked around him, and the rest of the men were as nervous as he was. Even his new sergeant, Mark Broberg, seemed to have a sour face. He had a quick thought for Brian Hollerby, his now-dead NCO. The LCI bobbed in the waves, and he felt sick to his stomach.

Most of them, including Johnny, thought about the leave they’d had in Australia. After very rough fighting for the Tenakau Airfield on Bougainville, the Division was moved out and shipped to Sydney, where it was to be reinforced with new recruits while the veterans got some rest. Several of them had picked up girlfriends or visited whorehouses. There had been a lot of drinking and then, like every soldier in every war, lots of sleeping.

A few hundred yards behind him stood Private Eric Vandermain. He was beside the Sherman and fought against his sea sickness hard. While he knew the Marine infantry was going to be first on the beaches, he did not look forward to the LCT’s door opening and facing Japanese opposition. Tanks were normally prime targets for the enemy. While most of their antitank guns couldn’t penetrate Sherman’s armor, they definitely could kill the one that had a machine gunner like Eric on top.

Once the light of day broke across the land, the bombers, escorted by their multitudes of fighters, attacked to add to the shore bombardment. There was no dogfight as the enemy air force was noticeably absent. The four-engine aircraft plastered the beach, the jungle, and even the air bases with their fiery ordinance, blasting away soldiers, fuel dumps, trees, sand, and defenses. Some anti-aircraft defenses tried to stop the American onslaught but were quickly silenced by strafing P-51s and some well-placed bombs from B-25 Mitchell medium bombers.

Johnny watched in awe; the land in front of him was afire with power and destruction. The American landing craft finally got the signal to go ahead and speed straight through toward land. The first of the two friends to hit the beach was, of course, Johnny.

He took a deep breath intake as the Lieutenant yelled for everyone to get ready. The boat was going at full speed, and within moments, it slammed into the sand; the armored ramp opened, and it was time to fight.

The scene opened up to him as a maelstrom of bullets, fires, and explosions. The jungle facing the beach was aflame or smoking, a result of the preliminary bombardment. A man beside him fell, hit by a bullet. He jumped on the soft, blackened sand and stumbled down face-first into the water. Damn, this was difficult! He lifted himself up and started to wade ashore with the rest of his comrades. Enemy fire was light, thanks to the Navy and air force boys, but even with that kind of firepower, there were still Japs firing at them. More men were hit near Johnny as they finally made it to the tree line and got ready to assault it.

A few minutes after his friend hit the beach, Eric Vandermain’s Sherman tank churned into the shallow water and onto the black sand to race toward the burning and smoking tree line. All the while, Eric blazed away with his machine gun to cover his brothers' assault inland. Resistance was light and he was pleased he might have a good chance to survive. The level of enemy fire was nowhere near their last battle on Bougainville (Tenakau), and thus, all the U.S. tanks also made it to the tree line to join the battle for the interior.


Operation Dexterity

The Battle for Cape Gloucester, January 24th, 1944

By 0924 in the morning, the Americans were ashore following very light resistance. The 3rd Marine Division was in the midst of its third major amphibious operation of World War II after Guadalcanal and Bougainville—but this time under the direction of General Douglas MacArthur, the SPWA overall commander.

The campaign for the liberation of the island of New Britain campaign was the first combat operation since the division returned from a two-month leave in Sydney after six months of bitter jungle fighting in the infernos of the Solomon Islands. While the Marines recuperated in Australia, the high command kept busy planning its next move against the Japanese.

The Allies were in the process of reclaiming New Guinea from the Japanese with the ultimate goal of liberating Rabaul and, at the same time, depriving the Imperial Forces of their South Seas base. He and his people had planed a multi-stage operation called Cartwheel. The first objective was the occupation of Kiriwina and Woodlark Islands. That operation concluded in the summer of 1943 with several successful landings and a naval victory. Next was Postern, which seized Lae, Salamaua, Finschhafen, and the entire Huon Peninsula (in New Guinea) facing New Britain. Last, before the main assault, called for the occupation of western New Britain (Cape Gloucester).

Since the 3rd Marine Division was in Australia, it became directly under MacArthur’s command, the SPWA (Southwest Pacific Theater). The officer was extremely pleased and often referred to the unit as “my Marines.” He was proud of these men who had fought hard for Guadalcanal and Bougainville. They were the tip of his spear.

Thus, it was just logical for the SPWA commander to have his best unit for the capture of the all-important airstrip at Cape Gloucester in Western New Britain since his ultimate goal was to storm Rabaul. Located in northeast New Britain, the large base was the main spot for the resupplying of the South Seas’ Japanese units. It was also the Imperial Navy’s main base in the area.

The operation started well. After the mind-boggling that plastered Nipponese defenses, American troops spilled out of their landing craft and, following a brief fight, established a firm beachhead.

At least, the U.S. landing forces moved into wet ground (swamps) and towering jungle but only faced light opposition from scattered and small Japanese units. It was nonetheless a big fight because Nipponese soldiers did not die easily and fought till their last drop of blood. To make matters worse, the terrain where the battle was being fought was far-reaching and exceptionally difficult for maneuver and mobility because of the swampy morass and dense rain forests that dotted the land. A plethora of insect life, reptiles, and other disgusting creatures inhabited these jungles as well. Mosquitos with malaria, spiders the size of hands, and other critters harassed both Japanese and Americans while they fought each other as if they didn’t have enough to cope with already.

Once landed, the Marines crossed the previously yellow but now blackened sand beaches at a run and dove into a wall of smoking and flaming undergrowth crossed by knee-deep swampy terrain.

A Japanese counterattack at that moment would have delivered a terrible blow to the U.S. Marines as they were stuck in the morass, but General Matsuda did not have the transportation nor the roads to move his troops to where the enemy had landed. The Japanese commander had discounted the area as a landing spot for the Yankees because of the swamps.

While their ground troops were pinned ans unable to do much more than fighting in place (it was difficult to move in the open with so many shells flying around and so many Allied planes looking for kills) a few brave pilots decided to attempt to do something about the enemy barrage of fire. A flight of twenty zeros and fifteen Betty bombers moved in for the kill. A powerful dogfight was then fought against superior U.S. fighter numbers and all but five of the Japanese planes survived long enough to drop bombs at the landing beaches. It was a massacre.

All the while and unhindered, the 3rd Marine Division continued to move rapidly inland, capturing most of their objectives of the first day. The fight was far from over, but the Allies were on the ground to stay in Western New Guinea.


Air Strike

Western New Guinea, near Cape Gloucester, January 24th, 1944

Takashi Onishi and thirty of his comrades (some flying Zeros, some Ki-83 and Ki-84 fighters) had been ordered to fly cover for an air strike on yet another enemy attack in New Britain. This time, however, it was serious since the enemy had landed. The last week was spent switching from defending the airfield at Rabaul to attacking Allied ships or dueling above the sea in the Vityaz Strait, the body of water between where the Allies were landing (Cape Gloucester) and the Huon Peninsula.

Initial reports spoke of very large enemy air concentrations over the Dutch capital. He no longer wished for a real dogfight like he used to. He remembered 1942 when the Allies had weak fighters (like the obsolete Dutch fighters), and he now missed those happy times. Life had been a lot simpler when Japan was mighty. He looked to his left and to his right. The flight was three squadrons strong, and well over eighty fighters and bombers flew along with him. He decided that, for once, they had a sizeable force. He, however, suspected that the enemy had even more if General Itoshi Imamura back in Rabaul had decided to send so many aircraft in one attack.

By the time their airstrike arrived over the target area, Takashi was startled by the sight that greeted him and his comrades: a host of fighters was assembled and waiting for them. They buzzed about while bombers dropped bombs on unseen targets in the jungle growth below. Onishi did not have to be a genius to know who they were firing at. “Everyone gets ready,” said squadron commander Hata over the radio. Takashi tried to see what types of planes he would soon face, and his level of confidence fell a few more notches lower following his appraisal of the numbers they had to fight. The unmistakable shape of the P-38 Lightning twin-engine fighters and the bulky shape of the Mustang P-51s. While his Hayate wasn’t too shabby, the two Yankee plane types barreling down toward him, and his comrades were excellent. Well, not just excellent. Better than anything the Japanese Army fielded. More powerful engines, better armor, more maneuverability.

Looking at the enemy disposition, most of the fighters were stacked in three levels at least 10,000 feet above the landing zone and a bit higher than the Japanese force, giving them the advantage of altitude. Within moments, it was time to fight, and enemy tracers started to populate his field of view. The level of ordinance the Allies fighters poured seemed like a wall of lead. It was daunting, but for a man like Takashi, who had three years of experience in fighting the bastards in the Pacific, this was just a regular workday.

A few Zeroes ahead of Takashi decided to make a high-speed pass at two P-38s, overshooting them with excess momentum. He could not help but groan in anger. It was a common rookie mistake that enemy pilots often exploited. And there were just too many insufficiently trained rookies these days. For a moment, his anger seeped through, and he grunted in frustration, wondering what the people back in the Home Islands were doing about this problem. Didn’t they understand that the enemy was getting stronger and more numerous, and that it was of the utmost importance to send the frontline squadrons better pilots and better planes?

Trying to save his too-eager comrades, he accelerated just as the Americans turned to fire at the Jap fighters and rolled into an effective gunnery pass. He hit one of the P38s that immediately streamed smoke and leveled out. It crashed in the jungle below a few seconds later.

Moments later, Onishi’s fighter thundered at full speed, and a target of opportunity presented itself. The Hayate came in contact with a B-25 Mitchell bomber busy blazing away with its machine gunners at buzzing around Japanese fighters. In an instant, his experienced eye saw that the bomber’s gunners had not seen his plane approach, and he decided to use the moment to surprise the bastards. He fired a few bursts on the side fuselage, splattering it with hits and shooting it down. The big lumbering plane veered to its side like a wounded whale and burst afire. A few of its crew streamed out before it slowly leveled out toward the sea near Cape Gloucester in a horizontal dive while trailing dark smoke.

Deciding the enemy bomber was done for, the Japanese ace gathered the two wingmen he’d just saved for another run at an additional formation of ten B-25 bombers flying low on the approach toward the Japanese ground positions at the airfield. He signaled the two through his cockpit that they were heading in, and they acknowledged. “Let’s get a few of the bastards before they drop their bombs,” he said to himself. He picked up altitude to approach the enemy bombers in a rolling dive, one of his preferred tactics, and the other two less-experienced airmen followed his move.

The B-25 was an American medium bomber. It was powered by a 1,355 hp engine and carried up to 3,650 pounds of bombs. It sported an impressive defensive armament: machine guns in nose, waist, and ventral positions, with one in the tail. It was not something to trifle with and approach too close if you were not a good pilot.

The American pilots (and gunners, for that matter) had seen Onishi taking down the fighter and the lone Mitchell and so were ready when the trio of Japanese pilots came at them in a steep, perpendicular dive. The sky around the U.S. bombers lit up with machine guns and flak shells in long tracer lines that crisscrossed the Japanese pilot’s paths.

Onishi’s two comrades were caught in a crossfire, taking several hits. One had his windscreen holed by a .30-caliber round clipping the top of his head, killing the man instantly. His plane went into a tumbling dive and rapidly crashed on the large mountain near Cape Gloucester. The second one’s Zero was riddled with .50 shells and wholly gutted out, trailing dark smoke, while the pilot was hit twice in the legs, with grave injuries that shattered muscles and bones. Stunned and disoriented, the doomed pilot yanked his plane upward until he made a complete loop backward and lost consciousness, seeing black dots in front of his eyes. Most pilots could have guessed the rest of the story: the plane flew until it crashed fierily on the ground in a cataclysmic explosion, with the man at the helm still unconscious, bleeding and dying anyway.

Takashi went into his tumbling and rolling dive, dodging every single shell and machine-gun bullet that was fired his way. Once his dodging move was over, he sent a heavy burst of his cannons on one of the B-25s and riddled it on the top of the fuselage, holing the plane in several places. A few seconds after that, the plane just exploded in mid-air.

Being done with his crazy stunt, he leveled his Hayate and looked for his comrades, just in time to see the second one crash and explode. Feeling grim, he pulled hard on his stick to pick up altitude. Commander Hata’s voice then shot the return to base order over the squadron’s radio. “Everyone, let’s go home; we’ve done what we can here,” he said in a weary voice. Takashi could tell the man was shaken. He’d flown with him for a while now and knew the man’s mood. This meant that losses had been heavy, and he could tell why. After all, he’d lost his two wingmen in the fight. He turned his plane around and headed back for Rabaul in the rest of the squadron’s wake. He didn’t feel good about the damned bombers unloading their ordinance on the poor sods below or at the fact that he’d lost his comrades, but he figured that at least he was alive and well.


Combined Fleet flagship

Battleship Ise, on approach to Turk Lagoon, January 25th, 1944
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Grand Admiral Yamamoto was walking the deck outside the great battleship Ise, his flagship for the voyage from the Home Islands to the South Seas. He planned on transferring his flag to Yamato as soon as he got the chance. The super battleship had been in the Marshall Islands and was ordered to rendezvous with the main body of the fleet in the Caroline Islands base.

Ise (whose name came from an ancient Japanese province of Honshu) was the lead ship in the Ise-class battleships of the IJN. The ship was built in the Kawasaki shipyard in Kobe and finished at the end of 1917. While it did not fight in World war I for lack of enemies and time, Ise got busy supporting the Japanese thrust in Siberia from 1918 to 1920.

As he watched the beautiful Truk lagoon the vessel was sliding into with its guns, port facilities, and planes patrolling in the air, Yamamoto looked around and could not help but be proud of the ship he was on.

As the ship was completed, it was decided to fit it with large 14-inch guns, the first of their kind in the world. Modernized in the 1930s, the Ise was now a pretty fast and well-armed battleship. The Grand Admiral intended to use it in the coming weeks and months as he was going to try and blunt the Allied advance up from the South Seas and save Truk-Rabaul from destruction and occupation.

He turned back toward what made him even prouder: the base sprawled in front of him. The Truk coral atoll was the best natural harbor in the entire Central Pacific and rivaled Pearl in space and Gibraltar in defensive capabilities. The central island (an extinct volcano) was surrounded in a nearly perfect circle by a coral barrier 130 miles in diameter. Ships could enter the lagoon from five different entrances, of course fully supplied with many naval guns.

A towering 1,300-feet volcanic cone resided in its center. The large island (thirty-six square miles) had enabled the Japanese Navy and Army to develop it as the best imperial base outside of the Home Islands, boasting several fuel depots, large warehouses, ammunition magazines for all kinds of ships, guns, and planes, naval gun turret for defense, and airfields.

Truk also had large concrete hangers hosting a large submarine base. Repair ships and a crane ship were stationed permanently in the lagoon, proof being the silhouette of the Imperial Navy’s main repair ship, the old, converted battleship Akashi, seemingly busy working on yet another vessel. Yamamoto thought he could spot the many welding torch flashes as the workers applied their magic to the ship’s hull.

There were now no less than five airfields in the atoll (on most of the islands where the land surface permitted it) operated by both the Navy and the Army. For search operations, another island (Dublon) boasted a seaplane base. The 104th Air Arsenal, which had made Truk its home since before the war, was the unit responsible for a plethora of tasks pertaining to supply and logistics in the South Seas theater.

In short, it was one hell of a base, and Yamamoto wondered if he would have to fall back on it as the enemy advance seemed irresistible. He was unsettled because of the news of the landings in Cape Gloucester, at the extreme west of New Britain. When he left Japan with the entirety of the Imperial Fleet ten days before, he’d hoped he would be able to arrive before the Allies made their move on the large island, but alas, General MacArthur and Admirals Spruance-Cunningham had pre-empted him by a few days. The invasion was a day old, and the news on the ground wasn’t good. The air strikes sent from Rabaul also failed. It didn’t look like General Matsuda would be able to hold the area with his meager forces.

Furthermore, naval intelligence estimated that another landing, maybe even two, was about to be executed by the enemy. The first one was forecast to be at the southernmost tip of New Ireland, and the second one on the southern coast of New Britain, just south of Rabaul.

He was not very keen on committing the Combined Fleet and his precious ships in such a nest of angry enemies (after all, he knew the Allied fleet probably outnumbered him three to one in terms of ships and like five to one in carriers). The unfavorable ratio was even worse with air strength. The Allies had so many planes that it was a daunting proposition to sail in and hope for a victory.

And yet, what else could he do? He could hardly wait for the enemy to smash Rabaul to pieces. And besides, his position as Commander-in-Chief of the Navy was now in question. There were more and more voices against him, and it was said that even the Emperor was displeased with his conduct of the war so far. He grimaced, thinking of what he’d said at the start of the conflict. He’d told Tojo and Hajime that the Japanese Navy would be able, with the capture of Hawaii, to hold off the Yankees for a year to a year and a half. If the war wasn’t won after that, he could not guarantee anything.

His prediction had come true, but these men seemed to have forgotten his words. Now, it was his fault if they were losing the Pacific. Yes, he’d lost battles, and his subordinates had as well. While the Japanese Imperial Navy inflicted greater damage than it had received since the start of hostilities, it could do nothing about the sheer numbers the Allies, and the United States in particular, could churn out against Japan.

“It’s beautiful, isn’t it, sir,” said Vice Admiral Matome Ukagi, his chief of staff. “Indeed it is, Vice Admiral,” answered Yamamoto, looking at the turquoise blue and pristine water of the lagoon, the lush greenery of the islands, and the might of Japan assembled in one spot for yet another campaign.

He crossed his arms behind his back, looking beyond the atoll toward the southern horizon. There lay the enemy, where he would soon need to sail and fight. He wondered how he would fare this time.


The liberation of Johnston Island

Fighting for the Fuji Part 1, January 26th, 1944

“Up! Up! Up!” yelled the Sergeant in his loud baritone voice. Sergeant Douglas was one hell of a son of a bitch, and he was, unfortunately, Nathan’s NCO. Nathan was part of the 14th Marine Battalion and was a newly arrived recruit in a recruit unit. In short, they were all green soldiers getting bloodied for the first time. “Let’s go, Smith, what the fuck are you doing,” yelled the sarge to him as he’d just stumbled on some loose broken-down structure. The Marine unit was tasked with storming the two broken-down concrete battleships.

Both the Fuji and the Yashima had been thoroughly destroyed by the big shells of the Montana and the other battleships with Marc Mitscher’s fleet (3rd Allied Fleet) a week before in a cataclysmic display of American firepower. That was obvious from the destroyed nature of the concrete structure. Nathan could tell the entire construction had exploded from the inside and saw the result of Montana’s 18-inch shell impacts. The holes the weapon had made were humongous. “How the hell did the bastards inside survive this,” grumbled his friend and comrade Alexander Minaard as he struggled to circumvent a big smashed-out steel door. It was so thoroughly destroyed that Nathan couldn’t even figure out how or where that door had been and what tunnel it had protected.

After weeks of relentless aerial bombings and naval shelling, Johnston Island had been ripe for the taking. Several American units had landed a few days before on the island, fighting their way across the destroyed fortifications. The Japs had burrowed deep and hard all across Johnston, and it now seemed the entire island was wrapped in concrete and steel. “Well, broken-down concrete and steel,” he thought with a smile.

Nathan and the 14th Marine Battalion had been shipped directly from San Diego to Johnston for the landing operation. The unit was formed at Parris Island, in South Carolina, one of the three locations where Marines were recruited and trained stateside.

Boot camp had been a long, 8-week grueling process of hardship, and then he’d received a little bit more training when they got to the other Marine camp facility in San Diego. That was two months ago, and it seemed like it was a different life.

They’d boarded ships as the announcement of the liberation of Honolulu, Pearl Harbor, and Oahu as a whole was being made. Nathan had worried that there would be no fighting left by the time he got to the frontlines. But his training officer at the time had laughed and told him he would have enough fighting to last several lifetimes and that he didn’t need to worry. He’d scoffed at the man then but now understood what he meant.

Several of his friends were dead, many of them dying of horrible wounds. Others were injured, and he even wondered if it would be better for them to be dead. He’d seen so much in the scant few days of fighting that he wasn’t certain he could take this for years on end like some of the older NCOs in the unit. When new units formed, it was customary to surround them with older, more experienced officers and sub-officers. Some of them, like Sergeant Douglas, had fought in Europe and it was obvious they were quite shaken from the experience.

The landing on the island had gone well initially, as they cleared out the holdouts and the half-destroyed bunkers with grenades and flamethrowers. But then the Japs had started to take potshots at them from the “safety” of the destroyed hulks of the concrete battleships. The initial response was for the battleship to send them more naval ordinance, but no manner of bombing killed the bastards, and it was decided they must have deep installations below the sea floor. And, in fact, they had, apparently. Several of the deep bunkers had been cleared by some of the men from other platoons, and what they reported was that the Japs had dug and reinforced several tunnels from below the sea. It was mindboggling how dedicated these brave and crazy men were.

Now, it was time for Nathan’s platoon to attack and supply its share in the fighting. A couple of the guys had found lively Japs that fired at them before disappearing into a small hole on one of the last remaining high spots on the concrete battleship. They were on the so-called Fuji, named after the turrets installed on the structure since apparently they came from a pre-dreadnought battleship of the same name. These guns were gone, of course, but the name remained.

The two Marines had moved toward the firing enemy snipers and found a broken down, very tenuous tunnel entrance. As he stepped into the damp, foul-smelling space, he could hear the groans of the entire structure, and it looked like it would crumble down at any moment. “You sure it’s safe, Sergeant?” asked of the men, earning him a slap on the helmet from Douglas. “Shut up and move in, kid,” he said.

They moved down what seemed to be a long time to Nathan. He figured they climbed down well over 150 feet below the structure, and as he walked the halls and tunnels, he understood why the thing couldn’t be destroyed by ships. It was made of reinforced concrete and wrapped in logs and steel from repurposed steel oil barrels. He found it rather ingenious and wondered what the Japs at the bottom had in store for them.

They continued on down and eventually saw some light at the end of the long tunnel, followed by Japanese voices yelling in their weird tongues. He figured that was normal since they knew Americans had found their holdout.

He braced for what was to come: unavoidable combat and possible death.


The Green Inferno Part 2

The 3rd Marine Division fights in hell January 26th, 1944

There was a reason why the Cape Gloucester Operation was called the “Green Inferno.” It was a hellish place to fight. The Marines of the 3rd Division had to battle a combination of rain, wildlife, jungles, and disease, along with Japanese soldiers shooting at them. The incessant rains fell from the sky as if whole buckets were thrown on the Marine's head. The wetness also transformed any passable trail or road into mud quagmires, unfit for humans and machines to travel on.

The terrain features in Western New Britain alternated from high mountains (as high as 7,000 feet) to marsh, raging rivers, and greenery. Thick jungles covered the entire island, and only battleship fire was able to clear them fast enough. Some semblance of civilization was present with a sprinkling of plantations and other farmlands (where the difficult and inhospitable ground permitted it, of course).

In such a mess, tanks could move around even less for the Shermans of the Division to give their fire support to the poor sods deep into the forest and moving toward the airfield. Private Marine Johnny Burgeau dodged the stream of bullets hitting the water in a flurry of splashes by hiding behind a large fallen tree. “That was close,” he muttered to himself.

He was, like the rest of his unit, wading through water waist-deep and wondered what kind of problems this would give him. Many of his comrades had been bitten by snakes, spiders the size of their hands, or else leeches as big as thumbs. It was, to say the very least, disgusting and very uncomfortable. Johnny thought he’d seen everything on Guadalcanal and Bougainville, but the Green Inferno was a few notches higher in terms of general discomfort and danger coming from wildlife around.

The enemy was above the water facing the platoon and had, of course, fortified the place since it was the only dry spot for a mile around. Several earth and coconut log bunkers stood on top of a small hill, surrounded by swampy terrain. Artillery shells landed every now and then in the Japanese position, thanks to the divisional artillery a few miles back. But Johnny knew from experience that this would not be enough to root out the Imperials.

“What do we do now, Sarge,” said one of the men near him to Sergeant Broberg. The NCO looked at the questioning Marine with a face that told of what he thought, but his lips said otherwise. “We assault the place, of course.” A few of the Marines, all hunkering down or upright behind large trees, grumbled. But Broberg, far from being stupid, knew that trying to assault a fortified position with machine guns while not even being able to run as they were waist-deep was tantamount to suicide. “But we’ll await orders first, Private,” he added with a smile.

The exchange seemed to satisfy everyone, and the unspoken words of the Sergeant were understood by the men’s platoon. There would be no stupid move unless they were directly ordered to by some officer, and at present, none were present.

(…)

A few miles away, Eric Vandermain and his Sherman were advancing cautiously on the just-large-enough trail. The heavy foliage brushed against the side armor, once in a while high enough to touch or even whip Eric. Through it all, he tried to stay as sharp as possible, as his job was not only to man the .50 on the turret but also to act as a spotter for the lieutenant inside the tank.

The turret hatch was open, and Lieutenant Stankoven spoke through the hole inside. “See anything, Vandermain?” “Not a thing, sir, apart from the boys walking behind us,” he answered.

Just as he finished his sentence, he perceived some movement from the left corner of his eye. He swiveled the turret and saw a Japanese soldier run into the undergrowth. “Jap at 3 o’clock!” he yelled and then pulled the fire trigger. His .50 rounds blazed out of the gun and started slamming into the forest, shattering trees and foliage altogether. Following his initial burst, the enemy soldiers retaliated in kind, and the entire jungle seemed to light up with tracers, explosions, and yelling men. The tanks behind and ahead of Eric also swiveled their main guns and .50 machine guns and fired away. The entire jungle exploded in shattering green, bullets, and dying men.


Air recon in the Carolines

453rd bomber group, January 29th, 1944

Therefore, determine the enemy’s plans, and you will know which strategy will be successful and which will not. Agitate him and ascertain the pattern of his movement. Determine his dispositions and so ascertain the field of battle. Probe him and learn where his strength is abundant and where he is deficient.

Sun Tzu, the Art of War

B-29 pilot and crew commander Harry Bergman looked at his instruments one more time as his bomber droned up high at 30,000 feet, almost as high as its design permitted it to go (31,500 feet). The bomber, along with five others, was flying toward the Truk Atoll, rumored to be a Japanese stronghold. America knew that it was a Japanese naval base; it just didn’t know what it was in terms of size. Their mission was simple. Find and assess what the Imperial Navy entertained there. The atoll had many islands, and it was unknown what the enemy had done to them. All these Japanese Imperial Navy ships sailing into Rabaul and the Solomons had to come from somewhere, and the theory was that they were based out of Truk.

U.S. Intelligence was right on the money in assessing something big was lying in wait at Truk because the the Japanese military had heavily fortified the atoll. Its strategic spot within range of the South Seas and in the center of the Japanese Empire made it a perfect place for a major base. Furthermore, Grand Admiral Yamamoto saw the place as his last stand and had already decided to fight there to the last if he could.

Bergman’s mission was to fly over the atoll, take as many pictures as possible, and then fly back to Henderson Field for a report and to get the aerial pics developed and assessed by intelligence.

“Captain,” said copilot and Lieutenant Elijah Jackman. “according to the plotting officer in the back, we are about ten minutes from flying over Truk.” “Very well,” said Harry casually. There was no real danger as the Japs didn’t have many planes that could climb that high. He knew because he’d bombed the shit out of them in the last year and a half without being attacked often. Unfortunately for him, he was to be surprised by a plane and an excellent pilot who was about to land on that very day.

(…)

The Ki-84 Hayate had a service ceiling of 34,000 feet and could thus go toe-to-toe with the “Doolittle 29s”. About ten minutes ahead of him, ace pilot Takashi Onishi was about to land on one of the main airfields, since he’d been ordered back to Truk Atoll for a promotion, as he was named Captain and would soon get his own squadron.

He was also to go on leave for a couple of days following his promotion ceremony. He looked forward to enjoying the pristine beaches of the place and some good sake. Rabaul was a dreary place since a volcano had erupted in 1942, covering the entire area with volcanic ashes. The place looked like hell, and there was a permanent smell of burnt rocks there. That was without the Allies, who also gave their fair share of misery by bombing the base every day and every night. Truk Atoll was forecast to be a nice rest for the Japanese ace pilot.

“Lieutenant Onishi” started the control toward the main island where the airfield was. “You are cleared to land.” Onishi acknowledged rapidly and then started to make his way down. Then, the voice of the same controller came back, but this time with a definite note of urgency. “Enemy bomber formation on approach. Lift away and engage, Lieutenant. We need to protect this base!”

Takashi was about to ask a question, wondering why and how an enemy bomber, but then saw several Ki-84s thunder upward at full speed. They were the fighters of the CAP, or combat air patrol. They blazed right by him, one of them even waving solemnly toward battle with a grand gesture of the hand and a smile. He veered his fighter into a tight roll and pulled on his control stick to gain altitude. Checking his fuel gauge, he decided he had a few minutes to fight before he would be forced to land. The Hayate had great range, but he’d flown a long distance, and combat was a lot more demanding on fuel than just flying in a straight line.

Already, the many anti-aircraft guns on the reef barrier around the atoll had started firing at the small bomber formation, populating the sky with bright explosions and dark puffs of smoke. The smoke lingered in the sky, trailing behind after the bombers flew threw the flak, enabling the Japanese fighters to easily zero in on the Yankee B-29s.

(…)

The bomber ahead of Harry (he was the third in line in the star-like flight formation) was the first to spot the grey shapes coming toward them. “Incoming enemy fighters,” said Commander Marchand, the man in overall charge of the recon mission. For a moment, Harry just shrugged off the news, as he was not expecting the Zero fighters to be much of a nuisance. So far, he rarely encountered anything other than with, as an added bonus, untrained pilots. He knew the things were easy to kill, and he finally had some machine gunners following some modifications to the “Doolittle 29s.”

The bombers, not needing the incredible extra range anymore, had been remodified to add four machine gunners in their intended and designed spots along the fuselage. He thus knew they had something to defend the plane with, and besides, the Superfortress was a very tough plane. He was, as a consequence, more worried about the enemy flak than anything else, which made his plane rock and bump with every blast near it. “The Japs have some heavy flak down there, sir,” said his copilot, Elijah Jackman. “I suspect this is a sign they are protecting something big.”

Harry grunted in response, as he was also of the same opinion. The entire ring of land around the atoll was riddled with gun flashes, indicating that a lot of guns were firing at them. The sky around was dotted with large and small puffs of dark smoke indicating anti-aircraft shell explosions.

Then, quite suddenly, a bright light briefly blinded his left eye, and he knew what that meant; turning his head, he saw that the bomber on his left had just been hit. The round slammed into the front of the bomber and smashed the piloting compartment to pieces. It was an extremely lucky shot, like a one-in-a-million type thing. The shell exploded and opened the entire front of the plane, killing everyone in the front of the B-29. Secondary fires soon racked the stricken American plane, and a wall of fire rolled from front to tail.

“Sir, they nailed Conway’s plane,” yelled the gunner on the left side since the man was in direct line of sight to the stricken plane. “Stay calm, Gunner Tate,” he answered over the radio. Harry was awestruck by the bomber’s death but couldn’t show it. Besides, he was now an old hand and had seen downed planes so many times that it didn’t really matter to him anymore. “We’ll soon be clear of the ring of AA guns. Bombardier Ridgeman,” he continued over the internal radio. “Yes, sir?” “Is everything ready with the cameras and all and have you taken good shots of those gun rings?” “Yes, Captain. Everything is in order, and we are good to go; just try to keep us out of that flak gunnery.”

As if the Japanese soldiers manning the anti-aircraft cannons had heard Ridgeman, the enemy flak fire slackened to almost nothing. “Get ready for the Jap fighters now,” Harry said. It was at that moment that things went sour. The lead bomber soon announced trouble. “The fighters coming in toward us are confirmed Franks, not Zeroes,” said Flight Commander Marchand.

The Allied reporting name for the Ki-84 Hayate was "Frank," and this was not good news to the B-29 crews. These planes were the best fighters Japan had. The first bomber in the path of the Nipponese fighters was, of course, and unfortunately for Marchand, his own.

(…)

As he barrelled upward at full speed, trailing the other nine Hayates in front of him (it had taken some time for him to turn away from the airfield and pick up speed again), ace pilot Takashi Onishi watched in awe as one of the bomber’s front fuselage and entire cockpit area exploded in a fury of fire and smoke. It was soon followed by more, and the bomber was soon only burning slag thundering downward.

He then watched in expectation as the sky around the bombers erupted with tracer fire, with the American gunners trying to defend their rides. Japanese tracers also joined in as the bunch of Hayates riddled the lead bomber with cannon shells and machine gun bullets. The big, lumbering B-29 kept true to its bearing and didn’t die, only trailing smoke. The fucking things were hard to kill, that was for sure.

And then, it was time for action as his fighter entered the battle zone. He immediately banked hard left into a dodging roll to try and avoid a stream of .50 bullets zipping toward him. Having completed his maneuver, he then rolled to the other side while climbing and soon found himself in a position to fire down on the B-29 that had tried to kill him moments ago. From there, more bullets blazed by as there was also a gunner turret on top of the plane.

(…)

From Harry’s perspective, the fight wasn’t going well. Not going well at all. A Jap fighter came in head-on with a closing rate of six hundred miles per hour on the aircraft beside his, all the while dodging the streaming bullets of several American side gunners. The Japanese closed in on his target with all guns blazing.

The fuselage blew open because of the powerful cannon shell barrage, killing two of the machine gunners busy trying to kill enemy fighters. The entire left portion of the B-29’s fuselage was slashed open with a smoking gash a meter wide and almost as long as the entire length of the aircraft. It was quickly followed by a burst of red flames. Again, he figured that this killed the two pilots, the engineer, and the radio operator from the looks of where the damage was on the plane.

Out of the wide cut came airmen, smoke, and other debris as the powerful super fortress seemingly disintegrated from the inside out. Harry tried to raise the pilot to see how he was faring but without luck. The B-29 flew level for twenty seconds, then dropped banked steeply forward, losing momentum and starting to spiral left and right toward the ground.

Frank shook his head in distress. The men in that bomber were doomed. But he also had his hands full trying to get his own plane to survive. All around him, Japanese fighters attacked from different vectors, and their tracers shot right by his wings and fuselage. They were like a swarm of bees homing in for a kill. As the pilot, there wasn’t much he could do, as the speed difference between fighter and bomber was too great for him to hope to dodge. All he could do was to keep in formation with the rest of the surviving two bombers and let the gunners do their job.

“Bombardier Ridgeman, are we still taking pictures,” he said as he saw his bomber was right above the main atoll. From his vantage point, he could see a large fleet was anchored in the lagoon. “Sir, did you see the size of that fleet,” said Jackman, pointing toward a grouping of well over a hundred ships near one of the airfields. By then, they were down to 12,000 feet as they needed to be lower to take good pictures. “I see them, Lieutenant. Let’s do an overflight.” He paused, to talk over the squadron’s radio to ask Flight Commander Marchand if he could go and fly above the large fleet, but he stopped as he was about to speak because the lead plane also exploded. “Damn, that’s one hell of a bite,” exclaimed Jackman. “Haven’t encountered such well-trained pilots since the beginning of the war,” he finished.

And indeed, they hadn’t in a while. Japanese pilot training was steadily declining, and the rookies were barely able to handle themselves in a dogfight. However, the Japanese Empire did have some elite pilots remaining. And if there was one place they wanted them, it was in the South Seas, like in Truk.

With now only two bombers in the formation, time was of the essence, and Harry knew that it was time to bail out on the mission. He pushed the gas to maximum speed and sent the B-29 into a large turn. “Gunners, get ready for a hard turn to starboard. Bombardier, I need pictures of that big fleet down there.” “Yes sir,” answered all of them almost at the same time.

Once his turn was completed and his gunners had shot down three more Japanese fighters, the enemy fire slackened. He looked around to see why and then understood. The last bomber kept on the mission and flew straight north toward the other islands in the atoll. Most of the Jap fighters were buzzing around that B-29. “Captain Davenport,” he said over the squadron’s radio. “We need to abort the mission. We already have some pictures, and if we stay, we’ll get smoked.” Davenport was a newly minted B-29 commander and, as such, had less experience than Harry. He thus had not anticipated the maneuver that needed to be done and was, as a consequence, stuck on a bearing where most of the Japanese fighters were. The garbled voice of Davenport then spoke over the radio. It was hard for Harry to hear what the man was saying because of the ambient noise. Looking toward the bomber in the now far distance. He knew why. Japanese Hayate fighters were pouring shell after shell into the Superfortress. The things were tough, but not that tough. “Get your men home, Captain, and make sure the brass sees those pictures. The entire Jap fleet is down th…” and then the voice cut off as a large explosion populated the horizon. “Damn! Let’s fly home, boys,” he finally said over the internal radio.

(…)

Ace pilot Takashi Onishi landed his fighter without a fuss, as he could do the maneuver now almost with his eyes closed. He was in a good mood since he, along with the combat air patrol fighters, had destroyed four out of five enemy bombers. The Hayate rolled on the tarmac, and he finally opened his canopy. The humidity and the tropical smell hit him like a hammer, as he’d been at a high and cold altitude for a while. After a good day’s fight, it was time for his promotion.


The Green Inferno Part 3

The 3rd Marines take the airfield, January 29th, 1944

Several days following the landings, and with some dreadful fighting behind them, the brave Marines of the 3rd Marine Division were assaulting the Cape Gloucester Airfield. They faced the no-less brave men of the Japanese Imperial Army, trying to survive as best they could and to push back the Allies with inferior numbers, weapons, and without any air cover.

Both Eric Vandermain and Johnny Burgeau were sort of reunited for the assault, as the infantry had come from a different angle than the Shermans of the division. They, however, arrived at roughly the same time to face the heavily defended airfield together.

Both advanced in a drenching of rain, bullet fire, and disease-carrying mosquitoes. On the way, they walked through minefields and swamps and triggered several Japanese ambushes. They had to destroy bunkers and some well-concealed artillery. In all, the Marines of the 3rd Division paid their dues to get to their objective. As usual, casualty levels were on the heavy side but not anywhere near the Japanese ones, which closed in on an almost 100% casualty rate because none of them surrendered nor stopped fighting even when injured.

The Japanese officer in charge of defending the airfield, Colonel Ayako Tsituyi of the 33rd Infantry Battalion, defended the area until no more bullets or living Japanese soldiers could stand. The entire Japanese position contained the last line of earth and coconut log bunkers before the tarmac, and the Japs fought hard for it.

Eric and Johnny fought hard as well, losing many comrades and killing a lot of Japanese. By dusk on the 29th of January, the U.S. invading force had overrun the defenses at Cape Gloucester, and at noon on the 30th, the American flag was hoisted atop the wreckage of the airfield.

Then, the U.S. forces faced a few futile banzai charges, and by the end of that evening, the battle was truly over.

The 3rd Marine division had won Western New Britain, and now the last bit of Operation Cartwheel could begin.


Extract of Tameichi Hara's book Teikoku Kaigun no Saigo 1967

Anti-submarine operations, January 28th, 1944

A little over a week after the tanker arrived in Brunei Bay, Shigure was recalled to the port, as the big ship was filled up and ready to depart for the Home Islands. By then, two more tankers were also ready to depart, having sailed in a few days before the one we escorted. Considering the importance of the three ships for the Imperial oil production, our protection force was increased to ten destroyers and three light cruisers. The convoy commander (Admiral Tsutomu Sato) was an old hand that I had worked with before in several convoy duties during the spring of 1943.  He arrived on board the light cruiser Nagara, reorganized the escort ships the day before to flank the convoy’s side, and also moved the three oil tankers to the center of the formation, making it almost impossible for the enemy to reach them. He also arrived with several other merchant vessels, filled to the brim with rubber, steel, and other much-needed materials.

Losing ships' strategic materials would be a disaster, but not of the same magnitude as losing oil. The Imperial Navy HQ was adamant about ensuring the precious liquid reached Japan as the country was starting to go through a shortage. Naval operations were gobbling up a lot of it, and not much was left for anything else. Thus, they needed to be protected at all costs.

The ships exited the harbor in the pre-ordained way agreed upon with Sato and his staff people, and we gathered together before moving out into the open sea. We had five ships in our task force core, a grand total of ten destroyers, and three light cruisers under Admiral Sato. We sailed northward for a day without any issues apart from a few scares, and eventually got to a hundred miles off the Formosa coast.

It was at that moment that things went south for the convoy. The alarms sounded on the convoy’s starboard side and then, a moment later, on the port side as well. Shigure and the other ships went into action. My own lookouts rapidly spotted torpedo wakes heading for our convoy.

My lookouts also spotted torpedo wakes going in the tanker’s direction. I ensured everyone was at their post and the depth charges were ready to go. At the same moment, Shigure was sailing at 36 knots toward the offending submarine, or at least from what my men thought where it had fired.

A moment later, I saw a pillar of water shoot up from merchant vessels Sakitsu Maru and Natku Maru, both from Java and filled with rubber and mining ore. Looking again at the water, I held my breath for several seconds. Alarms still sounded from the other side of the convoy, but I was powerless to do anything about that part of the battle. The ships seemed damaged, but there were no apparent fires.

Three more torpedo wakes sped directly at Shigure! I clutched the handrail nervously as I ordered the helm to maneuver hard to port to dodge the enemy weapons. The trick was to sail perpendicular to the torpedoes.

The first weapon blazed fifty yards behind the stern, the second was closer as we maneuvered to dodge, and the third appeared certain to hit. A loud clang was heard, but lady luck saved us. IT hit the hull of the ship at an angle,and thus deflected away without exploding since Shigure was turning away. It left (as I would see later when my ship was back in a harbor) a horrible scar, but the hull wasn’t breached. More torpedo wakes were spotted running fifty yards or more behind the destroyer as it completed a full circle its hasty dodging maneuver. The lookout officer continued to scream the detections of torpedo wakes.

I knew that once more, several enemy subs were attacking the convoy, as there was no way one ship could fire so many torpedoes. My gut told me that it was the same group of enemy subs from the Brunei Bay attack.

I called for a reverse turn. The ship moved with agonizing sluggishness, and Shigure blazed toward the area from where the enemy ships had fired. The bastard or bastards were submerged, of course, but we were pretty intent on sinking him with our depth charges.

While my crew worked feverishly to get the enemy and sink them, I looked around anxiously to see how the rest of the convoy fared. Fortunately, no more torpedoes were in sight, and no more of our cares had been hit. I took a moment to look at my watch. Only a couple of minutes had elapsed!

And then it was finally Shigure’s turn to go on the attack. Our dodging and maneuvering put the ship in position to make a good pass at where the enemy sub had fired from. The depth charges catapulted in the air and disappeared in the foamy waves. A few seconds later, powerful explosions reverberated under us, and water spouted in the air.

A depth charge explosion is something to behold. The charge ignites, creating an elevated white circle about twenty meters in diameter. A moment after that, the water skyrockets in the air. The sound it makes is clearly an explosion but in a sort of muffled tone.

We blasted our way through the zone, and I ordered to make another pass; all the while, we spurted more depth charges in every direction as we turned to ensure we would cover the zone well. The charges were also set to explode at different depths, as we didn’t know where the enemy hunter was pertaining to the bottom of the sea.

More charges shot up in the air while other destroyers a few hundred meters to port also ran the gauntlet and tried to sink another one of the attacking subs. The whole sea foamed and bubbled in blasts and maelstrom.

A destroyer captain rarely got confirmation if they destroyed a submarine, but this time, we did. After a series of five depth charges exploding, we heard the distinct noises of three more explosions as the enemy ship broke up and exploded. The churning and exploding sea all around was white with foam, and then oil broke through the surface, followed by some floating debris, including a few bodies. It was a good day’s work, and for once, we’d chased the enemy away.

We soon received the order from Admiral Sato to get back into formation to screen the convoy. The two ships that were hit were still afloat, and we hooked them up to two of the light cruisers. The warships towed them all the way to Sasebo Harbor in Japan.

The rest of the voyage was uneventful, and for once, an escorting mission went well and beyond our expectations.


The liberation of Johnston Island

Fighting for the Fuji Part 2, January 26th, 1944

As he was about to round the corner, a burst of machine gun fire splattered the wall in front of him, making him stop dead in his tracks. The sound of the weapon reverberated across the interior like a weird echo. One of his buddies from boot camp staggered backward, appearing in his view. “Damn, Eric!” he said in desperation. He dragged him behind the wall they’d both been hiding behind. The man fell to the floor with a heavy thud. The unfortunate G.I. had rounded the corner before him, and he received a ton of bullets in the chest and face for his reward. Nathan tried to see if he was still breathing, but he wasn’t, as blood poured out of the many serious wounds on his chest and legs.

Enemy soldiers waited in the corridor that gave way to what seemed to be a large room. The Japs had put up a sturdy barricade made of broken concrete and steel pieces and sniped at everyone that tried to round the corner.

“Coming up! Coming up!” said the Marine holding a flamethrower. Nathan was struck by the heavy smell of gasoline and fuel as the man waded through the throng of men behind him and waited to turn the corner in the tunnel. “Smith, for Christ's sake, leave the dead man on the ground and move to the side so the chap can do his work,” said Douglas. “Ah, yes, Sarge,” he answered, stumbling back, giving one last look to his friend. Well, not a friend, but a good guy nonetheless, and he’d liked him.

“Sorry, Nate,” said the flamethrower, another guy he knew going by the name of Sturgeon. Nate moved backward toward Alexander Minaard, who looked as nervous as hell. “Ready when you give the signal, Sarge,” continued Sturgeon. “Light 'em up, Private,” answered Sergeant Douglas.

And then he pushed the fire button. Suddenly the entire enclosed space they were in became hot as hell, as flames shot out of the flamethrower and shot around the corner. The smell of burning fuel was now overbearing, and it was hard for Nathan to keep his eyes open. For a moment, it seemed like all the oxygen in the tunnel was sucked out, but then Sturgeon stopped firing. It was then that he heard the terrible screaming of the Japanese soldiers in the tunnel. Smoke started to billow and accumulate on the tunnel ceiling, and the Marines started coughing. “Sarge, I can’t fire more than a quick burst, or we’ll all die ourselves,” said the flamethrower. “That’s good enough, Private, I think you got the bastards from their yelling and screaming,” started Douglas. “Smith, Minaard, get around the corner and charge them, and the rest of the men follow.” Nathan picked up his Garand rifle and turned the corner. “Yes, Sarge.” As he made his way into the tunnel, he half ran, half walked, as it was difficult to wade through the by-now heavy dark smoke

He stepped over a few more dead American soldiers who had been shot moments before Eric was killed. He fired a few shots just for good measure, just in case there was still a sharp Jap on the barricade. But the only thing he saw was gesticulating fireballs. The bullets ricocheted on the rocky walls, showering the area with sparks and dust. Arriving at the barricade, he fired at a point-blank distance on the by-now burning-to-a-crisp enemy soldiers, putting them out of their misery. He coughed heavily; the air was choke-full of smoke. “All clear!” He stepped over the makeshift barricade, careful not to step on the burning Japs, and moved cautiously forward. The tunnel was going downward in a gentle slope, and he could see some light ahead.

He heard running footsteps further down and, in an instant, decided to follow. "Quick, boys!" he said, gesturing with his arm. Their group eventually arrived at the end of the enemy tunnel that gave way to a large room that was half-filled with water. He spotted the two surviving Japanese soldiers trying to get away into another tunnel (they were almost waist-deep at that point). He was able to slam a bullet between the shoulders of one of them, and the other one dove into the murky, salty water. He walked into the water, stopping when he was at knee depth, while other Marines behind him streamed inside.

The room they were now in was a broken piece of mangled stone and steel pipes. “The entire structure will soon be flooded,” said Douglas with a sneer. “The bastards had fled deeper and at the lower levels, but we ain't following, trust me,” he continued. Looking around, Nate agreed with Sergeant Douglas. The place was leaking badly, and it seemed that the shore bombardment had done its job after all. He was also certain that the Sarge would report as much to the brass and tell them they just needed to be patient with this hole. It would eventually fill up and drown the Nippon soldiers.

The crusty NCO soon gave the signal for the group to climb back up the way they came, and twenty minutes later, they were out. He then detailed ten guys to monitor the exit and wait for the enemy to show up. Another half hour later, they did, and all the Japanese Imperials trying to spring out of the hole were killed.


CHAPTER 3


Strategic Meeting in Tarawa Part 1

American and Allied commanders meet on Tarawa, February 2nd, 1944

“Douglas,” said Admiral Raymond Spruance to General MacArthur, pointing through the PBY Catalina Window at the lunar landscape, do you see the destruction on that tiny island?” “Wow,” the old and willy Army commander whistled softly. “Well, I hope the Japs have had enough of a party here.”

What they saw below was nothing short of spectacular in its own macabre and fascinating way. What they saw was a small island scarred by war. The entire surface of the place was pockmarked as if one was looking at the moon. Ship wreckage, hollowed-out tanks, and a few sunken destroyers could be seen as if a ring of steel had been placed around Tarawa.

The PBY Catalina circled a couple of times above Betio Island in the Tarawa Atoll. Aboard the plane (it was built with a 14-passenger configuration and was normally used to haul important persons across the Pacific,) it was used to move the leaders of the SPWA and the South Seas to Tarawa. The objective was to meet with the leaders responsible for the Central Pacific Campaign, either coming from Hawaii, Johnston Island or already in and around the destroyed atoll. Aboard were also Admiral Cunningham, Spruance’s counterpart, as well as the Australian commander on the ground (and MacArthur’s counterpart), General Sir Thomas Blamey.

They all moved to the window to watch the same things as the first two, and most were appalled at what they saw. “This place has seen some very heavy fighting,” added Blamey.” As they circled, they finally caught a glimpse of a large fleet anchored not far from Betio and into the atoll.

It was Task Force 53, under the command of Rear Admiral Harry W. Hill, the overall commander of the invasion and subsequent capture of the Tarawa Atoll. The PBY thundered above the two small escort carriers, Kitkun Bay and Tulagi, and started to make its descent toward the Maryland, the flagship, resting right beside America’s only battlecruiser, the Alaska. About twenty more ships hovered in and around the atoll, plus many transport ships seemed either to embark men or disgorge more with materials.

The reason they had come to Tarawa was because Admiral King and General Marshall, both commanders of the Navy and Army, respectively, had wanted it so, and all the men going to that meeting agreed.

It was now time to launch the all-out offensive against Japan. The Nipponese forces were on the backfoot everywhere, and things needed to be coordinated for the killing stroke. It was not obvious where the main effort should be made. MacArthur wanted everything for his Rabaul-Carolines-Philippines drive, while Admiral Nimitz wanted to drive the sword home from the Marshalls and Johnston Island directly toward Midway and reach the Philippines through there.

A PBY had been chosen because the island’s airfield, the very reason why they landed on Betio in the first place, remained damaged. The island was secure for the most part, but some Japanese holdouts still fought on, and no one wanted to risk the top Allied commanders being hurt.

Both King and Marshall had called the men to Tarawa after seeing the terrible destruction on the place, and also because of the very high casualties: well over 3,000 for such a small island. They wanted to convey to their commanders the price the Allies would have to pay to root out the Japs across the Pacific.

While both men would not be present, they had ordered both sides of the incoming and burgeoning Pacific offensive to meet. Along with the SPWA people, the recent victorious men of the liberation of Hawaii, Admiral Kinkaid and Marc Mitscher (plus their commander, Admiral Chester Nimitz) would be in attendance. Having a shorter distance to travel, they arrived several hours before; Thus, their own PBY was already floating right beside the anchored Maryland.

The big plane transporting the SPWA leaders straightened up in a long line toward the two battlewagons and eventually gently touched the water, nicely settling into one of the softest landings an old General like MacArthur had seen. “This pilot is pretty good, gents. And trust me, I’ve seen my share of Catalina landings in the last few months.” A few of the men around him gave approving nods. In addition to the four leaders, ten more officers had made the voyage. They were the staff people who would make things happen once their boss had made the important decisions.

With some waves still splashing on the sides of both dreadnoughts, a motorboat sailed to the PBY. The generals and admirals were transferred on board and brought to Maryland’s main deck, where a big reception committee awaited them, along with the previously arrived Central Pacific leaders.


A new fleet arrives

Japanese-occupied Singapore, February 2nd, 1944

The sun reflected brightly in the glorious morning, and the ships in the harbor gave welcome signals to the war fleet arriving. Admiral Hata, walking on the deck of the light carrier Chiyoda, his flagship (already inside the harbor), gazed proudly at his reinforcements. “Finally,” he started, replacing his cap to block the bright sun rays. “Some tools for my trade.”

A large Japanese fleet slid into Singapore Harbor early in the morning, almost at the same time as the Allied leaders were meeting in Tarawa. Such a fleet had not been seen for a while in the area because the Japanese had not thought they needed it.

Admiral Kondo, the commander of the task force in Southeast Asia, had moved his ships to the Andaman Islands in 1942 to chase the British away in the Bay of Bengal. But since then, a lot happened. First, Kondo was dead, and most of his ships sunk, and then the Allies inflicted a severe defeat on the Imperial Army forces in Burma.

So severe had been the twin trashing of fleet and army that the Japanese Empire now faced terrible consequences. The Anglo-Indo-Chinese forces were at the gates of Malaya, advancing into Thailand toward Indochina, and also advancing on Sumatra after a successful landing in the west of the island.

Furthermore, the powerful fleet of Admiral Somerville, the very commander who killed Kondo and his fleet, roamed free in the Strait of Malacca and regularly raided Singapore and the oil installations all along the Sumatran coastline.

The Dutch East Indies and the Malay Peninsula, along with Indochina, represented the bulk of the captured resources the Japanese Home Islands needed to continue to prosecute the war. There lay the steel, manganese, rubber, the all-important oil, and many other things. Without this area (now seriously threatened), there could be no more war for Japan.

It was thus normal for the Imperial Navy and the Imperial Army to have, for once, a complete agreement on what must be done: The fleet that arrived on that day was powerful with warships and carriers, but also laden with supplies and fresh troops.

In all, the fleet was bringing four fresh units from the Kwantung Army and had left four more at Saigon to help with the defense of Thailand and Indochina.
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The fleet itself was powerful, with a light carrier (Chiyoda) and two escort carriers (Akitsu Maru and Nigitsu Maru). To fight the World War One British dreadnoughts in Somerville’s fleet, the Nagato was along for the voyage with heavy cruiser Tone and seven other ships.

Admiral Hata, already in command of all naval forces in Southeast Asia, now had the tools to fight the British fleet roaming the strait on equal terms. Added to his air strength, which both the Army and Navy also agreed to beef up, the Japanese high command (Dai Honei) hoped to turn the tide, or, at the very least, stop the Allies cold and save the all-important area for the Empire.

The final confrontation between the Allies and the Japanese was approaching.


Strategic Meeting in Tarawa Part 2

American and Allied commanders meet on Tarawa (on battleship Maryland), February 2nd

As 1944 dawned, the Allies controlled much of the South Seas. While the Japanese still controlled large islands like Santa Isabel in the Solomons, they were cut off from any hopes of supply from Rabaul. With the conquest of Tarawa, the American forces were also advancing in the Central Pacific. Relentless attacks by ships and aircraft had destroyed most of the Japanese air base and port capabilities in the area.

The Pacific War Allied theater commands were “divided” into two territories – the Pacific Islands (the Gilberts, the Marshalls, Samoa, Midway, Wake, Saipan, and others), which were Nimitz’s “turf” and the Southwest Pacific (Australia, New Guinea, and the Philippines) which fell to Douglas “I Shall Return” MacArthur.

Nimitz wanted to attack the Japanese directly on the Home Islands and bomb them to oblivion. To do this, Americans needed airfields to base their bombers and slam the Japanese factories and cities with bombs. Thus, the Admiral pushed for a drive through the center to conquer the Marianas and other islands closer to Japan.

MacArthur saw things differently. First of all, he had a promise to fulfill to come back to the Philippines and liberate them. But his detractors, saying he only wanted to do this because of his pride, were mistaken. The conquest of the Philippines would also cut the links of the Home Islands to the southern territories, cutting off all supplies for the troops and also blocking the Japanese merchant marine from bringing the resources to the factories. With the Philippines, the Allies could thus starve the enemy into submission.

Both wannabe directions were good ones against Japan, but it remained to be seen what, when, and how much energy would be spent on both. As it happened, the United States had enough forces to prosecute the two offensives at the same time anyway.

While both strategies butted heads and competed for resources, men, and ships, it was impractical, if not impossible, to have all of the U.S. forces involved in the Pacific War under one Allied command. The immense distances, limited transport and communications available made it impossible to contemplate for the American high command.

As a consequence, meetings such as the one being held that day in the Admiral of the Fleet cabin on the Maryland were necessary. The ship was a fitting spot for a high-level strategic meeting. Maryland had been fighting the Pacific War since the very start, and it was a fitting spot for the discussions, with its high symbolism of American might and willpower. Also, it was equipped to serve as Fleet flagship (with a large admiral od the fleet cabin in addition to the one for the ship’s captain), the battleship was thus the logical place to hold the meeting offshore Tarawa.

The Admiral of the Fleet cabin was as spacious as possible, with large sleep accommodations. Also, most importantly for the discussions that day, one of the biggest conference rooms in the entire U.S. Navy. The floor was covered in a nice royal blue carpet, with paintings on the walls and some scaled-down representations of different U.S. warships over time.

Around the table sat the proponents of both strategies. On the left sat General Douglas MacArthur, the overall commander of the SPWA headquarters, flanked by Australian General Blamey, British Admiral Cunningham, and Raymond Spruance. On the other side was Admiral Nimitz, who ranked the same as MacArthur, flanked by Admiral Kinkaid and Admiral Mitscher. There was no palpable animosity between the two groups, just a disagreement over the course to follow to achieve the final victory over Imperial Japan.

Following twenty minutes of small talk, both sides sat down for the real discussion of the day and the reason for their presence that day on the battleship. It was only three hours after the SPWA group’s arrival; thus, Spruance, Cunningham, and Blamey had long, tired faces. The reason for the rushed meeting was that General MacArthur asked it so. The forces under his command were about to land in three different places, and he wanted to be at the helm driving the show when the attacks were launched. Only MacArthur seemed unfazed, as his energy was prodigious. His subordinates would just have to survive on coffee to stay awake. At least there was no short supply of it arrayed on the table in front of the Allied leaders.

Nimitz spoke first. “As discussed before, General MacArthur, the key objective in my island-hopping campaign is to secure airfields for long-range bombing attacks on the Japanese homeland. Only with this can we bring the Japanese to their knees. Saipan and Tinian would be the key islands we would need for this. Then probably Iwo Jima, to provide the halfway point where our escort fighters could be based to protect our bombers as well as a fallback option for bombers damaged during attacks on Japan.” MacArthur stayed silent, listening to his counterpart. “Furthermore, this explains why we want to drive through the Marshalls, the eastern Caroline Islands, then the Marianas, and ultimately, the outlying islands around Japan.”

The famous army General then spoke. “What of the promise I made to liberate the Philippines,” he asked without any pretense of the people around the room thinking he was not asking because of his pride.

Nimitz stood up and walked right by the large Pacific situational map pinned on the wall. “Looking at the map, one wonders whether invading the Philippines and basing bombers out there should have been given serious consideration,” he paused to add: “Well, setting aside your “I Shall Return” promise, Douglas.”

MacArthur was too brilliant a strategist to lose an argument by being trapped into answering stupidly. Instead, he chose a logical avenue. “Admittedly, invading the Philippines to establish bases for bombing Japan is a marginal proposition. The bomber’s range (4,000 miles round trip, or 2,000 miles each way) is over maximum if based out of Manila or the former Clark Airbase in Pampanga. It is, after all, 1,863 miles from Manila to Japan. Of course, Saipan/Tinian (1,467 miles to Japan), Guam (1,566 miles to Japan), or even Formosa (Taiwan, 1,380 miles to Japan) would be better options in terms of range and distances.” He paused, smiling. “Thus, I agree with you that the liberation of the Philippines is not optimal for bombing the Japs to submission.”

Nimitz smiled, having an idea of what MacArthur would say next. “Then, General, what are we arguing about?” “Well, Admiral,” answered MacArthur calmly. “Your campaign and the establishment of airbases in the Marianas and Formosa without invading the Philippines could prove a serious problem since Japanese forces based there could pose a major threat to U.S. bombers based on the islands and Formosa. After all, it is only 763 miles from Manila to Taiwan.” The proponents of the Central Pacific strategy shifted uncomfortably in their seats.

He then sat up and moved right by Nimitz and the map. “Let's look at the problem from another perspective, gentlemen. Consider the map here and look at where the Philippines are positioned relative to Indonesia and Southeast Asia. We can bomb the factories to dust all right, incurring losses in planes and taking a lot of time conquering the islands you propose, Admiral. But if we liberate the Philippines, we cut the jugular and block the Japanese from being able to bring the resources to Japan. Thus no need to destroy the factories or the cities. They just won’t have anything to work with.”

A full two hours later and much argument on the merits of one strategy over the other, the discussions were still at the very beginning and not going forward in any positive way. Both for Nimitz and MacArthur, it was time to compromise, as both men knew before they arrived in Tarawa they would need to.

“All good points, General,” countered Nimitz. “But our two respective bosses, Marshall and King, have ordered us to agree on a coordinated strategy.” MacArthur nodded in agreement. “I know, Admiral. We must find a common ground.”

The meeting between the two continued for some time, without any major compromise from either side. The men adjourned the meeting without agreeing apart from carrying on with their own plans. It was just as well and also something the U.S. could support by sending a little more resources to the Pacific. While the war was taking a heavy toll in Europe, President Roosevelt approved, a week later, to support both prongs of the offensive on the Japanese.


Extract from General Macarthur’s book, Reminiscences, 1964

On strategic direction taken

Many an armchair general have commented on the strategic direction we agreed upon at the Tarawa Conference in February 1944. I have been criticized for wanting to liberate the Philippines and accused of wanting to satisfy my ego.

Granted, I can accept the comments as potentially viable, but only superficially. There were good reasons to go back to the Philippines, and yes, the promise I made to the Filipino people was important, as much for my pride, as some have said, as to American reputation and postwar positioning. Morally, we needed to go back. Strategically, it made sense to move in and cut the Japanese Empire in two.

Our President would soon have to choose between the two strategies presented for the future of the Pacific War. My plan was to use the Allied forces in the Pacific to retake the Philippines and then strike Japan from there. Nimitz wanted to bypass the Philippines and instead take Formosa. It would then be used as a base of operations to bomb and isolate Japan.

While the Admiral’s point and argument strategically made sense if you looked northward at Japan, it did not if you wanted to make sure your rear was covered. Japan entertained millions of soldiers south of Formosa, plus planes, ships, and the like. They would surely come calling in the event the island was invaded. There was just no way the enemy would leave its forces in the Philippines if Taiwan was attacked and conquered by the Allies. I believe to this day that by executing this strategy, we would have had to invade the Philippines anyway, and the casualties would have been even more important than what they ended up being.

The attack on the Philippines was forecast to be costly, yes. But once it was successful, it would destroy what the Japanese military forces had left south of Japan. Only by bringing all the Japanese naval, ground, and air force to the battle could we break them. The follow-up was a simple matter of execution, as either starving out the Home Islands or bombing the Japanese to submission.

As it happened, I ended up being the more convincing of the two, and Roosevelt chose my plan. Allied forces in the Pacific geared their strategy towards taking the Philippines, and the rest of the Pacific War was decided. It was not that Nimitz was completely blocked from doing his Pacific Island offensive; it was that the final objective was to be first the Philippines, and then we would move on to islands north of there to get closer to the Nipponese homeland.

There was no ill-will between me and Nimitz, no animosity. The two of us always agreed to put the interest of the country and the Allied cause before our petty interests and pride. The only reason we argued was because we strongly believed our plan was the best one.


Noumea, New Caledonia

February 7th to 11th, 1944, 1944

The titanic fight between the USA and the Japanese Empire spanned the Pacific as a whole. After the twin American victories with the reconquest of the Hawaiian Islands and Johnston Island battle, Japan switched to the defensive permanently, without any pretense of launching major offensives anymore. Admiral Yamamoto still had a pretty sizeable fleet at his disposal, even if he'd lost several of the country's fleet carriers. The main problem was that the U.S. fleet had grown so much in size that Japan could no longer win a head-to-head fight, as had been amply demonstrated by the battle of Kauai in the late fall or early winter of 1943. A month and a half to two months later, it was even less of a contest, Japan having received nothing significant in terms of carriers while the USA had received no less than 50 ships, with at least ten capital ships, including carriers.

After the brief fight in the Marshall Islands, where the Japanese had again won a tactical victory, the Imperial Fleet still had retired to the Carolines, leaving the area to the numerous Allied ships. In January 1944, the Americans had landed just south of the Marshalls in the Gilbert Islands. The attack on Tarawa Atoll was made in force on most of the island. The atoll fell at the end of June, within days of the attack, in one hell of a bloody fight that saw the U.S. Marines kill almost every enemy soldier on the island since they would simply not surrender.

With the Gilberts’ fall, a significant dent had been created in the imagined Japanese defensive perimeter. The Marshalls and everything further east, already out of supply from Japan, were in danger of falling to the Allies, which reached far with their ships, planes, and submarines.

Ever since the loss of Oahu in 1943, Admiral Yamamoto had seen the writing on the wall and had correctly guessed that the American industrial giant would continue to out-produce his country to such an extent that there was no hope for a military victory. Thus, he'd given the orders to start fortifying the major islands in the southwest, the Philippines, Borneo, and the Celebes.

The central base for the whole Pacific Southwest theater was located on the island of Truk, in the middle of the Caroline Islands. Apart from the Kure Naval base near Tokyo, it was the most significant base that the Japanese sported. Ever since 1943, five major airfields had been built around it, and many naval cannons had been added for its defense. To cap it all, a sizeable portion of the Imperial Fleet was operating from that area in February 1944.

The Allies had recently won the battle for the Coral Sea and the Solomons Island, taking over several airfields and small ports the Japanese had built during their 1942 drive down the chain of islands in the South Seas.

New Caledonia and the New Hebrides formed the last leg of this long, now severed, chain of Japanese island conquests. While it was now isolated like most of the islands south of Rabaul in the South Seas, it still lay in the path of important sea lanes for the Allies and needed to be retaken.

Admiral Nimitz (in accordance with General MacArthur) had thus ordered Admiral Spruance to send a task force to retake the island before the final assault on New Britain. The island’s liberation was critical to re-opening an easily workable link with Australia and New Zealand, which had been fighting pretty much on their own since 1942 and could only be supplied through the long and arduous “Milk Run” circumventing the Japanese-occupied islands that included New Caledonia.

Not that the Noumea battle would be much of a contest. Sure, the Japanese had many planes to defend the island, but no ships had been reported by the recon planes and the intelligence service. The number of reported planes that were operational was also unknown. The Imperial Navy was nowhere to be seen and would not intervene.

Spruance had at his disposal a mighty fleet that harbored a full Army infantry division, one Canadian division, and one Australian that had transferred back on ships from North Africa to the South Pacific.

Seeing the planes taking off in succession from his vantage point on the bridge of the main fleet carrier Essex, Admiral Spruance hoped that the first strike would demolish Japanese airpower on the island. He also planned to hit the Imperials with his big gun battleships and pound their defenses to oblivion.

Then, the next day, the troops would land. The admiral was a bit worried about enemy strength, but he had no doubt the Allies would utterly destroy all Japanese resistance within three days and reclaim the island for the forces of liberty. The Americans were simply too strong in the area, and the Japs too far away to do anything significant about it. Besides, Yamamoto had decided to leave the island to its fate since it couldn’t be supplied without significant risk to his precious fleet.

On the enemy's side, General Kodeo Sakai, a seventh-generation Samurai warrior proud of a historical family tradition of war, commanded over a hodgepodge of units, adding up in strength to two Infantry Divisions. He commanded, and they were ordered to resist to the last man. He had no hope of being relieved as the Japanese forces were long gone from the Solomon Islands, his only lifeline by plane. The Navy was also in no position to come to his aid.

Since the writing had been on the wall for some time as the battle in the Solomons turned for the worst, Sakai decided that building defenses in the thick jungles was his men’s only chance against the superior firepower of the incoming Allied forces. He thus built bunkers, blockhaus, trenches, and tunnels and concealed his forces to await the enemy’s arrival.

The American Admiral first arrived with his fleet, smashing the hell out of the Japanese defensive installations. After a full day of relentless aerial and shore bombardment, nothing was left standing near the beaches.

The next morning, the Allied troops embarked upon their LCIs and LCTs to race toward the northern side of Noumea. By the very end of the first day, the Allies were in control of Noumea and were exchanging fire with the Japanese rearguard units retreating into the thick foliage of the interior.

Four days into the assault, and with Noumea, its harbor, and all the island’s airfield captured, the final fight for the island began. Sakai’s options became limited, and he decided to keep only two of them. First, hunker down in the prepared caves and bunkers in an area of about two miles in radius, and second, to sell New Caledonia’s conquest at the highest possible price for the Allies.  

On the fifth day, the island was secured, and only the center of the jungle remained in Japanese hands, removing any capabilities for the Nipponese to do anything about the Allies starting to use the harbor and the airfield again.

The mopping up began in New Caledonia, and it would take a long time. For nearly two months, the two Allied divisions, helped by several engineer and flamethrower units (landed to help with cave-clearing), got busy with doing it.

This prolonged siege operation was carried on with determination as the rest of the Pacific War continued to rage around the island. For all intents and purposes, New Caledonia was in Allied hands, and by the beginning of April 1944, the entire island was declared free of any Japanese soldiers.

The direct route to Australia was almost opened again. There remained only three Japanese holdouts, the New Hebrides (lightly defended), the Fijis (lightly defended), and Samoa, the final prize and where the Imperial Army had made sure they could make their stand and get the Yankees to pay a dear price to get it back.


Truk Atoll

February 11th, 1944, 1944

Admiral Yamamoto stared intently at the last laconic and desperate report from the Noumea defense force. Three days. They'd lasted only three days after the landings. Even if they, according to the report, fought to the last man. The Americans had just been too strong. Powerful air strikes by hundreds upon hundreds of American bombers and carrier-based aircraft had started with shattering the defenses and the airfields for two straight days to nicely soften the area for the coming of Admiral Spruance's fleet.

Then, the carriers' airstrikes hit the defenders themselves, to be followed by an intense shore bombardment. When all of that was said and done, the troops had landed. By then, the Imperial Army was only able to offer token resistance to the invaders. It was already weakened by weeks upon weeks of chronic supply and food shortages and could not fight properly when the time came.

A scene that was almost a repeat of the Oahu campaign. Bombing, bombing, then more bombing, then attack by the battleships, then the carrier planes, then the troops. Yamamoto did not see how this formula could be defeated on any of the fortified islands that Japan held at the moment. The only way any area could be defended was with enough planes, ships, and anti-aircraft guns. Something he didn’t have.

Laying back on his chair in the large room that was his H.Q. on the battleship Yamato, he seemingly looked at empty air, thinking. The cabin was lavishly decorated, as befit the Grand Admiral of the Fleet. The pictures on the walls were of some of the Navy's battleships. There was also a picture of Admiral Togo, the grand national hero, victor of Tsushima's battle, the naval victory over the Russian Imperial fleet in 1905.

His thinking always came back to the same conclusion. Japan would be destroyed, island by island, if the Americans willed it so. It would be overwhelmed in every battle it would fight, and the death would be slow but certain. Death by a thousand cuts thought Yamamoto sourly. For a moment, he wondered if the Americans knew of the Chinese torture technique and decided that they probably did because of the strategy they were expertly implementing.

He'd been thinking about a plan lately, and the report from Noumea solidified the idea in his mind. The whole southwest position could not be defended piecemeal. By the Emperor, it could not be guarded island by island. The Allied material and numerical superiority would overwhelm them at every turn.

Unless he did something bold, something audacious. The concept was now slowly taking shape in his thinking. There was a chance for a defensive victory. One battle so big that he could make the Americans bleed enough for them to check their advance. That was a plan that did not include any retreat or force-preservation thoughts like he had been doing for the last few years. It was bold in the sense that the enemy would hold all the cards in terms of air, naval, and ground superiority.

It would involve the very heart of the whole Imperial Navy, and its commitment would be until death – or victory. The planes, scattered all around the South Seas, could be concentrated in one area. The army would also focus its troops and flak assets in one location. Planes from the Philippines, Japan, and Borneo. Every boat that could float would also be committed.

He suddenly stood up from his chair in enthusiasm, walking over to the large map of the southwest theater that was pinned on his cabin's walls. What remained to be planned and decided was where he would choose to make his final stand. He would await the Americans here in Truk or else attack them in New Britain.

There were enough atolls and islands here in the Carolines to effectively house the planes he planned to bring forth for the ultimate battle. The base's large lagoon already harbored the fleet entirely, and its extensive oil facilities had enough supplies for it all.

Yes, the Truk Atoll and or the South Seas would be the stage for the Pacific War's last battle, and either be the Japanese Imperial Navy's graveyard or the location of its greatest victory.

He stood up and walked to his cabin’s entrance, finding his normal detailed guard watching his hatch. “Please get me, Admiral Ukagi.” “Yes, Grand Admiral,” answered the sailor with a respectful bow before leaving to fulfill his orders.


Malay Peninsula

Frontline, 18th Division, February 7th, 1944

Private soldier Ishiro Tanaka pushed hard into the man’s chest, his bayonet making a weird crunching noise as it grated on the bones of the thoracic cage. The soldier on the ground exhaled in panic and tried to yell, but only blood exited from his mouth. The 18th Imperial Division’s veteran twisted his gun, and the Chinese man died in a spasm.

He leveled his head again at the battlefield. Several bullets zipped by, and he could see several crisscrossing everywhere. A few powerful explosions peppered the enemy line of retreating soldiers. The 18th was supported by a full brigade of recently arrived Type 97 Chi-Ha medium tanks. While the things had proven flimsy against the Soviets in the Battles of Khalkhin Gol in 1939 and against American Shermans and Grants, it was doing wonders fighting the softer Chinese Nationalist troops who had none. The tank was the most widely produced by Japan and the high command had decided to send a couple of brigades to the Malay Peninsula to try and stem the enemy tide.

The main gun, used mainly to support soldiers and not to fight othe tanks, was not the best when Allied armor was arond. Nonetheless, and since the enemy didn’t have tanks everywhere, Tanaka had to admit they were useful. He marveled as he watched the magnificent machines of war roll over the Chinese defenses across the rice fields just east of Pekin.

Tanaka was currently fighting somewhere near the border between Siam and the Malay Peninsula. He wasn’t certain where they were and even his dear Yakuza Captain Hayabashi didn’t know exactly as well. The only thing they knew was that they had marched through the northern city of Singora a couple days before on the coast, and that was about it. The 18th Imperial Division was tasked with pursuing the 8th Nationalist Chinese Army as it retreated. The Imperial Army had recently received several new units and was on the attack. Not everywhere but concentrating on the weaker Chinese forces while defending against the better-equipped British and Indian units.

Singora was a large railway town and a very important economic center for the area. It was also the rail hub for the track going into Thailand. It was thus essential that the Japanese Army kept control of it, and it explained why it was attacking instead of defending. Tanaka and his comrades had been engaged in a fight to the death with the Nationalists for over a week, and things didn’t look like they would slow down for a while.

The enemy was out of position and less mobile than the Japanese forces pursuing them, so they got attacked and encircled. Every day, the Imperial forces captured thousands of the bastards, and Ishiro was quite happy with the results. It wasn’t going to land in the grand scheme of things, as the British and Indian forces to the south were bound to intervene at some point. But for men like Tanaka and Hayabashi, there was nothing like the present, at that moment, they were winning and not having to risk themselves too much to enemy fire, which was just fine with them.

Ichiro put his left boot on the dead soldier’s cheek and pried his bayonet out of the lifeless body. After a quick customary pocket search where he found nothing of value, he spat on the dead man in frustration. His blood was up, and he started running forward to find another injured enemy. The unit was advancing on a jungle road, Type 89 tanks in front smashing the flimsy Chinese defenses trying to block it. Tanaka was thus making sure he was not in the lead and not too obviously trying to dodge battle. He’d developed the move to an artform over the years. Captain Hayabashi was nowhere to be seen, as he was integrated into the command structure in the back of the front.

As always, Ishiro was a survivor, so he took great care not to be at the forefront when possible. Another great trick he’d learned from an old 18th Division soldier who had taken him under his wing in 1937. After all, the I-Go medium tanks were doing a great job clearing a path, and the more eager Japanese soldiers (the young recruits and stupid officers, mostly) were in the front doing the real fighting – and dying.

He was about fifty meters from the forward-most battle, where the real action happened. No damned officer was close to ordering him to advance, so he loitered around and looked for injured Chinese. He also watched for stray enemy fire as bullets flew everywhere.

As right as rain, he found another man crawling on the ground. The Chinese was crying softly while trying to rejoin his lines. It was obvious the poor sod was in a state of shock and gravely injured. He had both of his legs shredded by an explosion. He would die anyway, but Ishiro wasn’t fooled. The way he saw it, the bastard could still use a weapon and kill one of his comrades or even him. He didn’t hesitate and thrust his bayonet hard at the man’s back, which arched in a spasm. The merciless Japanese soldier turned his weapon to destroy the man’s insides, and that was when the Chinese stopped moving.

The battle facing him increased in intensity as several explosions blossomed across the frontline in a magnificent firework-like show—another British airstrike into their ranks. Tanaka, happy he was nowhere near the impact area, wondered how much time he still had before an officer put an end to his fun. He decided he didn’t care. He would kill Chinese bastards for as long as he could. Then he hoped for some time in a city or a village, for some women surely survived the war to date, and that would come in handy for his needs.


5th Imperial Navy Fleet

February 11th, 1944
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“Sir,” said the staff officer to Admiral Hata, standing still looking out the viewport window of battleship Nagato. “Yes, ensign?” The young man bowed to his commander before speaking some more. “The search planes you have ordered have detected the presence of an enemy raider near Pangkalan Brandan and of large smoke columns rising in the sky coming from the direction of the former Royal Dutch Shell oil refineries.”

Hata turned to look at the officer with a strained face. “I see,” he first said. The oil facilities that Japan had taken from the Dutch East Indies in 1942 were critical to the war effort, and damage to them, however superficial or critical, was a disaster. The entirety of the Japanese military was starving for more oil. The need 1f the Japanese military was already outpacing the production in the wells and the Home Island’s capability to refine it.

The Islands of Sumatra was a very important oil production area before the war and since the Japanese conquered it, it became a critical component of their empire and its ambition to control the Pacific theater. Without that oil, Japan was doomed to defeat and utter misery. The island and its oil-producing centers could simply not be lost and needed to be protected against enemy air and naval raids.

“Helm, turn about and head to the coordinates from the search planes. Communication, let the fleet know of the new heading. Also, contact Singapore Airfield and the Bolekbatung airfield to try and intercept the enemy ship before we do.” The officers and men on the bridge all acknowledged the orders one by one, and the Japanese fleet soon turned about on a south-southeast heading toward Sumatra.

The Japanese 5th Fleet was on the hunt as it had sailed out of Singapore to try and show the Allies that they couldn’t send ships into the Dutch East Indies and attack Japanese possessions anymore. While British Admiral Somerville stayed safely near the Andaman Islands and kept a wary eye for Japanese planes, he did send raiders on a regular basis to attack the oil facilities on Sumatra and disrupt the Japanese occupation in general.

One such raider was the British heavy cruiser Hawkins, which had just smashed the Pangkalan Brandan refineries with its big guns. The British vessel’s raid had gone smoothly and achieved its objectives beyond Admiral Somerville’s initial hopes. The British commander still thought himself master of the seas and had not heard nor knew of the newly arrived Japanese units in Singapore. His spies would soon tell him, but for Hawkins, the news would arrive a little late.

After it raided the refinery, the Captain of the ship ordered a turn about north to get back into the Strait of Malacca with the intent of returning to the Andaman Islands to refuel. By doing this, unfortunately, it put the old cruiser directly in the path of the 5th Fleet and its powerful bad boy, the former flagship of the Imperial Combined Fleet, the Nagato.

The Japanese battleship Nagato was launched at the beginning of 1920. It was one of the most powerful ships in the entire Imperial Navy (second only to Yamato and Musashi), equipped with eight 16.1-inch guns and superbly armored. There was a reason why Grand Admiral Yamamoto had sent the ship while fully aware the British had more than one battleship in the theater. Nagato could handle itself in a scrap and had proved it numerous times since the start of the war.

To put it mildly, it was more than a match for Hawkins with its armor made to fight other battleships and its guns that could obliterate the best Allied armor. The British ship, without radar like many British units of the time, thus sailed right up Nagato’s alley. By the time the British Captain, Sir Nelson Pickard, realized his blunder, it was too late. The first straddling salvo had already been fired by the powerful Nipponese battleship. Towering geysers of water erupted around the heavy cruiser, and the Captain ordered the vessel to make a hard turn to the southeast.  “Our only hope is to outrun the big bastard,” said the man as his ship rolled hard to port during its turn. “Fire the main guns anyway!”  And the Hawkins’ guns boomed, missing the Nagato by several hundred meters.

The running naval battle went on for several more minutes without significant hits from both sides, and Hawkins was able to increase the distance between it and the Nagato, a slower, if more powerful, vessel.

As the fight progressed, a large storm started, the heavy clouds above finally disgorging their drenching load of water. The rain pouring down on the battleship and on the heavy cruiser got so heavy after not even a minute that it even muffled the sounds of battle, which were indeed quite loud. The booming noise of Nagato’s guns firing was something to behold, but even they were overwhelmed by the water raining down like a waterfall on the ship. Admiral Hata clenched his two fists on the bridge of his superb ship, worried he would let the enemy raider slip away.

For a few more minutes, Pickard also thought he would be able to sail away into the storm and avoid any major hit by Nagato, but it was not to be. The Japanese dreadnought gunners finally connected with one of their big 16-inch shells.

The blast slammed hard into Hawkins’ starboard side, and a large ball of rolling fire catapulted into the sky. Horizontal smoke and debris columns lanced out from the sides of the stricken ship.

For a long moment, the sailors who survived the horrible blast tried to regain their senses, but it was only fast enough to witness the about-to-hit next salvo, completely gutting the Hawkins. Six of the large shells impacted the heavy cruiser, igniting one final cataclysmic explosion.

And then, it was over. Once the billowing and swirling clouds of dark smoke dissipated in the wind and rain, the only things left on the surface were debris of the once-proud ship.


USS Cisco

Off the coast of Taan, Hainan, February 7th, 1944

A sleek metallic shape surfaced in the middle of the night off the coast of the island of Hainan in Japanese-occupied China. USS Cisco was on the prowl looking for new targets, and Captain Jim Cloutier was ready to put his money on this place since it was, according to Navy intelligence, a very busy naval transit area.

Hainan Island lay midway between the occupied territories of French Indochina and British Hong Kong. As part of its war on China, Japan occupied the large island in the 1930s, and the Imperial Navy quickly seized the opportunity to build naval and air bases on the island for further operations south against Indochina and the Dutch East Indies in the eventuality of war with the Allies.

When the Second World War broke out, and the Japanese Army occupied Indochina, the Dutch East Indies, Hong Kong, and other resource-rich areas, Hainan Island increased in importance because it was a nice halfway point between Singapore and Hong Kong or Formosa. Hainan was thus part of the Japanese convoy system, and from there, they patrolled the skies to try and find the pesky American submarines attacking their shipping.

Submarine Captain Jim Cloutier had decided to sail his boat west following his operation in Brunei Harbor. The concept was simple for him and for all of the submariners infesting Japanese waters: never stay in the same spot to avoid getting destroyed. After sinking the big oil tanker and attacking the same convoy again a few days later, the Japanese had greatly increased their naval and aerial presence. What followed were a few scares and attacks by planes as they’d needed to surface once in a while. Jim had thus signaled the other subs in the area that Cisco was leaving for new pastures.

He picked up his binoculars to try and see some activity in the distance. The Cisco was near the entrance of the port of Taan, where most of the Japanese traffic was located. Since it was wartime, all lights were out as a military curfew was in effect like everywhere else around in the Pacific. The concept of all lights out in the night was simple: it was about not giving any chance to the enemy to spot you or locate you. This didn’t impede Jim from finding Hainan on a map, but at least if ships were sailing around, he wouldn’t be able to see them until dawn broke.

Lieutenant Drake climbed up the ladder to join Cloutier on top of the conning tower. It was a quiet, moonless night, and a gentle breeze brushed their faces. Below them, a few sailors were unlimbering the deck gun just in case they got attacked. It was something that Jim had included in the surfacing routine as the war dragged on, and they got surprised a few times when they were “topside.”

“Anything, Captain?” “Well, Lieutenant,” said Cloutier as he scanned the dark horizon in front of him with his binoculars. “All seems quiet for now.” Cloutier looked at his watch, straining hard to see the time because of the darkness. “Okay, so… 0236 in the morning. About three hours still to go before the sun comes up. Get the crew to rotate by twin pairs of twos, each 5 minutes of fresh air topside. That should bring us to about 0400 something. By then, I want the boat to plunge back into the water but hold the position we need to be ready for the morning.” “Yes, Captain,” said Draymond. Cloutier continued as he gave the binoculars to his Lieutenant, “I am going for some sleep time; I will be in my cabin if there is anything.” “Indeed, sir.”

Captain Jim Cloutier was in his bed and still sleeping when he was awakened by a shout just minutes after the boat dove down as he’d ordered. It was 0418 in the morning, according to his watch. “Captain!” said Draymond as he walked by his cabin. “Something on sound.” In an instant, he was out of his small cot and ran to the ship’s bridge. When he arrived there, he was pleased to see everyone ready for action. “Sound has something, sir,” said Lieutenant Draymond, who had got back to the bridge faster than him. “Very well. Control, what’s our depth?” asked Cloutier in return. “Seventy, sir,” came from the man at the depth gauge. He meant seventy feet.

“Bring her up and let us have a peek, will you.” Jim hoped that it would still be somewhat dark. After all, it was not 0430 yet. “Let’s find ourselves a big fat juicy target,” he continued as the ship started its ascent toward the water’s surface.

The Cisco rose silently through the dark waters. “Here we are, sir,” said the bowplanesman. Cloutier couldn’t wait anymore. He was eager for a kill. “Up periscope.” He looked just long enough to see that a Japanese transport or merchantman of some kind was sailing into view, perfectly lining up. Excitedly, he yelled to all that could hear: “Battlestations.”

Just as he finished the word, the battle station's alarm followed through with a blaring noise. Everyone got to their post, from the sleepy ones (a third of the crew was asleep at all times) to the fully awake.

Everyone was at their post and ready to go ahead with the attack. On the listening station, the two sailors listened hard. As if coming from a great distance, they heard a gentle pinging sound, as though someone plucked a string from a guitar.

This was the telltale sound of the enemy sound-detection system. “Sir!” started one of the listeners. “A destroyer of some kind is near and watching for submarines.” In response, Cloutier swiveled the periscope around and saw the sound-offending ship. The Japanese ship was on a perpendicular path to Cisco. It was not an immediate danger, but the moment the sub fired torpedoes, it would be. Cloutier decided to wait it out. If the sub didn’t move or do anything overly noisy, like opening the torpedo tube doors, the enemy vessel would not detect anything.

The submarine slowly slipped into position while the Japanese destroyer (Jim recognized it as a Fubuki class) continued its patrol eastward. The enemy was heavily guarding the shipping lane out of Hainan Harbor. “Enemy ship, boys. Fubuki class. Big bastard. Larges gun turret. Wow… Large and several depth charge racks, we’ll need to get lucky if we can’t kill it outright. Estimated course, one, six, one. I estimate the speed at twelve knots. Range three thousand yards. Seems to be going to loiter near the harbor, probably running point for that merchantman sailing out of the harbor,” finished the sub-skipper in a satisfied tone.

Making his decision, Jim decided they would slam the transport ship with a few torps and then take their chance with the enemy destroyer. “Prepare to fire on my mark,” he continued in a serious tone. The men responded automatically, as their training had shown them. A seasoned crew manned the Cisco. They had fought along with him across the entire Pacific since March 1942. He took a moment to watch them in action and felt a surge of pride in his men.
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“Open outer doors,” ordered Jim. Drake then repeated to the torpedo room: “Open outer doors.” Below, a sailor operated the huge spinning control wheel. Eleven turns, twelve, thirteen… Further down toward the bow, Cisco’s hull slowly opened through two great steel doors, showing the head of the torpedoes that would soon be fired. “Forward tubes ready, Captain,” reported Drake after he received confirmation.

“Up periscope,” said Cloutier again. A few moments later, he concentrated on trying and getting the enemy merchantman’s bearing and how he would time his weapon’s firing. And then it was time. “Fire tubes one and two!”

There was a sudden rushing sound was heard, a heat pipe had blown off. There was then a gentle rocking backward across the entire suba as if the ship was suddenly stirring from a deep slumber. Cloutier (like the rest of this crew) again felt the typical force in his head, as if the pressure inside the vessel suddenly changed. Torpedoes were launched by a push of pressurized gases.

Then, seconds ticked by while the crew and its captain felt the nervous anxiety of awaiting for a result. Water had to be flooded into tanks to compensate for the change in the boat’s weight and center of gravity. “Stand by to fire three and four…” he said, letting a few moments go by. “Fire three and four!”. And then again, gentle rocking back and the hissing noise.

The whine of the weapons died out as they went further away from the submarine. Cloutier kept his eyes on the periscope. “Good, they’re running true, By god!” he said in excitement.

He was the first to know they’d hit the enemy ship as he saw the blinding flash. Then, a split second later, a tremendous Ka-boom noise was heard through the water. The Cisco shuddered as several more explosions followed. The second Mark XIV had just exploded. Then the third and the fourth in quick succession.

“Explosions, Captain!” yelled signalman Drake excitedly. “I can see the bastard for myself!” snapped Cloutier. “The water around the ship is bubbling and foaming,” he finished as he downed the periscope. “We got the thing. Now, let’s try to survive. Dive.”

It wasn’t long before the gentle ping of the Japanese destroyer got more aggressive and increased in intensity. It reverberated on the hull, with most of the submariners looking upward in nervous anticipation of what was about to happen. It was a dreadful moment when they had to cross their fingers and hope the enemy wouldn’t hit them with their depth charges.

Fortunately for the American subs in general, the Imperial Navy anti-submarine performance was pretty abysmal to date, and they all hoped they would do as they always did. Drop a few depth charges and figure they’d destroyed the American sub.

The regular Chop! Chop! whining of the destroyer got closer and closer, as well as the pinging off the Cisco’s hull. “What’s our depth,” asked Cloutier, as he knew his men were diving the ship as fast as possible. “280 feet, sir.” The Cisco groaned from the growing water pressure strain. “Let’s bring her down to 350 for now,” he answered. “Yes, Captain,” answered the helm. Cisco’s maximum depth was around 400 feet.

The two listeners then put their hands to their hearing equipment, trying to confirm what they’d just heard. “Depth charges in the water, sir.” Cloutier nodded with a solemn move of his head. It was about right; from the noise, he gathered the Jap ship was just above them.

Ten seconds later, four powerful thuds were heard, and the ship rocked slightly. “Sir, estimated depth of explosion 250 feet,” said one of the listeners. “More depth charges in the water,” said the second. Thirteen seconds later, four more explosions, this time too close for comfort, rocked Cisco hard, and everyone standing was rocked off to the sides. All across the ship, water started shooting off from bursting pipes and fittings. “Damn, that was close, very close,” exclaimed Draymond. “Bring us down another eighty feet,” said Cloutier. “But sir, that is thirty feet over our maximum depth of 400 feet,” said the helm. “Just do what I say,” he snapped back. The Cisco skipper knew full well that it was beyond the sub’s spec, but his gut told him the Japanese captain above him had found the range, and the next set of charges would kill his vessel.

The ship continued to go down as the listener announced more depth charges into the water. “We should not be near the seafloor, sir,” said Draymond, looking at the naval chart of the area. The hull now groaned and whined like crazy, and more fittings exploded, with the hull seemingly buckling in some places. “Captain, several sections report water leakage,” continued Draymond as he spoke with the men on the internal phone he held in his hands at all times during a battle.

“We have reached 400 feet,” said the helm before speaking again. “410… 420… 430…” The Cisco now shook with every fiber of its metallic structure, but it was still there. More explosions raked the sea above them, and the sub shook some more, but less violently than with the last depth charges.

He smiled. His sub was in dire shape and too deep compared to specs, but he would survive; the enemy captain was now overshooting by at least fifty to sixty feet, and he was certain he would try and go deeper.


The New Ireland Landings Part 1

Operation Lockjaw: The Allied capture of Kavieng, February 11th to 15th

Following the Cape Gloucester landings and the seizure of New Britain’s western airfields, MacArthur's brainchild, Operation Cartwheel, called for the capture of Kavieng in northern New Ireland and the Admiralty Islands, further north toward the Caroline Islands. This would, in turn, complete the encirclement of the powerful Japanese base. According to the American overall SPWA commander’s plan, it would also give the Allies forward bases for further advances in the Caroline and Mariana Islands and directly threaten the Palau Islands, as well as isolate Rabaul. All three were the last Japanese bastions before the ultimate prize, the Philippines.

Under this plan, both places would soon become major bases, with port facilities to house large fleets and air bases to have hundreds upon hundreds of planes. Then, it would be possible to resume the advance into the heart of the Japanese Empire once Rabaul and Simpson Harbor were liberated.

American plans solidified once it was confirmed that a major Japanese base resided in Truk, along with the majority of the Imperial Combined Fleet. This postposed the Admiralty landings to later as it was pretty certain Yamamoto would try to intervene, and it was jointly decided by Nimitz and MacArthur to wait for the Kavieng operation to be successfully completed in order to combine both fleets in the sector (Cunningham-Spruance) and newly arrived 2nd Allied Fleet under Admiral Kinkaid, based in Guadalcanal, the one who was going to be involved in the Kavieng attack. Besides, Spruance’s fleet (the Allied Pacific Fleet) was just coming back from its successful invasion of New Caledonia and needed some time to reorganize.

What awaited the approaching Allied ships was a powerful Nipponese stronghold. Kavieng was a well-defended spot and boasted troops and fortifications to resist a powerful assault. The Japanese entertained a large Force at Kavieng, whose harbor also doubled as a secondary support facility for the Imperial Navy.

As the American advances became irresistible, the Japanese reinforced the base to help protect Rabaul between late 1943 and January 1944, while the tempo of enemy attacks increased, giving the Japanese leaders even more urgency.

By the time Admiral Kinkaid’s big guns were about to fire at their objective and as the landing craft prepared to get underway, the Japanse Army air forces and Marines in New Ireland numbered close to 10,000.

Kavieng was critical to the Japanese war effort in the South Seas. It served as a secondary base to Rabaul and, from there, had sailed many a supply convoy headed for the Solomons. The tip of New Ireland was also strategically important since many Japanese task forces had rounded the tip to then sail south to confront the Allies in the Solomons. If the Allies controlled the area, it would thus become impossible for the Imperial Navy to slip unnoticed like it had so many times before.

The base also served as a midway point to many shorter-ranged aircraft on their way to and from Rabaul and Truk. They were being assembled at Kavieng to be flown south to Rabaul, where they were much needed because of the Allied air offensive, or else evacuated through there northward as well. Used as a mid-point stopover by Japanese aircraft coming from the Carolines and beyond from the Marianas, losing Kavieng would mean that the Japanese could no longer fly some of their aircraft to Rabaul or else have them make very long journeys at the extreme edge of their range.

Following Cape Gloucester (Operation Galvanic), a strong effort was put into reducing Rabaul and Kavieng to rubble in order to flatten any Japanese defenses and facilitate the Marines and Army forces' landings to liberate them.

The landings themselves were to be handled by Admiral Kinkaid’s 2nd Allied fleet, supporting four Allied divisions, including a mix of British, Australian, and New Zealander troops, along with, of course, U.S. troops and Marines.


Raid on Kwajalein Part 1

Marc Mitscher’s 3rd Allied fleet attack Kwajalein, February 14th, 1944

The Marshalls were under Japanese control since its military forces occupied them in 1914. Tokyo was allowed to keep ownership of the area by the Treaty of Versailles, and thus, it became well-fortified and prepared to prevent any American invasion. Following the grave setback of the previous month, where the battleship Vermont was sunk by the powerful battleship Yamato, Admiral Marc Mitscher, the commander of the Allied 3rd Fleet, did not intend to take any chances and brought everything he had along, including the newest addition to his battleship lineup, the super battleship Montana, America’s answer to the Yamato-class.
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The Gilberts, now in the process of being completely liberated following the bloody battle for Tarawa, protected his flank, and he thus felt that it wasn’t too big of a risk to sail right into the Marshalls and smash the main Japanese base there, Kwajalein.

Kwajalein Atoll was the main base in the entire area, encompassing the Gilbert and the Marshalls. Every ship going east or south had to go through the area for essential refueling and supplies. Large depots hangers, and several airfields lay across the atolls of the Marshalls, and Japan had built strong defenses across the expanse in order to face the unavoidable American invasion one day.

As Kwajalein was important for the Marshalls, the Marshalls were important for the Japanese defenses as a whole. It formed the eastern shield of the Empire. If the Allies penetrated it, they would then have direct access to the Caroline Islands and the Marianas. After that, it was a straight line to the Philippines and the end of the war strategically.

Kwajalein was the center of communications not only for all other bases in the Marshalls but for the Gilberts, Nauru, and Ocean as well. The air base on Roi commanded all Japanese air forces in the Marshalls and Gilberts. All this gave Kwajalein some of the characteristics of a rear area, with more red tape than bullets, far from the front-line outposts on the periphery of the Marshalls.

The Japanese Army and Navy had thus put maximum effort into fortifying the islands and atolls with guns of all sizes and calibers, aircraft through numerous airfields, and close to a sprinkling of close to 20,000 soldiers.

The U.S. forces were coming, but the Japanese were ready.

.


The New Ireland Landings Part 2

Operation Lockjaw: The Allied capture of Kavieng, February 11th-15th

The fight for Kavieng and other objectives in and around New Ireland started, as usual, with every American amphibious invasion, with relentless night raids on the objectives, followed by the big gun battleships smashing everything from offshore. In this operation, Kinkaid’s capability was limited to the battleship Tennessee and the heavy cruiser Wichita, but it was enough support for the landings to happen since the entire Kavieng area had been softened quite well by the continuous and daily raids of the last few weeks. The 8,500 remaining defenders (from the original 10,000) were hunkering down as safely as they could in their bunkers and tunnels, hoping for the best.

The landings by Major General James Kark, 7th and 11th Marine Brigades, and Major General Dave Krilwart 39th Division, along with a mixed hodgepodge of Australian and New Zealander units, succeeded in carving itself a beachhead without a lot of heavy fighting. The Japanese commander, Major General Takeo Ito, not having the forces to defend the harbor, city, and airfield because of the overwhelming Allied air and naval superiority, had decided to move his troops to the island's interior in order to mount a guerilla and attrition campaign.

While he knew some of his superiors would be livid at the news of him not having defended the important installations to the last man, he didn’t care much. Ito was one of the few Japanese officers not too strongly influenced by the Bushido code, and the man believed in keeping his men alive as long as possible and was even ready to consider surrender if it came to a choice between mass suicide and abandoning an already lost battle.

As a consequence, the entire Allied landings went pretty smoothly, with the troops not moving inland in pursuit of the fleeing Japanese forces in order to consolidate their position around the airfield and harbor.

Ito’s decision to flee didn’t mean the Japanese Army commander didn’t have any fanatics in his ranks. Thus, several units decided to stay in their bunkers and fought to the very last man, igniting some sharp, intense firefights.

But as a general rule, the occupation of Kavieng went pretty smoothly, and on the 12th of February, the city and its installations were declared secure. Enough so that Seabee construction battalions were landed right away to work on patching up the badly destroyed airfield and harbor.

Late on the 12th, both General James Kark and Major General Dave Krilwart's forces started their advance inland and almost immediately ran into heavy Japanese resistance. With well-prepared and well-concealed positions, interlaying fire, and heavy artillery installed in the man-made caves they’d prepared at the center of the island, the affair soon became serious for the Allied troops. More bombardments were called from battleship Tennessee, with its guns still in range, and the Air Force was called in support. Turnage decided to wait a full day before resuming the attack, and it paid off. On the 14th, his forces slammed into the weakened Japanese defenses, now deprived of their heavy artillery, destroyed by bombings and shore bombardments.

The battle reached a crescendo during the night of the 14th and the 15th, when rogue officers not agreeing with Ito’s “man-saving” policy ordered relentless banzai charges through the entire darkness hours. By morning, and as the field of battle was filled with yellow uniforms, proof that many Japanese soldiers had died during the night, Ito decided that enough was enough. He knew he would be pegged as a traitor in Japan but didn’t care. He wanted to live and had no relatives or family in Japan.

He called for a cease-fire, and his message took Turnage and Brush completely off guard since they had not known it was possible for a Japanese force to surrender before being completely smashed to the ground.

The battle for Kavieng was over.


Raid on Kwajalein Part 2

Marc Mitscher’s 3rd Allied fleet attack Kwajalein, February 14th, 1944

The battle opened with a night raid by a flight of 200 “Doolittle 29s,” igniting giant fires on the coconut trees scattered around the island and enabling the battleship Montana and Dunkerque to start shelling the island with their big ordinance guns since they could see them from miles away.

For the entire night, the affair was a smattering of explosions, shelling, powerful blasts, and bunker-shattering death. When dawn broke, the American planes from the nine aircraft carriers approaching the islands reported heavy smoke columns, raging fires, and not much activity on the island.

Some scattered anti-aircraft fire was seen but rapidly silenced by the dive bombers while Mitscher’s two battleships continued to rain down shell after shell on the tiny atoll. The carrier planes came and went, leaving an additional path of destruction in their wake.

It was destruction on a scale not seen many times before in the Pacific War, and it would soon reach a new crescendo. It was at that moment that Mitscher ordered all of his surface ships to approach the island, right by the coral reef barrier, to shell it from point-blank range.

They shelled the island for almost a day without any counter from the Japanese, completely powerless, without ships, and with all of their planes destroyed. Then, Mitscher ordered successive carrier strikes against Wotje and Roi Namur, the two other Japanese bases in the area, hitting them hard.

When the Americans were done with Kwajalein, it was a moonscape with nothing left standing. Mitscher ordered his fleet to sail away back to Pearl Harbor at sundown. It was then that it dawned on him, and soon on the U.S. Navy command, that the Japs weren’t in any position to do anything about that, and they waited to attack unless Yamamoto decided to come out of his lair in Truk.


CHAPTER 4


Battleship Yamato

Admiral of the fleet cabin, February 15th, 1944

“That’s two more strongholds gone, sir,” said Vice-Admiral Matome Ukagi, finishing reading the final tally on the loss of Kavieng and the enemy strike on Kwajalein, resulting in the virtual destruction of the important base. Grand Admiral Yamamoto grunted and looked at the map of the operation he’d been planning for some time now. He needed to find something to stop the Americans before disaster struck Japan.

“You know what, Vice Admiral,” he started, taking the right tip of the map that was pinned on the wall right beside the large conference table. “This operation is pointless now,” he finished, ripping it off the wall and then letting it fall on the table. He then pointed to one of the impassive Imperial Marine guards near the door, who had crossed the hatch upon hearing the noise. “Get me another theater map.” “Yes, sir,” answered the man bowing quickly.

Ukagi stared intently at his commander, surprised by the normally calm man’s outburst. He chose his next words carefully. “Indeed, sir, planning an operation to keep the enemy out of the Marshalls and New Britain now seems pointless,” he finally blurted out.

The Grand Admiral paced back and forth. The plan he’d been working on with Ukagi was an attack on the Allies as they either moved to the Marshalls or Rabaul directly. However, that damned American Admiral had caught him off guard as he was not yet ready. Well, was he not? He stopped pacing and put both hands on the conference table.

“You know, Vice Admiral, I think we have convinced ourselves that our planning and perfect operation wasn’t ready, but our real issue was that we didn’t want to risk the fleet,” he then said. Ukagi’s face betrayed his understanding. “Well, Grand Admiral, come to think of it, you might be right. Perhaps we have unwittingly dithered because we really don’t want to face the overwhelming odds the Yankees can throw at us.”

“We have, Vice Admiral, and I don’t see any reason to send the fleet to the slaughterhouse, no matter how much planning we do. But then again…” he paused as a staff officer hurriedly entered the large conference room in the Admiral’s cabin to put another map on the wall. He then bowed, picked up the ripped-down map now lying on the conference table, and quickly left the room.

Yamamoto continued. “Then again, we can’t let the enemy get all the way to Truk without doing anything about it. What do you think, Matome,” asked the Grand Admiral, addressing Ukagi by his first name, which was quite unusual. Ukagi knew that Yamamoto only did that when he was unsettled and didn’t find an answer to a big problem.

“I think, Grand Admiral, that we’d better risk our precious ships, for if we don’t, there won’t be anything left in the South Seas, and the road to the center of the Empire will be open.” Yamamoto reacted by putting both his closed fists on the table while looking at the newly pinned map.

“The fleet that flanked the landing operation on Kavieng was, according to reports, one battleship and seven aircraft carriers strong. And then again, the fleet in the Cape Gloucester and the New Caledonia attacks, which appears to be the same, is four battleships and nine aircraft carriers. We are outnumbered in carriers even if we fight both of them one at a time. The only area where we have the edge is in battleships since we have six, and both Yamato and Musashi are with us. I say we risk it and try to engage them with our surface guns.”

There was only one way to do this kind of surprise attack with surface ships against carriers: through a big storm. But that entire game plan relied on luck and almost divine intervention. “What about a diversion, Grand Admiral,” countered Ukagi. “Well, yes, Vice-Admiral, and the only way I see we can make this work is by offering the enemy worthwhile bait.” Ukagi continued on with his idea: “Like carriers, sir?”

“Yes, carriers, Vice-Admiral.” And then they finally had a real plan.


Dogfight over New Britain’s south coast

Onishi continues to fight and destroy, February 17th, 1944

Newly minted flight commander, ace pilot Captain Takashi Onishi flew over New Britain’s southern coast after taking off with his squadron (he was now commander of over twenty fighters). He had been ordered to cover the area in case of enemy attacks. Japanese intelligence suspected the Allies would land just south of Rabaul, and thus, his job was to patrol the sky in the area, kill whatever the Allies flew in, and report if a large fleet showed up. The Imperial Army also had coast watchers on the ground covering all the approaches to make certain General Itoshi Imamura’s forces wouldn’t be surprised.

Just the day before, Takashi and his men had downed two enemy P-38 Lightnings that had been escorting a PBY Catalina on a recon flight. It had been, for once, an easy fight as his force outnumbered the Americans. That rarely, if ever, happened to him and his comrades in 1944.

One of his pilot’s nervous voices shattered the long, drowsy silence of the patrol, as every pilot had kept to themselves for a while as they flew up and down the coast. “Sir, I think I see enemy planes on approach,” he continued. Takashi recognized the voice of Kimura Hatagashi, his newest pilot. The man was new to the area and had been barely trained in air combat. He understood the young man’s nervousness but nonetheless needed to steel his spine. “Lieutenant Hatagashi. Do you see the enemy, yes or no,” he countered. The rookie pilot was about five kilometers ahead of Takashi’s plane, as he had ordered his men to fly in a loose formation to cover more ground. “Well, sir, I am pretty sure now I can tell they are planes. Since they are coming from the south and we are supposed to be the southernmost Japanese unit in the sky according to your briefing, sir, I gather they are Americans.”

Takashi grunted before answering back and giving his order to get ready to face the Yankee raid. He was surprised at the kid’s coolness. He hoped that the new pilot would get to see the light of day tomorrow, but these new raw recruits rarely survived their first battle. When they did, it meant they were good and had some natural talent for fighting in an airplane. “Hatagashi, you pair up with Shozemon and Ugyau,” he finished, hoping to help the new kid by putting him with his best and most experienced pilots. “Kadato and Tadeyoshi, form up on me. Everyone else pairs up in threes. We go in,” he finished, signaling to his people to veer to the left and toward the sea from where the enemy was coming. Just as one, the Japanese squadron first flew back on itself to form up for battle, then veered toward the Solomon Sea for the battle soon to happen.

Red tracer shells didn’t take long to cross between the opposing forces in the sky. Every one of the pilots scrambled for battle, and a furious dogfight ensued.

A minute into the battle and having already killed a P-38 Lightning, Onishi was in the middle of a harrowing fight. The enemy had come with thirty fighters, and he had twenty. Hardly a fair fight, but it was what it was. Onishi plunged hard as he vectored on one of the enemy fighters, attempting to dodge his rounds by swerving left and right. But the American pilot was certainly a novice, freshly out of flight school, because Takashi was able to stay on his tail and shred it with one of his two twenty-millimeter cannon shells. The P-51 Mustang was hit on its left side and immediately burst into a raging ball of fire. Its self-sealing tank failed, and the gasoline in the plane ignited.

A line of shells just missed him as he dodged while plunging hard with his Hayate toward the sea. The blue immensity of the Solomon Sea filled his view, and he waited until the last moment to pull up and stay clear of the surface of the sea. The enemy rounds slammed into the water, harmlessly splashing water in a flurry of muffled thuds. Another American had taken him as a target, but he was soon shot at by two of Onishi’s comrades.

The bastard continued on his tail after that, unrelenting. He decided to try something extreme and execute a very dangerous maneuver. Two enemy fighters (it seemed to be a P-38 and an old Wildcat) trailed him and continued to stream machine gun bullets and cannon shells past him. The Yankee flyers were quite good, and the Japanese hotshot wasn’t able to shake them off.

In a desperate move, he plunged once more toward the sea and sped full throttle into a small jungle valley near the coast. It was a dangerous move, yes, but Takashi knew that there were Imperial soldiers in these hills, as Japan had fortified the entire southern coast near Rabaul.

He sped through just above the jungle canopy, and his comrades on the ground mercifully saw he was Japanese and thus didn’t fire. But they did see that the next two planes were American bastards.

The Imperial gunners (there were four small AA guns in the vicinity) fired everything they had at the passing American fighters. Red tracers soon filled the sky. Takashi’s maneuver was based on the fact that if he were a little lucky, the Jap soldiers on the ground wouldn’t fire at him and concentrate their fury on the enemy planes just behind him. One of the batteries hit one of the aircraft right behind him. The poor Yankee plane was slammed right on the nose. It exploded into two flaming parts and crashed into the jungle in a great fireball.

The other American pilot broke off and took altitude before entering the narrow confines of the valley, veering left to dodge the spray of shells trying to destroy it. Takashi pulled on his stick to gather altitude and climbed into the sky at almost top speed since he had not slowed down on his run between flak battery positions.

Looking around his canopy for the bastard that had tailed him, he saw that his enemy was also done taking his altitude back. The Yankee was turning for another run at him now that he was clear from the jungle valley’s AA guns.

Onishi resolved to take the pilot head-on and see who would blink first. In an almost suicidal rage, both fighters roared toward the other, blasting away with their cannon shells. Tracers zipped by Takashi’s canopy as the small dot that was the Wildcat grew bigger in his view. Some of the American shells glanced at one of his wings, almost making his aircraft fall into an uncontrollable tumble. But the ace kept control of his plane and continued to pour lead into his enemy’s direction.

As each fighter was seconds from impact, one of Onishi’s shells hit his counterpart’s canopy, exploding it in a million pieces. The American pilot wasn’t killed instantly; instead, the blast knocked him out of consciousness. He immediately lost control of his aircraft, which plunged into a slow, lazy dive toward New Britain’s interior.

The man’s dive toward death wasn’t fast enough for Takashi, so he looped his plane in a crazy move to have time to line up with the offending Wildcat and shoot another load of his 20 mm shells. It was an easy target since it wasn’t trying to dodge. A few bursts sheared it to oblivion, and its pieces hit the deck like a rain of shrapnel.

He quickly put the gas on to climb as high as possible and to obtain a commanding view of the battlespace. Once he was up, he saw that the Americans were winning the fight because they had more planes. Looking toward the southern horizon, he saw more fighters on approach. He decided that if the Americans were already sending fighters into the area, they must have aircraft carriers near as there were no islands near the southern coast.

It was time to put the survival of the squadron before foolish bravery. After all, his men were not some mindless Imperial Army soldiers bent on dying in futile Banzai charges. “Onishi to the squadron. Everyone returns to base right now. I repeat, return to base, and disengage. Now”


Navula Passage, Viti Levu Island Part 1

The assault on the Momi Battery, Island of Fiji, February 16th, 1944

As war loomed and in preparation for the defense of the British colony, some New Zealand troops were landed on the main island of the territory, Viti Levu, to build up the area and make it a functional air force base. The idea was to have an airfield to prevent any Japanese approach in the area. The Fijis were also to serve as a flanking defense to New Caledonia.

The Kiwis started to build three-gun batteries to protect its all-important harbor and the Navula Passage, but as it happened, it was Japan who would reap the results of that work. During the expansion phase of the Japanese Empire in the Pacific (spring-summer 1942), Imperial troops were landed across the islands, and took the Fijis without much of a fight. The Nipponese quickly overpowered the very small half-battalions the New Zealanders had there by landing the 46th Imperial Japanese Regiment.

Quickly seizing the island, the unfinished gun batteries, and the brand-new airfield, the Japanese soon established a firm hold on the Fijis. The group of small islands had some critical strategic importance, along with its outlying neighbors, New Caledonia, the Ellice Islands, or else the Solomons. Their purpose was to encircle Australia and cut it off from any type of American help. While it didn’t impede the U.S. Navy from circumventing them with a longer route (the “Milk Run”), it did cause a ton of problems for the Allies by increasing the distance for the ships to sail from the Continental USA to Australia. Furthermore, having bases in the Fijis and New Caledonia enabled Yamamoto to launch an offensive on Allied shipping lanes and even attack French Polynesia. While the Imperial Navy and the Japanese Army did not succeed in holding French Polynesia for very long, its capture would have effectively cut off the Allies, as they would have lost their only viable harbor in the Central-South Pacific.

The Japanese tide eventually stalled and then receded away westward, leaving out-of-supply garrisons like the one in the Momi Battery in its wake. With the fall of Guadalcanal and the grave string of defeats inflicted on the Imperial Navy and Army, places like the Fijis, New Caledonia, and the Ellice Islands were left to their own devices. There was no way for the Japanese to either supply them or try to evacuate. No more planes were in range without viable airfields in Guadalcanal, and the ships were thousands of miles away in Rabaul, with a hostile sea controlled by the now all-powerful U.S. Navy in between.

The Momi battery site was selected because it overlooked the Navula Passage. The battery itself was a setup of two gun 6-inch cannon emplacements. Each one covered a fourteen-kilometer radius, thus capable of interdicting any shipping coming near the passage. On that day, the four Japanese soldiers detailed as lookout on top of gun number one busied themselves in sharing one of the “locally made” cigarettes they had. It wasn’t really a real cigarette; it was a sort of an old newspaper and local “weed” assembly they smoked to pass the time since they had long run out of the real things. The men were hungry and always in a foul mood, and for good reasons. They had not been supplied for well over a year and had instead relied on the locals to get by.

One of them looked up to scan the horizon and thought he saw something. He slapped his friend on the shoulder and pointed. The second man also thought he spotted small dark shapes. Then, the four of them stood up and looked at the distant shapes. “Look, those are gun flashes,” said the fourth one. And indeed it was. They scrambled down the ladder (they were on top of the gun) to get to safety. The last of them barely made it in time before the shells from the enemy ships started to land all across the area.

The French Navy and the “Battalion du Pacifique” were coming to claim back the islands for the Allies.

(…)

The commander of the 1st French Naval Squadron, Vice-Admiral Francois Suchet, looked at his watch with anticipation. The man was on the bridge of the brand-new cruiser Louis XIV, a French Navy Class of cruiser that had been designed before the war and built in 1943 in the United States since France was German-Occupied.

Following the complete occupation of their home country in 1940 by the Wehrmacht and the continued resistance under the Petain-De Gaulle leadership duo, some agreements were passed between the French government in exile and the United States. One of them involved the Americans building ships and training troops for France in exchange for what the French had as currency territories. It was thus agreed that France would have control over Polynesia after the war as payment for all of the support received by the Americans.

The result of that deal was sailing offshore Fiji and about to attack that day. The two Saint Louis class cruisers (named after a famous French medieval King) were one of the newest in heavy ship design. Sporting 15,000 tons and 8 inch guns in three triple turret configuration, they were powerful ships.

Construction was approved in April 1942, and the two brand-new ships did their sea trials in the fall of 1943. Then, they sailed across the Panama Canal and rejoined another French task force from the Atlantic to form the French Pacific Squadron.
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The squadron escorted well over ten large transport ships carrying the Pacific-Polynesia Marine Infantry Regiment (BIMP), formed with a mixture of French troops from the Home Country, colonists and locals in French Polynesia, and the few of the escapees from the territories occupied by the Japanese. Trained and armed on the U.S. West Coast, it was declared operational as a unit on March 19th. 1943, and then transferred to Papeete Harbor to first serve as a garrison as the Japanese were still quite active in the region. Following the sweeping victories in the Solomons, on the Kokoda Trail, and in Hawaii, Allied strategic thinking gradually switched from defensive to offensive, and the hodgepodge French regiment was earmarked to help in reconquering some of the outlying, strategic Pacific Islands.

New Caledonia being too big of a target for such a small unit, it was thus decided to send the BIMP to Viti Levu to silence the gun battery there and reclaim the Lakauta harbor and airfield from the Japanese.

General Ikeda Nakamura, the commander of the 46th Imperial Regiment they were about to fight, was no stranger to battle, as he and his unit had been involved in over a year and a half of conflict in China before being transferred to the Pacific theater in January 1942, in preparation for Grand Admiral Yamamoto’s bold strategic plan of conquest. The unit was without any heavy weapons apart from a few field howitzers and the gun battery it protected.

The battle for the island promised to be sharp, bloody, and quick.


Shipborne toward Midway

14th Marine Battalion, February 21st, 1944

A week after the destruction of the Kwajalein Atoll, Admiral Marc Mitscher's 3rd Allied Fleet was leaving Johnston Atoll with the 14th Marine Ballation, bound for Midway Island, yet another Japanese-occupied American territory. This time, the heroic American commander was not going there to simply raid the place. He was sailing toward Midway to land troops and liberate the small American piece of real estate.

Onboard one of the large transport ships, Private Nathan Smith leaned on the ship’s rail as he watched in awe at the display of U.S. naval power. “Isn’t that magnificent, Minaard,” he said to his friend right beside him. Behind them, sailors toiled in and around, going about the daily and menial routine of running a ship. As soldiers, they were exempt from it all, and until they got to Midway would live a pretty cool and relaxing existence unless the fleet ran into Japanese ships.

They had concluded the battle for Johnston Atoll and the two concrete battleships well over two weeks ago and had been just patrolling the destroyed islands since then. The recall to the boats had come soon enough.

“Yep, beautiful,” answered Alexander. “And that Montana battleship is one hell of a dreadnought if you ask me,” he answered. Nathan took some time to look at the sleek and powerful-looking shape of America’s newest battleship. “They say it has 18-inch guns. Can you imagine that,” he continued. Nathan grunted. “I can; the fucking Japs have been hammering our battleship with that caliber for three years now.” His friend laughed. “Well. You're right about that, but now that we have one of these big boys on our side, we’ll see how they like it,” Minaard countered.

The troopship they sailed on was called the Cape Johnson. Constructed as a freighter, but which, after a few months' operation, was converted for troop carrying by the Los Angeles Shipbuilding & Drydock Company between the 30th of December 1942 and the 1st of June 1943.

U.S. Navy troopships were long and could usually transport anywhere from a regiment to a full division, depending on their size. While some of the boats were chartered by the U.S. Navy or else converted from cruise ships, some, like the Cape Johnson, were dedicated troop transports after their conversion.

The ship had what could be considered ample space to move around, and the men of the 14th Marine Battalion could not fill it entirely. It was half empty, which was fine with Nathan and his friend. This meant they had the freedom of space, which was rare in a troopship. They all remembered the dreadful voyage from San Diego to Hawaii on a large troopship packed to the gills with men.

“How long to Midway?” continued Nathan. “I've heard a couple of days. I also know an intelligence type, and he told me the Navy doesn’t expect any Japanese trouble along the way apart from the island itself.” “Yeah, well,” added Nathan with a smile. “The fucking Japs can do what they want; if they come, they’ll be in for a threat from this big boy,” he pointed at the Montana. “And of all its carrier brothers,” he finished, giving a sweeping look around to show the no less than nine carriers sailing alongside them in the core of the U.S. Fleet.


Navula Passage, Viti Levu Island Part 2

The assault on the Momi Battery, Island of Fiji, February 16th, 1944

The shells started to pepper the gun battery area and slammed on the sides and on the bunkers themselves. The first French cruiser salvo made an impressive show of fireball, smoke, and towering dirt, but the well-constructed gun emplacements withstood the barrage long enough to fire their own shells. The twin 7-inch guns barked in response, and large columns of water rose near the two French warships.

The Louis XIII and XIV fired again, making one hell of an impressive explosion with eighteen 8-inch guns firing simultaneously. The shells traveled the distance in an instant, hitting the face of the Japanese bunker housing the first gun.

While seventeen of the shells slammed on the side and the top, only rocking the structure, one of them luckily exploded right at the gun’s embrasure opening, shattering the barrel of the Japanese weapon. Unfortunately for the Imperial gun handlers, they had been in the process of finishing up the loading of their own rounds, and it ignited upon the impact of the French one. The result was nothing short of spectacular, with a blast smashing concrete and steel to smithereens. Everyone inside the bunker was killed instantly, while the pieces of the structure sprinkled themselves all around in fiery tidbits of flaming steel and debris. A large cloud of black dust and smoke expanded horizontally on the ground, rolling over the countryside for over fifty meters.

The second battery, unscathed, was able to fire and, this time, found the range. Its powerful shell blasted the side of the Louis XIII open, igniting a large fire and rocking the vessel to its core. All the sailors on board were thrown to the steel deck. Twenty French souls were sent to heaven by the hit. As its sister ship was hurt, Louis XIV answered with another full broadside of its 8-inch guns. The shells slammed one after the other near or on the second Japanese bunker, damaging it and covering it in dusty smoke. But from the billowing darkness, the Japanese gun fired again, hitting the Louis XIII one more time. The ship was hit on the central funnel, and the blast caused the engine room to shut down.

But the brave French ship was hurt, not dead. Its gunners, finally coming back to their senses after the twin hits, barked their own answer, again thundering rounds on the Japanese emplacement. Once more, the area exploded in fire and might. And once more, the damned Japanese gun fired.

Even with its engine dead, the heavy cruiser still had some momentum (about 12 knots and decreasing rapidly), so the Nipponese round missed, as it had tried to hit where the ship was, not to where it had moved.

Hence the fundamental difference between fixed naval defenses and ships. One needed to find the range and take into account the ship’s dodging capabilities and speed, while the other fired at the same spot since guns on the ground could not move away.

The two French cruisers continued to pour relentless fire onto the lone Japanese gun, eventually inflicting enough damage on the structure to silence it. Not all the Japanese gun handlers in the bunker were killed, but their gun was rendered inoperable by the frontal part of the structure collapsing on top of it.

Following the silencing of the Momi Battery, the French and U.S. transport ships moved into position, disgorging the LCIs (landing ship, infantry) and LCTs (landing ship, tank) toward the Fiji shore. They sped as fast as they could and endured the withering Japanese fire, defending right from the beach.

The brave French and colonial marines landed in the face of heavy fire and endured it to reach the land beyond the beach. The Japanese forces fought hard but were short on ammo, not having been supplied in over a year. They were also weakened by hunger, and their morale was abysmal since they knew nothing could be done for them.

Overall, the fight was sharp and quick everywhere around the island except in Latoka Harbor, where General Ikeda Nakamura decided to make his last stand. Fired upon by the two French cruisers and attacked from the front by the BIMP force, the Japanese defense soon collapsed in a myriad of suicidal pockets of resistance.

By the end of the third day of the assault, the French flag was hoisted on top of the destroyed Momi Battery, the highest point on the island. The Fijis were back in Allied hands.


The Naval Battle of the Malacca Strait Part 1

February 20th, 1944

As if they’d called each other before sailing and agreed on fighting it out once and for all like schoolboys at the end of the day outside school grounds, both the British Indian Ocean Squadron and the Japanese Navy 5th Fleet sailed out of their lair (one in the Andaman Islands and the other in Singapore), heading right for the Malacca Strait and intent on a showdown.

In the Japanese corner, the Japanese fighter brought a powerful and very modern battleship (the Nagato) and three small carriers (Chiyoda, Akitsu Maru, and Nigitsu Maru) with a superb heavy cruiser (the Tone), two light cruisers, and four destroyers. The seaplane tender Kamoi was left in Singapore since it could not do much in a fight.
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In the British corner, British Admiral James Somerville brought a sizeable force for the scrap. Two aging but still powerful battleships (Centurion and Thunderer), two superb modern main fleet carriers (Unicorn and Indomitable), three heavy cruisers (Cumberland, Duquesne, and Berwick), plus eight destroyers.
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Both admirals acted on intelligence and flight recons as they decided to fight it out. The British forces were detected by a submarine (I-11) near the Andaman Islands, while Somerville now knew of Hata’s forces following the sinking of the heavy cruiser Hawkins a few days before. Before dying, the British raider had reported the enemy fleet’s dispositions.

(…) British Indian Ocean Squadron (…)

At 0600 on the morning of February 20th, carriers Unicorn and Indomitable were ordered to launch search planes just as the British fleet was entering the Malacca Strait and exiting the Indian Ocean. Their orders were simple: hunt for Japanese warships. Admiral James Somerville, on the bridge of his faithful carrier Unicorn, was raked with an anxious enthusiasm. He felt it was the time for the end of the Japanese presence in the sea. Yes, the enemy had been reinforced, but he also had a strong fleet, a superior number of battleships, and a better carrier air force. He figured his opponent’s advantage was the Nagato itself and his land-based aircraft force, who would surely compensate for the inferiority of his small carriers.

However, Somerville was anything but stupid. Since he now controlled southern Thailand and the Burmese coastline, it was possible for him to base planes there, and he did just that. He glanced up quickly and saw the host of twin-engine bombers flying above his ships as escorts. Among them were a mix of Mosquitos, P-51 Mustangs, and Bristol Beaufort’s. With the fighter CAP of Unicorn and Indomitable, he felt pretty secure in entering the enemy’s lair to confront Hata.

Crossing his hands behind his back and taking a deep breath as he continued to look through his viewport, Somerville felt he was ready for anything the Japs could throw at him. Right beside the Unicorn sailed the battleship Centurion, and he knew the Thunderer flanked the other side, right beside Indomitable.

Both ships were of World War One manufacture, and he knew they had what it took to face the dreaded Nagato in a scrap. While one would not have been enough, he felt that two would do the trick, especially since they were supported by three heavy cruisers. In all, the odds were in his favor. Two battleships and three heavy cruisers against one battleship and one cruiser. He smiled inwardly while a staff officer brought him a message from Unicorn’s flight leader, stating that all was clear ahead of the British Fleet. “The bastards had better be ready,” he said to himself. Behind him, the entire staff busied themselves in preparation for the fight.

(…) Japanese 5th Fleet (…)

Japanese Admiral Shonroku Hata felt pretty much the same way as his adversary he was about to fight against. He commanded a powerful fleet and, contrary to his counterparts in other theaters, had a chance to fight a battle against a force roughly his own strength.

He nervously paced the bridge of his new flagship, the Nagato, and felt he had the biggest and baddest battleship in the theater to command. He hoped. No, not hoped but longed for a fight with the reported two heavy British units sailing toward him. “Sir,” said his chief of staff, as he walked right by him, Vice-Admiral Jisaburo Nataki. “Yes, Vice-Admiral?” “Well, sir, the enemy fleet is reported to be two hundred miles to the west and said to have a great host of planes flying above it in escort. What are your orders?”

Admiral Hata felt he also had a lot of planes under his command, with the Japanese 18th Air group based in Singapore and the 4th based in Balikpapan in eastern Sumatra. He also had the modest squadrons of mostly fighters onboard his three small carriers. “How many planes, according to the reconnaissance flight?” Nataki hesitated, looking down at the small message he had on paper. “Well, the report speaks of well over a hundred and fifty aircraft of all shapes and sizes, sir.”

Temporarily checked by the number the Vice-Admiral claimed the enemy had up in the air, Hata took a deep breath to calm himself before answering. There was no point in unsettling his subordinates. After all, he had roughly the same number of planes. He just wasn’t certain of their level of training. From what he’d seen, the number of accidents that the rookie pilots of the Akitsu Maru and the Nigitsu Maru had sustained as they practiced landing and taking off operations in Singapore Harbor was making him wonder if it was the best of ideas to send these men into battle now.

“Very well, Vice Admiral, thank you. So, it seems we are of equal strength to the enemy. Tell the fleet to keep on its heading and call the remaining planes from the 18th and 4th Air groups up in the air; we will need them.” “Yes, Admiral.”

As time clicked by, the two powerful fleets sailed toward each other, about to fight the battle that would decide the fate of the entire Southeastern theater of war for the months to come.


Approaching Samoa

LCI no. 14, 2nd Marine Division, February 20th, 1944

The LCI bobbed left, right, up, and down as it sailed the rolling waves approaching the Japanese-occupied island of Samoa. Private soldier Dave Powers of the 2nd Marine Division sensed it seemed that it was Tarawa all over again. Enemy bullets pinged on the landing ship’s armored plate, and as he looked around, he only saw serious and anxious faces. Beside him, his friend Kurt Warner, then not so far away, Sergeant Hartman and Lieutenant Devers.

After storming Tarawa and fighting through hell to conquer it, the Division was given some time off on the island as they garrisoned the place and put it back to fighting shape just in case the Japs came back. But they never did, so the entire time, they rested and recuperated from their ordeal. Five days ago, the ships had come to Tarawa to embark the 2nd Division and land the 77th U.S. Army Infantry Brigade that would relieve the Marines for them to get ready for a new assault.

The chain of islands known as Samoa had a rich history of being wanted by the World’s powers. By the end of the 19th century, it was in the middle of intense international tensions between Britain, Germany, and the USA. In the end, Germany got the Western part of Samoa and the United States the eastern part and the island with the biggest potential for a harbor. After the First World War, Germany lost its territory, and it was given by mandate to the United States.

After that, the Americans were free to develop it as a naval base. It didn’t take a genius to see the strategic importance of Samoa. It had a great location halfway between the Hawaiian Islands and Australia. The power that controlled it also controlled the sea lanes going to the Sub-Continent.

Early in the 20th Century, the U.S. Navy built a base on the small Island (Tutuila) that housed Pago-Pago, an amazing natural harbor. It remained small until the late 1930’s. As tensions rose with Imperial Japan, the Americans fed more funds into the area, started to work on the harbor facilities, and prepared some defenses. However, the money was not enough to make it into a large base, and in the end, American preparations just worked into Nipponese designs because they weren’t ready to repel an invasion.

It was given a high priority in Yamamoto’s grand strategic plan for dominance in the Pacific. After the fall of Oahu and the rest of the Hawaiian Islands, the U.S. Navy was left with no major port to resupply its ships on their way to Australia or to wage any type of naval campaign in the Pacific.  Samoa was a critical stop in the link of communications and sealanes between the United States, Australia, and New Zealand. It also ran through Fiji islands and was hard to replace or circumvent. In short, Pago-Pago Harbor could have filled Pearl Harbor’s shoes, and it was paramount for the Grand Admiral to prevent the Yankees from taking it.

Holding the line drawn from Midway to Samoa and the Fijis was considered essential for the Japanese Grand Admiral. The conquest of these bits of land had effectively cut off communications between the United States and Australia's west coast and helped fend off any American naval offensive.

A small but appreciable Japanese fleet had thus sailed from the Marshalls and landed its troops in total darkness between the 19th and 20th of April 1942, catching the under-strength American battalion defending Pago-Pago by surprise. The Nippon soldiers relied on surprise, their ship's shore-bombardment support, and willpower to assault the American positions without any air cover. The plan worked to perfection, as the U.S. commander on site did not expect an attack so deep into the Pacific.

Almost two years later, it was time to reclaim the island for America, and the job was given to the U.S. Marines’ 2nd Division and several other U.S. Army units, like the 6th Infantry Division and a few armored and artillery regimental units.

It wasn’t that the attack and invasion would be easy, but the strategic picture had greatly changed for Japan since the heydays of 1942. The “Line of defense against the USA” and the concept of defending it from invasion was gone. The Gilberts, the Fijis, Oahu, and New Caledonia had already been reclaimed by the Allies, negating any potential for defense since the perimeter was penetrated in many places. There were talks of simply ignoring Samoa because it was not needed in strategic terms, but then again, it was U.S. territory; thus, President Roosevelt had decided there would be no ignoring of American citizens.

A wall of water fell into the LCI, splashing the already miserable and wet-looking Marines inside it. At that moment, Dave looked up because an American Grumman F6F Hellcat fighter thundered just above the fleet. Then another, and another, followed by dozens more. The pilots were speeding toward the island to fight it out with the bunch of planes brought by Yamamoto when he stopped on the island during his surge offensive of March 1943.

Dave and his comrades looked up above the boat, braving enemy fire, and saw the planes from both sides dogfighting in the sky. Looking left, he spotted the big battleship Maryland and the Alaska battlecruiser fire away with their massive guns, their big shells blossoming on the side of the towering mountain from where some Japanese defensive naval fire came. It was one hell of a scene, dotted with hundreds of LCIs and LCTs racing toward the yellow band of sand that was the beachfront the 2nd Marine Division was to assault. The unit’s first objective was the harbor of Pago-Pago.

Pago-Pago was the capital of American Samoa in the south-central Pacific Ocean since the beginning of the 20th Century. Nestled between jungle-covered mountains, it was situated on an inlet.

Tutuila Island covered a 70 square miles area that towered above everything else around. Pago-Pago Harbor sat between the mountains and the high ground, nestled in the middle. This was where the Japanese had installed themselves and most of their defenses.

The entire Samoan position (under the command of General Hiroshi Atamura) was held by three Imperial Army brigades, one on Samoa proper and the others on the Manua Islands to the east. In all, 10,000 soldiers defended the place. During his visit to the island in March 1943, Yamamoto brought not only aircraft but also a few heavy 240 mm Howitzers and over 150 Type 11 machine guns. They were thus promptly installed in new dug-in caves and concrete bunkers on the side of the mountain towering above Pago-Pago. They were the guns dueling with Alaska and Maryland while Dave’s LCI and his thousands of comrades raced to the shore. Dave was happy that the Japs didn’t seem to pay any attention to the landing crafts.

The machine guns did, however, and the entire space in front of the ship was heavy, with yellow and red tracers from the hundreds of Japanese machine gun nests entrenched along the shoreline. For a moment, he tried to imagine the moment the armored ramp would go down. That would be the moment when he and his brothers would need to charge the withering fire without the protection of the LCI. He made another quick prayer to God to survive this day. It was then that he noticed his left hand was shaking uncontrollably from the nervousness and the anxiety he felt. God, this was hard.


The Naval Battle of the Malacca Strait Part 2

February 21st, 1944

At 8:30 am on the 21st of February, a Unicorn search team spotted Hata’s fleet and identified them correctly. A strike group (from both Indomitable and Unicorn) of 22 bombers and 26 fighters headed for the Japanese along with half of the aircraft force hovering above Somerville’s fleet (over sixty bombers and fighters, namely DH.98 Mosquitos, P-51 Mustangs, and Bristol Beaufort’s). For the carrier planes, the British Navy used different aircraft than their American counterparts.

First, there was the carrier fighter Hawker Sea Hurricane. The aircraft was the sea version of the Hurricane and was purposedly built for carrier operation. Light, made of rugged wood, the Sea Hurricanes were well-suited for British carrier-borne operations.

The bomber part of the British air attack was handled by the Fairey Barracuda. For this mission, some of the bombers carried torpedoes as their primary weapon and relied on their heavy 30 mm cannons to strafe the Japanese ships. Others only had bombs to dive on the enemy vessels.

The Allied planes made good speed toward the Japanese fleet, and a furious air combat ensued once they got above. The British bomber pilots aligned to make their attack run and were amazed at the massive battleships beneath them. The Nipponese antiaircraft fire was terrific, covered the sky, and felt like a wall of fire and lead, and yet they endured and went through it. Many were shot down either by fighters or bombers, but some got in position and fired their weapons.

The barrage of shells shook the Nagato to its core as it rumbled loudly. Allied planes fell out of the sky in bright fireballs, one after the other. But as with every anti-aircraft defense of the war, the Nagato’s guns weren’t accurate enough to destroy all of the bombers swooping down on it.

Bombs and torpedoes fell out of the sky, and the Japanese ships below started to suffer. Nagato was hit by two bombs, severely damaging the barbette on turret no.2 and the other slamming into engine room one, igniting a major fire. Heavy cruiser tone was rocked by a torpedo hit, greatly reducing its speed and opening the hull to water.

Their deed done, the British planes left the scene, leaving the Japanese to execute their damage control and try to stop the raging fires from spreading everywhere. Some of the heavy cruiser Tone scouts planes were then launched off on a recon flight and soon came back with spotting the enemy fleet, reporting two enemy carriers, three battleships, and several support vessels. Hata then ordered his own retaliatory air strike.

Once his planes were off the carrier’s decks, he ordered his entire fleet to turn around and back toward Singapore. In typical Japanese fashion, he ordered the entirety of his air force, even the CAP above his ships, to fly to the nearby enemy fleet and attack it.

While Admiral Hata’s ships steamed at full speed to try and get out of the Strait, his planes arrived over the British fleet twenty minutes later. The Imperial pilots were lucky in their timing, as the planes from the previous airstrike were still in the process of landing on the carriers. With well over 120 planes, the Japanese thus blazed down toward the Allied ships, and the Allied fighters (over eighty of them, ranging from P-51s, P-38s, Mosquitos, and some Sea Hurricanes) confronted them head-on.

The air battle was furious, and over seventy percent of all the Japanese planes were shot down, but some fifteen bombers and eight torpedo bombers got through to launch their weapons. Both British carriers and the battleship Thunderer came under attack. Carrier Unicorn soon received a hit that rocked its hull open to the water, splashing the sea with burning oil while it continued to sail as if unhindered. Carrier Indomitable, which was less maneuvrable than its sister ship, did not fare as well. It was hit by several bombs and torpedoes but was able to keep afloat and operational. Thunderer was struck with two bombs and one torpedo. Her forecastle was wrecked, one of the bombs penetrated through its engine room, reducing its speed to twelve knots, and fifty-five sailors were killed. On the carriers, 107 sailors were killed or seriously injured.

Just ten minutes later, the Japanese were hit again on their way back to Singapore by a flight of land-based P-51s and twin-engine B-25 Mitchells that had taken off from the new landing strips built in Western Sumatra. Escort carrier Nigitsu Maru received serious hits, making a shamble of its flight deck. Burning like a raging fire and not able to host any flight operations, the ship suffered eighty-six men dead or wounded. Admiral Hata thus ordered the destroyers to circle her, and he urged his men to make the best speed toward safety.

Later that afternoon, the other two Japanese carriers (Chiyoda and Akitsu Maru) began recovering the stricken carrier planes. Losses had been heavy—only twenty-six of the Japanese strike came back. The Imperial Navy pilots weren’t as good as they used to be, and it showed in their attrition rates.

The battle seemed like it would end this way, with the Japanese fleet sailing away from the battlefield, but Somerville had no intention of letting the enemy escape to fight another day, while one famous submarine captain would have his say in the final outcome of the battle.


USS Cisco scores a major hit

The American submarine fights, February 21st, 1944

Following action near Taan, in Hainan, it had finally been time to replenish the Cisco’s supplies, and thus, its captain, Jim Cloutier, decided to sail back toward the Indian Ocean to rejoin the Andaman Islands naval base. It was the shortest way for Cisco to get fueled, re-armed, and back into the action. In order to do this, he sailed his vessel south, then east of Singapore, to eventually enter the Malacca Strait.

As luck would have it, the submarine’s sailing path perfectly intersected the Japanese 5th Fleet route as it sailed back toward its main base. The air battles and naval strikes were over, and the damaged Japanese ships had decided they had had enough. Unfortunately for them, their ordeal wasn’t over.

The enemy ships were all grouped together with the destroyers screening in front, on the sides, and in the rear, ready to intervene when a submarine attack happened. Cloutier watched as a big dreadnought appeared in his periscope view. The Mark 14 torpedo had a 4500-yard range, and Jim intended to fire from as far away as possible. “Look, Lieutenant,” he said, gesturing for Drake to look through the periscope at the large Japanese fleet. “Yeah, wow, Captain. And looks like they’ve been in a battle, several of them are jutting dark smoke, including that big bastard of a battleship,” he answered as he looked at the fleet before them.

“How do you propose we do this, Captain,” continued Drake as he moved away from the periscope. Jim thought for a moment. “Well, Lieutenant, they seem to be in one hell of a hurry eastward. I propose we keep it simple. Fire all forward tubes (the American Balao-class submarines had six) from as far as possible, dive, and move to a new firing spot. With a bit of luck, we would be able to get off three salvos before the enemy destroyers were on us. And with even more from Lady Luck, maybe what they are fleeing from will show up to finish the job.”

Drake smiled. “As simple as it gets, Captain. I’m with you.” They both silently nodded, and Drake picked up the internal phone. “Torpedo room, this is the bridge. Get tubes one through six ready to fire on the Captain’s mark.” “Yes, sir,” answered the voices on the other side. Drake paused for a few moments, getting the numbers from Cloutier. “Range 4,250 yards.”

Once they received the order to load the torpedoes, the torpedo room crew's primary function was to set the torpedo's timers. This was done based on the range and the top speed of the torpedo given by the bridge. This way, even if the torpedo missed, it would detonate near its target, possibly doing some damage. This also prevented a rough wave from detonating the torpedo early.

The range was determined by range lines in the periscope. Based on knowing the ship type, the distance was determined by how tall the target was in the viewfinder (captains often had a book identifying common enemy ship designs with details about their specs). Knowing the angle of attack, the relative speed, and heading, they could calculate how long it would take a torpedo to reach the target. A captain engaging a specific enemy would likely get good at knowing that ship's details, how fast it was, its turning capabilities, and so on. In this case, Cloutier had a very good understanding of Japanese battleship designs and knew the rough composition and speed of the vessels.

The basic input was the target bearing, target range, and target speed. The bearing was from the periscope if attacking submerged, or a fancy pair of binoculars if attacking surfaced. The target range was estimated from a statometer in the periscope; basically, a guess at how high the target ship looked from where the submarine was. The target course was estimated by "angle on the bow," a visual guess at which way the target looked like it was going from a visual observation. Ashe was busy doing this, and Cloutier whistled loudly. “Looks like one of the newer Jap battlewagons,” “Sir, you don’t think it could be Yamato or Musashi,” asked the helm sailor with glee. It was every submariner’s dream to kill one of those two bastards.

“No, sailor, I don’t believe it is, but it's possible it could be a Nagato or Mutsu from the looks of it.” Every submariner learned to recognize the known Imperial Navy capital ships with a book explaining and helping identify ship silhouettes.

A few minutes later, the boat was ready to unleash its weapons. And Cisco had indeed taken Nagato as a target. “Remember, men. On my signal, we fire, and then we dive as fast as possible, move to the new coordinates, and hide.”

Half a minute later, the sub was ready and in perfect position. “Fire and dive,” he yelled, starting his countdown with his chromometer. In the torpedo room, the men went through the motions of firing. The six improved Mark 14 torpedoes swished loudly away toward their unsuspecting target.

The weapons made good time to their destination, but one of the watchful Japanese destroyers detected their wake early and soon raised the alarm, radioing the Nagato that torpedoes were coming his way. The big Imperial Navy ship turned sharply to starboard and pushed its speed to maximum (Nagato could make 26 knots at full velocity). Its central funnel suddenly surged with dirty smoke that towered above the big battlewagon as the vessel moved away from the wakes.

The big ship turned as best it could, but in the end, could not dodge the spread Cloutier had plotted, and suddenly, the whole sky lit up in flame and a bright flash. “Multiple hits!” yelled Cloutier. A roar of enthusiasm soon exploded across the ship.

One torpedo struck amidships, one on the bow, both denting the Nagato’s armored belt in spectacular balls of fire. But the real, hell-condemning damage was for the third hit. The Mark 14 torpedo struck the port rudder, which was swung over in a turn to port. The torpedo explosion jammed the rudder.

The result was simply disastrous for the attempting-to-fleet Japanese battleship. It was soon determined it could only sail in a wide 19-degree circle at 9 knots. With the pursuing Allied fleet, it spelled disaster for the Nagato.

Nagato was a expericed ship, powerfully armored, and with top-of-the-line crew befitting its rank in the Imperial Navy. Surely, most thought as they struggled to control the expanding fire and secondary explosions across the ship, the famous dreadnought would shrug off and live through the ordeal. The problem was not the submarine, in the end. It was the approaching British fleet intent on mayhem.

On the bridge of the battleship, Admiral Hata knew that there was a major problem with the ship since the helm officer had just given him the report. He didn’t yet know if there was any way to fix the rudder issue. Hata didn’t know how much time the ship had but knew the enemy would soon come calling.


Attacking Samoa

2nd Marine Division fight to reclaim the U.S. territory, February 17th to 20th, 1944

The LCI hit the sand with a muffled thud, and everyone inside it thrust forward from their seat because of the impact’s momentum. “Everyone gets ready,” yelled Lieutenant Devers amidst the blasts of explosions and the sounds of battle. Dave’s nervousness reached a new level, and he could smell the unmistakable odor of urine as several of the new guys wetted themselves from fear. He could hardly blame them; he’d felt the same way during his first assault on Oahu near a town called Kaneohe not so long ago. The Division had received several new recruits from the San Diego training grounds to replace the heavy losses of the Tarawa assault. He felt for them and knew they were in for a rough time.

The ramp went down, and immediately, Japanese bullet tracers slammed into the front ranks. Fortunately for Dave and his friend Kurt, they weren’t hit, but several of their comrades were shredded by the heavy machine guns. Blood spurted everywhere, but Dave knew better than to stop and look. To do so was asking for a quick death. They knew from training, and now from experience, that the best way to survive was to close in with the enemy, to leave the vicinity of the landing craft, and find some cover. And so, he ran, firing as he went. Beside him on the flanks, more and more Marines disgorged from the LCIs, and several Sherman tanks churned the sand at full speed, firing their main guns, with even some brave .50 machine gunners on top of their turrets. While the Japanese fire was heavy, the American reply was getting heavier by the second, and Dave decided that things didn’t look good for the Japs. Within the first minutes of the 2nd Division hitting the beach, the Marines were already pouring out more fire than their enemies.

Another F6F fighter thundered above him and his brothers in the lead of the advance. The brave pilot rolled to the side to fire his machine guns and cannons at some unseen target. The entire move gave Dave the impression that the pilot knew what he was doing. Dave kept trying to run, his feet burrowing deep into the soft sand, and he cursed. The result of the fighter’s strafing was soon obvious. A powerful explosion rocked the area, sending a cloud of debris and splinters everywhere. Dave, along with his Marine brothers beside him, cheered.

The fighter attack gave the Americans some reprieve from the withering Japanese machine gun fire, and they were thus able to run all the way to the five-foot-tall coconut log wall the enemy had built all along the beach. Some Japanese soldiers hunkered behind and fired at the advancing Marines, but they weren’t numerous enough, so they soon got swamped.

Dave fired point-blank at one of the enemies who tried to fillet him as he reached over the coconut wall. The clash was brief and bloody, and many on both sides were killed. They were about 100 feet onto the island when Sergeant Hartman’s voice boomed. “Dig in behind the coconut logs!” Dave, not understanding the order since they had killed the wall’s defender, obeyed anyway, and that was good because some of the new guys didn’t and got shredded by several bursts of machine gun fire.

Once he was behind cover, Dave and Kurt, right beside him, looked up above the logs to see what the enemy was doing. A football field away, they saw a heavily fortified thirty-foot-high volcanic ridge that seemed like it would pose a serious problem for the landing Marines. Covered in trees and bushes, it had not been spotted by recon flight before the invasion.

Dave peered around, wondering what would happen next. Kurt told him. “Look, the Lieutenant is getting the radio guy to contact someone higher up. I bet you my house that he is calling in the big battleships to saturate that position up there.” Dave laughed softly. “Warner, you don’t have a house.” His friend returned the laughter. “Yeah.”

But Kurt was right on the money about Lieutenant Devers. The man was calling the battleships for help. Dave couldn’t hear what was said, but the Lieutenant didn’t seem happy. Then, nothing. No new orders came, and no shots were fired from either the enemy above or them behind their cover. Dave could understand why. The terrain in front of them was too broken down for the Sherman tanks to assault, and the platoon or the units around them didn’t have any heavy guns to soften the solid Japanese defensive position on the high ground above them. To attack without support would have been tantamount to suicide, and so they settled down while the fighting around them continued.

Hours upon hours later, as the battle around them raged, they were still at the coconut log wall. As darkness fell, exhausted Marines like Dave and Kurt peered out in great worry. From the dark void could come the usual and dreadful Japanese suicide charges. Explosions and scattered flares lit the battlefield at short intervals, creating new dancing shadows and inciting the Marine’s fear of the unknown. All along the battle line, the Japanese launched a counterattack, only beated back by a supreme effort and heavy guns from the U.S. soldiers. After all, the Sherman tanks were right beside the infantry to support them, and the Imperial soldiers died in droves.

On the second day ashore, Dave's platoon was ordered, along with the rest of the battalion, to keep the pressure on the Japanese, but the volcanic ridge still posed a real problem. Sergeant Hartman picked up ten guys to try and move around the enemy position’s right flank. He pivoted northward across a patch of broken wood. Soon, shots started to reverberate from their direction, and the assault order was given to the unit. Dave took a deep breath, as they would have to climb their way upward while the Japs fired at them. But Lieutenant Devers was not a stupid officer, and the moment the Marines stepped over the wall, the entire ridge erupted in hellish fury. The battleships were finally available to support them. The moment was shattering as the blasts rocked the ground and made it tremble. The explosions were so intense and powerful that Dave could even see the concussion waves as they spread in circles around the impact zones. It was even hard to stay up. Since the enemy line was up on the ridge and was 100 yards away, the battleship shells were harmless to the Americans, but they nonetheless waited for the shelling to abate before they started their way upward.

When it did, and the naval shells started to land further inland into some unseen enemy position, they advanced again.


The Naval Battle of the Malacca Strait Part 3

February 21st, 1944

(…) British Fleet (…)

Admiral Somerville read the report with obvious glee and excitement. The British Admiral of the Indian Ocean Squadron stated, “Well, gentlemen, it looks like we are going to get our pound of flesh.” “Sir?” said his chief of staff, looking at the Admiral and then at the radio officer who had just given the message to his commander. “The Nagato-Class battleship we have detected in the enemy task force appears to have detached itself from the main body, and it's going in circles. We can catch it within an hour from now.” His chief of staff smiled broadly. “Well, Admiral, this is excellent news.”

Somerville was about to say that they were going to slam the Japanese battleships with another airstrike when the alarm sirens blared. “Sir,” said the radar and lookout officers almost at the same time. “Incoming airstrike from the north.”

The next few seconds, the anti-aircraft guns started to reverberate through the hull. “It’s a big one, sir.” Somerville walked to the carrier’s bridge viewport and watched in awe as the hundreds upon hundreds of shell tracer lines climbed to the sky and populated it with explosions. “What do we have up in the air,” he asked as he watched the incoming multitude of dark dots in the sky. “We have a strong air cover, Admiral. We should weather the storm.”

A furious dogfight erupted again in the sky above the British Indian Squadron, and Japanese planes died by the dozens. While the majority of them were scattered and shot down, enough got through to get a shot at the fleet’s two carriers. While Indomitable received three bombs on its deck, spurting flames and debris and starting a large fire, Unicorn was going to be the hardest hit on that day.


A Kawanishi H8K bomber was hit by a P-51 and got damaged beyond the point of salvation; thus, its pilot decided in a snap moment that it was a good day to die for the Emperor. He plunged toward the British armored carrier in order to ram it. For this attack on the enemy, it had been packed with bombs, so when it slammed like a sledgehammer on the Unicorn, it ignited one hell of a blast and a fireball that temporarily enveloped the entire carrier. Everyone on the bridge and across the ship was thrown to the deck, and over 66 sailors were killed by the impact. The resulting fires started to rampage across the entire vessel.

Such a hit would have obliterated any Japanese or American carriers, but the British carriers were designed differently. The design involved thick armored decks with protected sides, just as if the Royal Navy was building a battlecruiser. They were the only aircraft carriers of their kind in the war.

Once the fireball and the explosions abated, the Unicorn was still there. However, surviving was a different matter than staying operational. Admiral Somerville, stunned and hurt (he was bleeding from the back of his head), stumbled on his feet, seeing his carrier and the one beside it (Indomitable) on fire. “Sir,” said his chief of staff right beside him. The man was also hurt but tried to keep his composure. The bridge of Unicorn was in a shamble, with cables hanging from the ceiling and a couple of blown viewport windows. “The two carriers are in flames! What are your orders?”

For a moment, Somerville hesitated, flirting with the idea of retreat. His carriers still floated, but there was now a real danger they could be sunk. At the same time, he was within reach of that stricken Japanese battleship. It was at that moment that the traditional Royal Navy's aggressive attitude surfaced again. “You know what,” he answered, steadying himself with his arm on one of the bridge rails. “I want to transfer my flag to the Centurion. Also, order the carriers, along with the destroyers and two of the cruisers to head back to the Andaman Islands. But signal Thunderer and heavy cruiser Berwick that we will be closing in for the kill on that Nagato-Class battleship.”

(…) Battleship Nagato (…)

“Admiral,” said the radio officer, walking by a very busy Admiral Hata as he discussed with the main engineer officer on the ship. “Yes, Lieutenant,” answered the Japanese commander, exasperated. All of his bridge was in pandemonium as the men and officers scrambled to get the repairs done on Nagato, as well as a dozen other tasks needed to run a ship during a battle. “The second air strike is a success. We have hit two enemy carriers. They are heavily damaged, and most of the enemy fleet has turned back”.

“Well, finally some good news,” answered Hata, turning back to the engineer. “So, Captain, are you certain this cannot be repaired?” “Alas, sir, we will need to be towed to a drydock in Singapore where the rudder and the back part of the ship can be examined and repaired completely.” Hata cursed out loud: “By the Emperor,” he answered. “Lieutenant,” he continued, turning back to the man who had brought him the news of the air strike. He was multitasking, and a headache was slowly developing in the back of his skull. “Did you say most of the fleet has turned back?” A cold chill ran down his spine. He had an idea of what had not turned back. “Well, yes, sir. The British are now closing in with their two battleships and a heavy cruiser.”

And then, he saw clarity and purpose. The enemy was closing down on Nagato with its big guns, and that was something the Japanese dreadnought was built to do. He sent the engineer and the radio officer away with a gesture of the hand, and the two men bowed before leaving.

“Gentlemen, man, your stations. We are about to have a brawl.” The men around him knew what that meant, and soon, the order for battle stations blared across the entire ship.

(…) The battle (…)

The three British ships (BB Centurion, BB Thunderer, and CA Berwick) kept closing in ragged formation and finally came into radar and lookout range of the Nagato. The great Japanese dreadnought finally opened fire.

The Japanese battleship had stopped all its engines half an hour before and presented its full broadside to the incoming British. With this maneuver, Admiral Hata hoped to be able to cross the Royal Navy’s “T” and fire with all of its nine 16-inch main guns, while the Brits would first only be able to fire with their guns facing forward.

On the battleship, the alarm rang, the sailors protected their ears, and the great naval rifles started to fire their gigantic shells with a monumental detonation. The dreadnought’s entire structure trembled from bow to stern with the resounding power.

At 3:53 pm, Nagato thus opened fire on Thunderer, now 13,450 yards away, with a full broadside. Her gunners hit the mark right off the bat. Thunderer’s bow and deck erupted in an explosive fury while her own guns answered by firing as well.

Centurion did not linger long after that and also sent a blazing salvoTwo minutes later, the heavy cruiser Berwick joined the party. It was a hell of a sight, with three Royal Navy vessels against one very powerful Imperial Navy one.

Nagato’s second salvo on Thunderer did very heavy damage. No less than eight direct hits splashed across the British battleship’s deck, main guns, and central tower, morphing the vessel into one hell of a gigantic fireball. Over two hundred sailors were killed almost instantly, and a wall of fire rolled across the ship within moments of the shell's impact.

Then, more hits as Japanese shells rained down as Nagato’s third salvo hit home. Thunderer’s captain ordered a tight turn to try and bring his rear guns into the action since his front ones were not a shamble. But more excellent Japanese gunnery hit the ship’s stern and forecastle, igniting another titanic explosion that knocked down almost every sailor who wasn’t strapped in.

All the while, a determined Admiral Somerville, now on-board Centurion, did his own fair share of damage. Two shells smashed Nagato’s spotter plane catapult, melting it to slag, and a third one tore the air flak center open, killing almost all its handlers. For a moment, everyone was stunned by the Japanese dreadnought, and the ship was out of control, with nobody in command.

Staggering hard and burning fiercely under the Nagato’s barrage, Thunderer’s speed and control died, its captain and bridge crew dead from a direct shell impact. Then, a powerful explosion rocked the entire ship, and a bulge briefly appeared on the forward deck, catapulting a column of flames in the air. The Nagato’s shells had hit the British battleship’s ammunition shells. A blinding flash was seen, and when it was gone, Thunderer was wrapped in a heavy smoke cloud and burned fiercely. Its battle was over even if the hulk still floated adrift.

The duel then shifted to Centurion vs the now-wounded Nagato. As the Japanese ship was finishing the Thunderer, Somerville had been able to get the ship to maneuver to offer its full broadside. Large tracer ammo blazed from one ship to the other, with repeated hits on both sides.

Then another flurry of heavy Japanese shells extinguished the lights in half the ship, also splattering a rain of destruction all across the ship’s superstructure and guns. Centurion had lost three engine rooms, two of its three main gun turrets, and half its sailors in the blink of an eye. As the shaking battleship rattled away, Somerville, now half-conscious, wondered how this day would end.

While Centurion was dying, on Nagato, Nagato wasn’t doing so good either. After all, it was hit almost every ten seconds or so by either the Centurion or the Berwick. A thick cloud of dark smoke now surrounded both opposing battleships.

A salvo from Berwick 8-inch guns (ignored by Nagato to this point) destroyed the third main turret. The entire thing spilled out in a million fiery metal pieces that eventually landed in a splattering of fire on the surrounding water.

Incredibly, Nagato and Centurion fought on. Nagato exchanged more shots with Centurion for another minute when it finally slammed the killing stroke on the Royal Navy battlewagon. Its last functioning turret’s shells penetrated the center of the ship, destroying the engine room in its entirety. A powerful blast rocked the ship, and then the battle was over for the venerable English warship.

On board Nagato, the still fighting and alive sailors (there weren’t many) cheered, and on the bridge, Admiral Hata did the same as he saw the enemy warship disabled. As he was about to unleash the last hits to send his enemy to hell, six powerful explosions rocked the side of the ship.

(…) USS Cisco, at the same time (…)

“Four, three, two, one, mark!” said USS Cisco’s Captain, Jim Cloutier. His six torpedoes spread had been aimed at the immobile Nagato, and all of them had hit in a flurry of explosive fury across the entire length of the battleship hull. “Six hits! We’ve got six hits!” and then more cheers, but this time inside the American sub.

(…) Aftermath (…)

Cruiser Berwick and submarine Cisco combed the flaming and floating debris for survivors, but they could not yet approach the burning wrecks that were Thunderer and Centurion. Both ships were complete losses, but some of the sailors had been able to escape.

Amongst others, they picked up a trembling and oil-covered Admiral Somerville. The man didn’t say a word but just got into the Berwick, silent. The British Admiral had just gone through a hellish ordeal.

In the background, the burning frame of the Nagato was slowly sinking, and with it, another little bit of the pride of the Imperial Navy. The price paid by the Allies was terrible, and things were back to square one for both sides. For once, the Japanese achieved something by initiating a naval stalemate. Nagato’s death was at least for something: Somerville would not attempt any more forays into the Strait anytime soon.


The Fight for Pago-Pago

2nd Marine Division fights in Samoa, 20th, 1944

“We’re here, Sarge,” said Dave as he pointed to the white house below them. The platoon had been going around the Pago-Pago jungle trails to get to this place as the battle for the island raged. The small but luxurious dwelling overlooking Pago-Pago Harbor was the Japanese HQ on the harbor. According to the Lieutenant, Grand Admiral Yamamoto had once been there in April 1943. As the rest of the Division fought hard down below to master the harbor, they had been tasked to storm the enemy HQ. There probably weren’t any more officers there, but nevertheless, the house was the symbol of authority on the island, and as American forces reclaimed Pago-Pago, Government House needed to be liberated as well.

The place used to be the symbol of American power and had also been used in the same capacity by the occupying Japanese troops. It thus needed to be retaken, as it was possible they could find important military leaders and or documents. “Let's go in,” ordered Sergeant Hartman. They moved with slow, carefulness toward the house, and started to hear Japanese voices. “The enemy’s in there,” Dave whispered to Kurt, who nodded with his head. The American unit was twenty-one men strong, and Hartman had no way of knowing how many enemies were in the large house. The Sergeant soon gave orders to cover the four doors with five men per entry point.

Then he gave the signal to go in by crashing into the main door. Dave and Kurt were right along with the NCO, and they barged into the house with all guns blazing. The enemy fire soon streamed toward them, but the grenade that Hartman dropped inside soon silenced the Japs guarding the main door.

“Clear,” said Kurt as he walked in, watching the dead and dying Japanese soldiers. Dave could also hear the sounds of battle across the entire building as the others from the platoon fought their way in as well. One of his fellow Marines whistled at the luxury of the place. The house was richly decorated. It was filled with local artifacts collected around the islands and had expensive paintings from long-ago admirals and statesmen. The grenade had smashed through a throng of Japanese soldiers, with most still alive but gravely injured. The walls of the entrance hall were blackened, and some smoke billowed.

Moving cautiously through the rooms, they didn’t find any more Japanese soldiers except for the ones who were killed or incapacitated by the other men from the platoon. “Sergeant,” said one of the soldiers moving by them as they inspected some of the Japanese. “We’ve found the HQ on the second floor.” “Very well, let's go,” answered Hartman, signaling to Dave and the others to follow him.

They got up the stairs and entered one of the larger rooms in the house. What awaited them was a gory spectacle. A high-ranking Japanese in full uniform had his gut opened, with a small saber beside him, and his head was cut from his body. “What the fucking hell,” said Hartman, while Dave instinctively threw up, and the others could not help but retch in disgust. “Well, seems like General Takigata has decided that defeat was not acceptable,” finally said the NCO as he spit on the dead Japanese officer.


CHAPTER 5


Yamamoto’s Gambit Part 1

Truk Atoll, Japanese super battleship Yamato, February 25th, 1944

At the beginning of 1944, as the Allies were on the full offensive in the Marshalls, Gilberts, New Caledonia, Samoa, and now New Britain, Truk sprung up at the forefront of Japan's strategic thinking. It was soon becoming the last line of defense. The Caroline Islands and New Britain further to the Southwest could not be allowed to fall.

Almost all of the Imperial Navy fleet vessels had gathered in Truk. Japan’s strategic capabilities were now severely limited and continuously shrinking. Truk was thus the only way to gather the necessary oil and supplies for the execution of Yamato’s latest gamble.

The numerous airfields housed hundreds upon hundreds of planes, from Zero fighters to Val bombers and seaplane tenders. However, they were pretty diminished in quality compared to the air contingents that had entered the war in 1942. Japan had been short-sighted in pilot training, having a ridiculous 50 pilots per month graduating from the Imperial Academy in 1942. They'd increased the number of trainees since then, but it took a good two years to train a proper pilot to expert levels.

In short, things were not going well for the Empire. Not good at all. Oil levels were dropping like an anchor in the water, experienced pilots were rare, and the Japanese were running out of territory and bases to protect its core from the rampaging Allies.

Grand Admiral Yamamoto was walking on the great wooden deck of the super battleship Yamato, looking at the planes that were training above in the skies. A sweeping glance around the lagoon told everyone present on the island that a powerful fleet was gathered. In fact, the Japanese strategic mastermind had willed it so.

As the Allies pushed harder and harder in the southwest Pacific, recently raiding the Marshall Islands and destroying Kwajalein Base, liberating Noumea in New Caledonia and the island of Samoa, and finally landing in New Britain, Yamamoto had decided that the Imperial Navy would make its stand here.

The stakes were high. If nothing were done about the Allied advances, New Britain, its all-important forward base and fortress, would fall. If the American Navy was permitted to sail up the Carolines, next up were the Philippine Islands, crucial to the whole Imperial position near the Asian mainland. Most importantly, it would expose the long and numerous streams of merchant ships bringing the resources to the factories in Japan.

The Japanese forces were doomed if oil and other essential war materials could not be transported to the home country. The Empire was large but only had factories in Japan itself. It was already difficult with the numerous American submarines attacking the convoys. If the Philippines were lost, the war was lost without any hope as well.

He'd devised a complex strategy to get the U.S. Navy to sortie and confront his forces. The carriers would be bait, and the battleships would be the hammer.  Additionally, if he could get the Americans to be close enough to Rabaul in New Britain and its numerous airfields, he would unleash another storm of planes on the enemy, hopefully bridging the gap in plane quantities even if the quality wasn’t there in terms of pilots.

The Grand Admiral turned around to get back to Yamato’s bridge, giving one last look to the carrier strike force exiting the lagoon. According to military intelligence and what the air recons had been able to gather, the enemy was about to land in New Britain. This was the moment Yamamoto had chosen to act. He would sail his powerful fleet around New Britain through the Vityaz Strait near New Guinea, send a few airstrikes at the American ships in order to entice them to attack and hope for American Admiral Nimitz to bite.

Then Yamamoto would make his move and hope for the best.


Operation Cartwheel Continued

The landings in the Gazelle Peninsula, New Britain, February 24th, 1944

By the time MacArthur’s forces were ready to land in the Gazelle Peninsula to give the killing stroke to the Japanese in New Britain, over half of the large island was already liberated. Following their successful operation at Cape Gloucester (Operation Galvanic), the Allies had replaced the Marines (the 3rd Marines was now involved in the Gazelle Peninsula landings) with Australian and U.S. Army regulars, and these units had fought their way inland all the way to Jacquinot Bay.

Not that the Japanese had exercised much control over the central parts of the islands, as the local Indigenous populations and Australian intelligence people had occupied much of the thick jungles and some of the smaller towns. Their rule thus floundered quickly the moment real Allied troops showed up to contend the land.

The reason for the Japanese weakness on the large island was that the commander in Rabaul, General Itoshi Imamura, kept most of his troops in Rabaul and in the Gazelle Peninsula for a fight to the finish once the Allies came.

Around that time, and as the U.S. troops were needed in the Gazelle Peninsula landing, responsibility for Allied operations on Western and central New Britain passed from the U.S. Army to the Australian Army, who continued to attack and advance aggressively against the Nipponese troops. That month (early February), the Australian 13th Division, under General James Groday, began arriving to replace the U.S. 39th Infantry Division, busy attacking in the direction of Jacquinot Bay.

To say that the writing was on the wall was sort of an understatement, but the main prize remained to be taken: the major Japanese base of Rabaul, with its powerful defenses and tens of thousands of troops defending it.

Hence why Douglas MacArthur organized and executed one last landing Operation in the Gazelle Peninsula. The place was a large tract of land near Rabaul proper. It was there, as stated previously, where the Japanese commander had decided to make his stand.

The main attack forces aimed at the liberation of Rabaul landed on the 25th of February with, in the lead, the experienced and battle-hardened 3rd Marine Division, the recent victors of Cape Gloucester, Guadalcanal, and Bougainville. Following one of the most significant naval and aerial bombardments of the war in the Pacific, the American troops took a firm hold on the beach and the land immediately to the south of Rabaul because, again, there were not a lot of Japanese troops present.

They all waited for the final prize, Rabaul. They were well entrenched in the protective umbrella of the volcanic caldera sheltering the city and the harbor in their man-made caverns and bunkers and were determined to fight the enemy to the last.

The 25,000 Imperial Army soldiers then faced the three American divisions (one Marine and two Army), supported by the new T-28 self-propelled guns and their superb 105 mm guns.


3rd Marine Division

Approaching Rabaul, February 26th, 1944

Private Marine Johnny Burgeau had never seen such a powerful and heavily armored tank before, and his friend, Eric Vandermain, felt the same way. “Did you see that big bastard,” said Vandermain with a soft whistle. Johnny continued: “What the hell is it? Didn’t know we had something so big in our arsenal. I thought we only had Shermans, Grants, and the rumored new tank, the Pershing.”

Being a tanker (without a tank, as his Sherman was shot out from under him during the landing, and so he’d joined Johnny’s unit), Eric knew a little more about it. “It’s called the T-28 Self-Propelled Gun,” he finally countered to his friend. Johnny continued to be impressed as the big lumbering machine churned the sand and soft earth beside them in a great roar. “And that’s a 105mm gun if you can believe it.”

The super heavy T-28 tank was a remarkable 86-ton machine. It was a self-propelled gun, packing a lot of firepower. As the war progressed and with the Axis switching resolutely to the defensive and entrenching in strong reinforced positions, the need for a machine of the size and power of the T-28 became more and more urgent.

The Germans fielded very powerful tanks, and it was thus decided in Washington that the USA would need something heavier than the Shermans and even the new-about-to-be-operational Pershing tanks to confront the big bastards. The Rabaul operation was the behemoth’s baptism of fire as the American high command expected heavy resistance, and the terrain leading up to the caldera was suitable for the machines.

Equipped with an excellent high velocity 105mm gun (the T5E1 model) that was known to have an outstanding performance against concrete and heavy fortifications, it would come in handy in front of Rabaul, facing the enormous mountains and bunkers that the Japs had built for themselves in and around the volcano’s caldera. It moved slowly, so it would not necessarily be adapted for open, mobile warfare, but as a siege gun, it fitted the bill perfectly. And Rabaul was going to be a grueling battle, as the Japs were entrenched deep in the mountains and in their bunkers.

Finally, the armor was very thick compared to other tanks of the time. The Japanese Imperial Army did not have anything comparable in terms of firepower, so the U.S. planners were confident that the 100 T-28s employed in the siege of Rabaul would perform superbly and without much of a response from the Nipponese guns.

“Well, this is perfect with me, even if it seems slow as hell,” added Eric, to which Johnny laughed. “Vandermain, as you are now a lowly infantryman, you will start to like a slow tank; believe me, it isn’t fun to try and run after an armored vehicle to try and stay under their cover.”

The big machine clattered and lumbered beside them, going toward the towering, fortified caldera that was the Rabaul Japanese base. On the road rumbled the big tanks, sprinkled with Shermans and Grants, while the infantry, like the Marines and the Army troops, walked on the side of the road in long columns. They were surrounded by towering jungle on each side of a large and wide trail leading to the main settlement in New Britain. They were alert and ready as Jap sharpshooters lurked in the woods, despite the many patrols scouring the forest as they advanced.

Shaped like a giant cauldron, the Rabaul caldera was the remaining rim of an ancient volcano. Small volcanic cones, some of which were still active, sat on the rim, giving the entire scene an eerie, menacing look to the American infantrymen.

After landing without much opposition, the three American divisions advanced northward on the road going to Rabaul. By the 27th of February, the thunder they could hear and the flashes of explosions they could see in the distance told them that they would soon go into battle.

The entire area was also covered in volcanic soot as a powerful eruption had happened in 1942. The volcano towering above Rabaul still spewed toxic, black fumes and the ambient, overbearing smell. The entire area looked like a cheap version of hell, sprinkled with sick trees and a depressing view.

Above in the sky, a large aerial battle was underway, and there were rumors that some big-ass naval battle was also about to happen south and north of them. Both men tried to concentrate on what was in front of them, as everything else would not matter if they caught a bullet in Rabaul.


Yamamoto’s Gambit Part 2

Operation Ten-Go, February 26th, 1944

The two great Japanese super-battleships, Yamato and Musashi, plowed the waves like giant behemoths in a churning sea, side by side. The two mighty ships were the center of Yamato’s battle fleet, the masterpiece in his grand Ten-Go Operation.

The weather was very foul, and the sea was a boiling mess of foaming water, the sky pouring heavy rainfall. The epic wind made it difficult to even stand on deck. But the situation was simply perfect for the plan’s unfolding. Thick clouds prevented any sane pilot from taking to the air and flying away. The weather was a lot better south near New Britain, where the Allied landings were underway, but in the area where the battlefleet sailed, it was ideal for the Grand Admiral’s design. The major flaw in the plan was to be detected too early; thus, the weather played into his designs. He needed some time before he would face the Allied planes. He organized a very heavy air cover to escort him from the multitude of airfields in New Britain.

Surrounding the twin super battleships were more dreadnoughts, smaller and older by design but nonetheless deadly with their heavy cannons. Yamamoto and his bridge staff could barely see them in the swirl of water, wind, and sprouting seas all around.

The once-powerful Imperial Navy's last battleships would accompany the two mighty Yamato-class ships in executing one hell of a gamble. They were the last battlewagons the Japanese had: the Mutsu, Ise, Hyuga, and Fuso. Most of them had seen action like their two bigger brothers, and they’d fought a very gallant war. The battlewagons of the Imperial Fleet had been firing their guns in anger pretty much non-stop from 1942 onward and had seen much damage, been repaired, patched up, and sent back to action.
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Further out, they were screened by two heavy cruisers, headed proudly (Myoko and Aoba), ships almost equal to battlecruisers in power. Again, the superb cruisers were the remnants of the once proud and numerous escort ships of the Navy. At one point in 1942, Japan had fielded over twenty of them.

Completing the screen were over thirty units of destroyers and light cruisers. It seemed a powerful force, and if Japan had been at war with any other nation in the world instead of the USA, it would have been considered the stronger side. But they had a powerful enemy to contend with near New Britain.

The United States of America has produced a lot of ships since 1942. From a position of weakness with fewer ships and less powerful units, they’d grown their navy to an enormous size. They were now so superior in quality and numbers that the Japanese Empire didn’t stand a chance. They’d also fought well and with a lot of grit. Contrary to the misplaced Japanese belief that American soldiers and sailors were weaklings unable to fight, they were real fighters, proud of their country and wanting to defeat their enemies. And they were now on the offensive to push back Japan all the way back to their island.

Grand Admiral Yamamoto knew that there was no chance for Japan in the long term, but he figured his proud Imperial Navy might still be able to pull a couple of gambles and give Japan more time. It was exactly what he’d devised as he sailed with his ships toward battle. It was something so bold that he was amazed he was even attempting it. But out of desperation came the boldest of war plans.

Yamamoto was thus pulling out one of his last trump cards of the war. Operation Ten-Go, an operation where he’d use his desperately outnumbered carrier force to lure the Americans into looking in the wrong direction while his battlefleet would try to surprise the Allied landing zones by coming from a different angle and smashing the troops' transports.
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The chances of success were slim from the start. Still, Yamamoto had decided that he would make a play for Japan’s future here and then, since waiting meant more American ships produced (over 25 capital ships per year). In contrast, his country barely managed to build two to three relevant ships (carriers and others) per year.

The plan was simple in its complexity. The grandly named First Fleet, under Admiral Saemu Toyoda, would sail northwest of the large island of New Britain and make noise in order to be noticed. The plan was to enter the Vityaz Strait and strike whatever was in range, either Cape Gloucester’s airfield or ships if possible. The battle fleet, composed of Yamato and her sisters, would sail around the East through Saint George’s Channel and barge in on the landings to destroy the ships there.

Yamamoto had also transferred as many planes as possible to New Britain and to the Caroline Islands, where the great Truk base was located. The aircraft and the pilots were now sub-quality to the American ones, but when the battle would start, the Japanese strategist had expected to be evenly matched in number of planes. That would indeed tilt the balance evenly instead of having an all-American airshow.

Both fleets set forth from the Truk base on the day the enemy landings in the Gazelle Peninsula south of Rabaul began and parted ways shortly afterward. In desperation, the Grand Admiral rolled the dice of fate, maybe for the last time.

For this fight, the U.S. Navy had brought five battleships, pretty much everything it had in the South Seas, to cover the landings. To Japan’s five carriers, the Americans fielded no less than fifteen. The ridiculousness of the growing force discrepancies was even more obvious in the fact that while the Japanese had concentrated all they had afloat for the battle, the U.S. Navy had only brought what it had in the area. They had a lot more in the Central Pacific and being built in shipyards across the Continental United States.

All the while, the powerful and confident Americans under Spruance and Kinkaid, now joined together in one grand fleet, also looked for a fight and hoped for their Japanese enemies to try something while they conquered New Britain. In fact, they counted on it since they knew the Japs could not afford to lose Rabaul.

According to intelligence on the Jap fleet, both naval forces would be evenly matched if they, by chance, found the enemy. As much as it would produce the battle he was looking for (the American strategy was to attack and wear down Japanese power since it could not be replaced fast enough), it would also create the basis for the very close call the battle ended up being.
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Yamamoto, holding the small steel rail he had been leaning on for balance in the gigantic waves Yamato rolled on, looked absently forward in the direction of his enemy. He wondered for a moment if he’d have a chance to turn back the tide of the war. He certainly hoped so, and the eager forces under his command retained all the confidence that had enabled them to conquer the Pacific just a few years back.


3rd Marine Division

Fighting for Rabaul, February 27th, 1944

“Damn,” grunted Eric as he was pushed back into a wet, dirty water hole by the blast’s concussion. He landed squarely on his back, splashing the brackish water all over and getting him soaking wet. Well, he was already wet. It was raining hard, and he and Johnny were in the middle of a very difficult fight.

Above them towered the billowing smoke of the Rabaul volcano and, of course, the enemy line of hardened bunkers they were trying to assault. “Yes, that’s it, send more,” yelled Lieutenant Devers over the field radio in yet another wet hole near Eric’s. Johnny was about five meters down, also sheltering, but behind a large tree stump.

“Everybody down! I called for another barrage,” yelled the Lieutenant to the rest of the platoon. About ten seconds later, the faraway whistling sounds of incoming artillery started to make themselves heard. Over the next five seconds, it grew in intensity until it flashed overhead with a great whooping sound.

The fortified Japanese ridge above them exploded in great fury and mayhem. Fireballs suddenly peppered the entire area, and for a moment, there were only blind flashes of light. Johnny peered his head out, and he saw the lingering fire and the accumulating and billowing smoke as a result of the shelling.

He heard Eric yell in enthusiasm. “Yes, Burgeau, can you hear them? I can hear them rumbling toward us!” Listening, Johnny heard as well. Some tanks were coming their way. And not just any tanks. The Fabulous T-28s.

Out of the smoke, they came, and Johnny cheered along with his Marine brothers. The things were slow as hell. They were so heavy they even had four tracks. Eric looked at them approaching, with enemy bullets ricocheting all around their hulls in bright sparks, and decided they could not fight other tanks. But he was quite content to have the big machines to help with the rough and hard Japanese fortifications.

Designed to blow away heavy German fortifications, the T-28 was given a very powerful gun that protruded out of the armor like a spear on a horseman. The tanks rolled slowly by the American soldiers hunkering down as best they could in the cover they had, and then they stopped roughly at the base of the ridge, elevating their 105mm guns. All the while, the Japanese infantry and cannons shot at them, but everything they threw at the T-28s (there were ten of them in front of the platoon) just ricocheted harmlessly away.

And then they fired in a coordinated fashion. The ten high-velocity guns threw their armor-piercing rounds right at the bunker’s fronts, and the shells didn’t explode right away since they penetrated into the structure. A fraction of a second later, they blew inside the concrete, blowing out entire parts of the bunkers. Then, a minute later, they fired again, and more of the Japanese fortifications were blown to smithereens. “Everybody down!” called the Lieutenant, as more shell whistles could be heard from far away. Lieutenant Devers had called for one more artillery shelling since the bunkers were now damaged.

The ridge burst into fireballs and expanding debris. For a minute, it was very intense, and the ground rocked. Then, the last shell fell, and it was time to assault. “Everybody out; we’re assaulting the bunkers!”


Yamamoto’s Gambit Part 3

Operation Ten-Go: the prelude. February 27th, 1944

Early on the 27th of February, both carrier fleets had detected each other and were scrambling planes. On the Japanese side, the last surviving elite pilots lifted off first from the great carriers Kaga, Shokaku, and Zuikaku, plus a couple of smaller escort-light carriers. They then awaited their brothers to assemble into a mighty air armada. They were also joined by Nakamura’s 34th air fleet, which had lifted off Rabaul in New Britain, and Imura’s 12th from several airfields in the center of the island not yet under the control of the advancing Allied forces. Many pilots were raw, and it would be their first battle, but all were confident that they would do their duty to the emperor.

Admiral Saemu Toyoda, commander of the 1st Fleet, was not confident. He’d been against Operation Ten-Go from the start. He’d voiced his opinion on the matter to Grand Admiral Yamamoto. Japan’s forces should have been husbanded and kept safe, for the Admiral had become a cautious man following the string of defeats the Imperial Navy had suffered in the last six months. But he’d been overruled and been lucky to have kept his command. As he looked at his last planes lifting off in the sky, he wondered what the battle would bring for Japan. He silently prayed that he and his men would be able to do their duty to the Emperor. His part in Operation Ten-Go was merely diversionary, but he nonetheless needed to make it believable. The two fleets had set sail two days before from Truk and had deliberately kept radio silence until one of them arrived at the area where Yamamoto planned to be “detected” by the Americans. Once his fleet arrived near the Vityaz Strait, Toyoda launched a small airstrike on the Cape Gloucester airfield and started blaring radio signals to make as much noise as possible for the enemy to take the bait. All the while, the Grand Admiral was entering St. George’s Channel with the remaining six Japanese battleships, intent on reaching the landing area in Wide Bay, just south of Rabaul.

There, he hoped to catch the Americans flat-footed to sink some transports and aircraft carriers and or anything that would come his way.

On the American side, Admiral Spruance, the head of the powerful Pacific Fleet, and his counterpart, Admiral Kinkaid, were looking forward to this day. The Japanese had finally decided to face the USA in a significant naval battle. America had missed its opportunity to nail the Imperial Fleet in one last grand struggle the year before in the Solomons, and Grand Admiral Yamamoto had been elusive ever since, only showing up for light skirmishes. Having detected the bulk of the enemy carrier strike force (or what was left of it, anyway), the two U.S. Admirals decided it was time to go for the kill.

From the looks of it, Yamamoto showed up with everything he had. The spotter planes talked of at least four fleet carriers and corresponding light carriers. The recon planes had also mentioned that large air fleets could be expected flying off New Britain. Thus, as he looked at the aircraft from his great fleet taking off to the skies to pay a visit to the enemy, he knew that the losses would be heavy on both sides. Crossing his arms behind his back, he convinced himself that it could not be helped. They needed to face the Japanese to defeat them soundly, whatever the cost.

Northwest of the two great carrier fleets, another major confrontation was about to take place near the Allied landing sites south of Rabaul. The two American fleets hovered near the coast and looked toward Toyoda’s fleet, unknowingly giving their flanks to Yamamoto’s battle fleet. The Grand Admiral’s ships had been miraculously able to approach up to near gun range under the cover of terrible weather. The storm front that the Japs had been riding had followed them to approach undetected all the way to the St George’s Channel. While the weather was clear near on most of the Gazelle Peninsula and most of the island (enabling the carriers to shoot at each other from both sides), the area where one of the most intense naval gun battles of the war would take place was ringed with clouds, rain, and a churning sea.

The Imperial ships approached within US radar range before being detected.  That was the major flaw in the entire Japanese mastermind’s plan. Even without planes flying above and searching for ships, the powerful radars atop the highest masts of the US fleet (battleships)could detect surface ships from 20 to 30 kilometers away. They wouldn’t be able to pinpoint the vessels as precisely to be able to fire with one hundred percent accuracy on them, but it would give an early warning as to what was coming near any U.S. fleet. Thus, the Japanese could not truly surprise the Americans, as they had on the Russians at Tsushima in 1905.

Japan had a significant technological gap with its enemy in terms of radar technology. Innovation was not the paramount quality of the Empire, and it lagged significantly behind in 1944. The Imperial Navy had several problems obtaining the materials needed to have properly functioning radars (nickel shortages, amongst others).

Hence, the radar that their ships carried was a lot less effective than the Americans. Furthermore, the U.S. Navy had also started to integrate a potent gun control system with their radars, enabling better accuracy at long ranges.

The bad weather had given a chance to the Imperial Navy to approach without being detected from the air. The fact that most of the strike planes were flying toward the Japanese carriers in the Vityaz Strait also gave Yamamoto a tactical edge. Still, Admiral Spruance had been aware of the threat that Yamamoto’s fleet represented some time before his enemy.

(…) Deck of U.S Navy carrier Essex (…)

Admiral Raymond Spruance felt pretty good on that day. The landings were going well, and the troops were closing in on Rabaul itself. The battle there wasn’t forecast to be easy, but he knew that they would eventually prevail as the Japanese would not be able to resupply their base, however strong it was. At one point, the bastards would just run out of ammo and food.

He was about to ask his chief of staff for an update on the air strike toward the Vityaz Strait when the radar and the lookout officers both yelled at the same time. “Admiral!” They said at the same time, one with a phone on his ear (the lookout officer) and the radar officer near him on the bridge. “Japanese battle fleet detected, just north of us, running at 26 knots down the St George’s Channel.” “What the hell,” he answered in panic. “Waiting for confirmation from a Catalina flight recon nearby…”

A few tense minutes later, the sightings were confirmed. The Japs were coming strong with at least four to five battleships right at the landing zone, where his two fleets were as well. Spruance did not know what else to order but the simplest of them all: “Order everyone to battle stations.”

(…) Battleship Yamato (…)

“Grand Admiral,” said the lookout officer. “We are being overflown by a flight of American Catalina planes. We have been detected.” Yamamoto grunted. The lookout officer’s words were confirmed by the sudden thunder of anti-aircraft fire from several of the ships in the fleet. Tracers climbed to the sky in mostly impotent rage because the enemy aircraft were flying high. “Very well.” He was unhappy about the news, but this surpassed his wildest hopes. The overcast weather and the heavy clouds had protected his fleet from detection until then. He figured the Americans had sent their planes toward him because they had detected his fleet with their radar. “Stay the course; we go in,” he finally ordered.

The first shells to be fired in anger that day were thus American because of their radar-finding and rangefinders. Yamamoto, hovering over an operational map of the area on Yamato’s deck, was still trying to get a sense of where they were relative to his objective with his officers when several large sprouts of water exploded within the visual range of the great ship.

The Admiral turned around in great surprise but still with a look of determination. “Call the radar room,” he said, turning to one of his aides. The super battleship sported the best radar the fleet could equip a ship with, but its effective range (and reliability) was a lot less than that of the enemy. “Get me news, Lieutenant,” finished Yamamoto in a grave voice.

Yamamoto walked up calmly (as calmly as he could look so as not to upset his nervous officers and sailors) to the window, still wet with water. It was still raining outside, but the storm was abating. Several more sprouts of water appeared, but no ships were hit yet. No radio reports of any casualties either. So far, so good, thought the admiral.

On the American side, the guns were booming amidst the heavy clouds, dark skies, and heavy rain. The ships lurched in the rolling waves, emptying their large shells in an uproar of light and sounds. Spruance and Kinkaid, watching from the deck of their respective flagships (CV Essex for Spruance and BB Tennessee for Kinkaid), could only stay idle and be impressed by the raw power arrayed in front of their eyes.

The American Admirals had moved their battleships in a straight line to receive the incoming Japanese with a full broadside while they tried to pick up speed with the carriers and transport ships to avoid them being hit by the incoming Nipponese battlewagons.

Yamamoto, for his part, raced at the best speed south to clear the St George’s Channel and reach the amphibious landing zone to smash the ships and the soldiers there to oblivion.

Battle had been joined, and one of the greatest gun duels of the Pacific War was about to ignite in catastrophic fury.


Carrier duel and dogfight

Ace pilot Takashi Onishi in the Battle of the Vityaz Strait

The Ki-84 Hayate blazed in between the burning Shokaku and Zuikaku as he rolled his plane to the left in order to avoid the stream of shell fire aimed at him by the P-51 Mustang trailing him. Ace pilot and now squadron leader Takashi Onishi thundered into the billowing smoke of the two fiercely smoldering carriers. He shot in the dark cloud and pulled his fighter control stick up the moment he was in to try and shake off his excellent American pursuer.

His Hayate suddenly jerked upward; thus, he had to fight the sudden pressure and discomfort that came along with picking up altitude and speed at the same time. For a moment, his vision blurred, with white, blue, and red colors swirling in front of his eyes, but he shook it off. The fighter shot out of the towering columns of dark smoke, and he leveled it to continue going upward, but more in an oblique manner, something that was more manageable for his body.

He peered around his plane’s canopy (especially behind), trying to find his pursuer. And then he cursed loudly. “By the emperor!” he yelled as he saw the P-51 expertly rolling into a firing angle the moment it exited the dark smoke column.

The four strings of 20 mm shells from the American fighter’s four cannons raced toward him like a blazing lasso, but he managed to do

dodge them by veering his Ki-84 left and then right.

As he made his turn, he was suddenly shocked by the state of the Japanese fleet below. Tasked with protecting the precious carriers with his squadron, he suddenly felt a surge of shame as he saw all the carriers were in flames. Two were even sinking, and he found the anti-aircraft fire was not very heavy, indicating that the escort ships were also hit.

As they flew toward the Vitiaz Strait hours before, he had felt confident with the numbers they had. But apparently, it had not been enough. Well, it would have been in 1942, he thought sourly, but not in 1944. The new pilots were just terrible, and he saw many of them fall in the first few minutes of the dogfight.

Another stream of (bullets this time) shook him out of his daydreaming, and he jerked his Hayate out of the dodging roll he’d been on. The trick when flying and trying to shake off a pursuer on your tail was to stay as unpredictable as possible. The barreling roll he’d been on should have been followed by a move to the left or the right, but he did neither. He plunged toward the sea, again toward the burning ships, which successfully threw off the American pilot’s aim.

The American ordnance shot past and exploded on the sea in great sprouts of water. The Yankee pilot sent another burst at Onishi’s Hayate, almost hitting him this time. It was too close for comfort and had been mere inches from his left wing. He pushed his throttle to the maximum. The enemy Mustang stayed on his tail, and there was nothing to do. His frequent bursts were getting closer, and after half a minute of trying to get away from him, Takashi realized that something drastic would have to be done if he wanted to stay in the air.

Looking down, he saw the burning ships and breathed deeply in anticipation of what he was about to do. He decided that only a crazy move would save him. He plunged toward the sea at a speed that made it hard to stay conscious as his body took in the g-forces, tunneling his vision and blurring his mind.

Not having time to check if his pursuer was following him, he counted down from five to zero in an attempt to figure out when to pull up on his stick. He entered the dark cloud of oil smoke above Zuikaku and made a silent prayer. He could almost feel the flak fire zipping past his ship. He figured that as good as that American pilot was, he wasn’t crazy enough to follow him through this suicidal move.

And then it was time. He pulled up on the stick, veering his plane right to thunder just above the fiercely burning deck of the great stricken carrier. His speed sort of swept the flames around his plane, and he soon looked like a burning missile, with flames billowing in a circle around him. He felt the heat of the moment, but then he shot out to a clear sky and was still alive.

It took him a few seconds to return to his normal senses as blood came back to his head and the realization that he was still alive. Looking around through his fighter’s reinforced glass, he didn’t see his enemy. He turned hard to the right and stayed just above five meters from the surface, disturbing the foaming white water even more. He looked further up and saw that the battle between the two fighter swarms was still going strong. There were also American bombers who were still disgorging their bombs, and the great formation was starting to veer back toward the East as over three-quarters of them were done unloading their bomb cargo on the Japanese fleet.

He sped fast above a sinking destroyer and pulled hard on his plane stick to pick up altitude again. Free from the bastard on his tail, he looked for another enemy to kill.


Yamamoto’s Gambit Part 4

Operation Ten-go: the carrier battle. February 27th, 1944

Once the Japanese carrier air armada (planes from the Zuikaku, Shokaku, Kaga, and the smaller escort carriers Shinyo and Kaiyo) had joined up with the land-based 11th and 34th air fleets, they flew toward the enemy ships near the Gazelle Peninsula. Several planes joined them minutes before they arrived over the enemy fleet. The rest of the planes in the carrier fleet (from the light and escort carriers) stayed by Toyoda’s ships to protect them since an American raid was also to be expected.

On the other side of the battle, the American air strike, almost ten times more powerful in terms of planes and trained pilots, also approached the Vityaz Strait, where the poor Japanese bait awaited their fate.

By some twist of fate, both flights of aircraft crossed each other’s paths but missed themselves by a few kilometers. Some of the American fighters saw the outlying form of the enemy strike, but they were ordered to stay the course. The Allies had kept a lot of fighters above their fleet as well as a powerful host of aircraft flown from the now multiple and large airfields in the Solomons.

After a two-hour flight, they were in sight of the mighty American armada. The Imperial Navy pilots marveled at the size of the fleet before them. Well over fifteen carriers, five battleships, and a multitude of smaller ships covered their view. The large U.S. airstrike was, by that time, also approaching the Japanese fleet. Both air contingents had flown within eight miles of each other while going toward their objective. Hell was about to be visited by both Pacific War enemies.

The Japanese struck first. Val bombers, Hayate fighters, Kawanishi bombers, Zero planes, and everything in between the Japanese had been able to scrape together descended upon the Pacific fleet and the 2nd Allied fleet’s capital ships like a rain of death. They first faced a furious air battle with the numerous fighter planes hovering over the U.S. vessels. Dozens of planes were destroyed or spiraled down in flames in mere minutes.  The Japs then had to face a wall of steel from the mighty flak guns of their enemy. After all, the Americans had over 150 ships with which to fire anti-aircraft support. Dozens more were destroyed. Japanese losses were very high in this first raid since their pilots did not possess a lot of training compared to the American ones. Some were just fresh off flight school, with barely enough of a skillset to fly and fire their plane’s guns. And besides, American flak gunnery was now very potent, with a lot of guns and also good rangefinders.

Never again during the rest of the battle would the Japanese be able to inflict as much damage as this first attack. The fifty or so planes that were left after the ordeal (the Zero and Hayate fighters stayed above the skies to continue fighting the American planes) either dropped their bombs or launched their torpedoes at the American ships.

Fleet carriers Essex, Saratoga, and Yorktown each received two torpedoes, while the Hornet and Wasp II received three bombs on their decks. Five cruisers and eight destroyers were also sunk outright by the aggressive Imperial Navy forces. Many of the desperate Japanese pilots ended up crashing into the ships as they got damaged.

Most U.S. carriers would go on to survive the attack. While each was at one point engulfed in raging fires and with gaping holes on their decks or sides, the American damage-control teams did a great job of keeping them afloat and, in some cases, still workable for flight operations. The Allied fleets were still operational, and several flattops were untouched and able to continue fighting.

The Japanese planes withdrew back to their home base or what they hoped would still be a floating carrier after emptying their loads. An excellent start to the battle, the surviving pilots thought. They hadn’t known then, but they would not be able to fly back to their carriers.

Far away up north, just about ten minutes later, the American airstrike also arrived at its targeted destination. Three hundred planes battled it out with the 75 fighters on patrol over the Japanese carriers for several minutes, losing many because Admiral Toyoda had kept most of his leftover veterans in CAP duty (combat air patrol). But many U.S. planes got through, and while the Imperial ships threw their flak at them, it was very light because no large battleships and cruisers had been present to cover the sky with a storm of steel. Only a dozen planes were hit. Such was the enormity of Yamamoto’s gamble. The last carriers of the Imperial Navy had been offered as bait.

And then the fine American pilots, veterans of many battles, well trained and with superior machines, dropped bombs and torpedoes on the enemy carriers. The results were catastrophic to the Japanese. Kaga was sunk outright by four torpedoes, exploding in a great cacophony of fire. Numerous bombs and torpedoes quickly struck Shokaku and Zuikaku. Light carriers Kaiyo and Shiyo also exploded in bright balls of fire, receiving several bombs and torpedoes. Ten destroyers and three light cruisers were also sunk.

When the only thing left high above in the sky were the fading contrails of the American air raid, the Japanese fleet that was struggling for its life below was but a shadow of its former self. None of the flattops were able to accept any planes, Toyoda was dead, and the remaining officers quickly ordered the seriously damaged Zuikaku and Shokaku back to Truk.

All carrier-based planes were thus ordered to Rabaul to refuel and rearm. The losses had been accounted for in Yamamoto’s plan, and the fight would continue from an “unsinkable carrier,” the large island of Rabaul.


Yamamoto’s Gambit Part 5

Duel of the fates, the battleship brawl, Late on February 27th, 1944

With short notice, Kinkaid and Spruance planned their defenses with skill. They first contacted their comrades and counterparts to get them their execution orders. They possessed the numbers of ships, the better tech, planes above. Furthermore, St George’s Channel was narrow and offered a perfect opportunity to “Cross the T.” The maneuver was an age-old naval move in which a line of warships crossed in front of a line of enemy ships to allow the crossing line to bring all their guns to bear while it received fire from only the forward guns of the enemy. Knowing the Japanese were charging head-on toward the landing beaches and the assembled escort ships and carriers there, it wasn’t difficult for the two American commanders to sail their surface ships in a blocking fashion and await Yamamoto’s battlewagons.
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In all, the U.S. and Allied ships arrayed five battleships, three heavy cruisers, thirty-six destroyers, and five light cruisers.

The incoming Japanese fleet was truly powerful and promised to be one hell of a contender for the ships trying to block Yamamoto’s way toward the landing beaches and the soft bellies of the carriers and other fleet support ships.
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It had the same number of battleships but had the two biggest units in the South Seas, the Yamato and Musashi, the two ships having earned the nicknames of the “Scourge of the U.S. Fleet” following their multiple battleships kills since the start of the war. It also sailed with two heavy cruisers, six light ones, and twenty-one destroyers.

As the first shells landed amidst his fleet, Grand Admiral Yamamoto ordered his ships to keep full steam south. Japanese radar operators had not been able to detect the enemy as efficiently as the Americans had been able. The result of the first few agonizing minutes of the battle, in which only the U.S. Navy fired shots at the Japanese fleet, was Yamato hit by a 16-inch shell from New Jersey. The great ship rocked from the hit but remained otherwise unharmed. Musashi suffered the same fate as it was fired upon by South Dakota and West Virginia. But both super-dreadnoughts just shrugged off the hits, saved by their heavy 16-inch armor belt. The U.S. shells had lost most of their momentum at 24 miles distance.

But things changed rapidly as Yamato’s radar, the best in the Imperial Navy fleet, eventually detected the U.S. fleet cruising twenty miles south of their position. Battleships from both sides lobbed shell after shell at the other while planes could not intervene, the weather still being too foul to actually have anything flying, and because the carriers were busy slugging it out at each other at the same time.

The first significant hit was made by New Jersey’s guns directly on Yamato’s superstructure. The hit reverberated loudly in the ship’s hull, producing tremors reminiscent of a small earthquake. A second or two later, another volley bracketed the great Japanese ship on one of its forward turrets. When the smoke cleared above the conning tower, Admiral Yamamoto, still stunned by both quick blows, saw that the gun turret was half mangled, but one of the three cannons still seemed intact.

The great Imperial Navy vessel was not to be undone. It fired a mighty volley a minute later also at New Jersey. By then, the range had closed to 19 miles, an effective range for the Jap gunners. The seven operational 18.1-inch guns threw their shells at the powerful American battleship and hit it on the starboard side and on the armored deck. The resulting explosion shell-shocked most of the crew on the ship, throwing many off-balance and to the floor. Over forty sailors died on impact. When the smoke cleared, a gun turret was gone, and several blackened spots of mangled armor dotted the ship in many places. A gaping hole smoked off the deck on the front of the vessel. While hurt badly, the American monster was not done fighting.

Musashi, South Dakota, and Tennessee, the next most powerfully gunned ships afloat that day, struck each other in succession with multiple volleys. The Americans were (sadly for their crews) the sore losers in the exchange, not being able to dent the Musashi 16-inch armor belt enough for it to be severely damaged, apart from destroying a turret. The Japanese super-battleship had a very different impact on the U.S. ones. While its first volley produced severe damage, the next one that hit South Dakota squarely in the middle of the ship destroyed the control tower and the gun control; it killed most of its command crew, including its captain. The battlewagon, smoking, burning, and severely wounded, was not to fire a shot again that day. It started drifting, and Musashi redirected its fire on Tennessee, soon stricken by a bracketing volley.

Multiple fireballs exploded across its superstructure, and over 200 sailors were killed. Admiral Kinkaid was knocked unconscious as the central tower was slammed hard, and the entire viewport window on the bridge exploded.

All the while, the “smaller” dreadnoughts also fired madly at each other. While the Japanese achieved several hits on their Allied counterparts, the Americans got the best of the exchange, their ships being newer and with, as previously mentioned, better gun control. Here, the Imperial Navy ships weren’t saved by impervious armor like their bigger brothers were. Mutsu, Hyuga, Fuso, and Ise were all severely shaken and damaged by the powerful American volley fire.

Some of the American softer ships, sailing with the fleet and hovering near the landing zone in the Gazelle Peninsula, were also hit. Fleet escort carriers Solomons and White Plains were sunk by a powerful bracketing volley from Mutsu, and escort carrier CVL Fanshaw Bay suffered the same fate from Ise.

As the big battleships got busy exchanging fire with their counterparts, Yamamoto ordered the destroyers to fan out and try to destroy as many support ships as possible near the beaches, but they were intercepted by U.S. Navy destroyers. Both groups of ships blazed at one another, killing several on each side (10 sunk Japanese for 7 sunk Americans)

While this was happening, the dreadnoughts continued their dance of fate and duel of death. Ise was rocked by a major explosion and listed heavily to port, sinking in not even ten minutes. Hyuga was crippled by a hit combination by Indiana and West Virginia, while cruiser Aoba was sunk by Wichita. Hyuga would not survive even if still afloat once Yamamoto retired with his ships. Not able to go at more than three knots, raked by fire, and still fighting, it was sunk after the battle by spreads of torpedoes from destroyers.

Yamato eventually slammed enough shells into New Jersey to sink it, and it exploded in a catastrophic blast that rocked the ships around it. The battle lasted another half hour, at which time both sailed on a diverging course that made them open the range to the point that both fleets were out of contact by nightfall. But the hours of shelling had produced more death and destruction than in any of the battles so far in the Pacific.

The clouds and the bad weather cleared overnight, to the Japanese remnant forces' great dismay. Planes from the surviving and undamaged American carriers flew off by midday on the 28th upon spotting the stricken Imperial Fleet, trying to reach the safety of the open sea toward the Caroline Islands. It was pretty much without air cover except for a light screen that had flown off Rabaul and Truk.

The American planes descended with a vengeance on the leftovers of the Jap battlefleet and slammed the poor, already heavily damaged ships. Old battleship Fuso took another seven torpedoes on its hull before sinking to the bottom, while Musashi, hit by ten bombs, was engulfed in raging flames as it sailed home.

Yamamoto’s gambit had been an utter, abject failure, and the Imperial Navy would never recover from the battle. While the U.S. Navy suffered greatly from the ordeal as well, it was not comparable in strategic terms since it had a lot of ships in the production pipeline, while Japan didn’t.


EPILOGUE


(…) Truk Lagoon, March 1st, 1944 (…)

Grand Admiral Yamamoto walked the distance to the large window overlooking the Truk Lagoon, where his blackened and beaten-down ships lay. He took a deep breath and closed his eyes to try and steady himself.

Before him were the blackened forms of his last surviving battleships, Yamato, Musashi, and Mutsu. He knew they were the last three and that a fourth (Yamashiro) was in dry docks in Japan because he had learned of Nagato’s demise in the Malacca Strait.

Then he turned his head to look at the still slightly smoking hulks (that was the only way they could be described) of fleet carriers Shokaku and Zuikaku. The last battle result had been satisfactory in terms of tactical objectives, but the losses the Imperial Navy sustained in executing Operation Ten-Go were terrible.

He crumbled the piece of paper he had in his right hand. He’d been holding on to it for a while, for it epitomized his failure. The short words on the message (a radio transcript of his few orders) were now engraved in his mind forever, like a dark blotch on his pride and honor.

… From Imperial HQ, Dai Honei …

….Effective immediately, Isoroku Yamamoto is promoted to Minister of the Navy and recalled to Tokyo for consultations…

While the words spoke of a promotion, the Grand Admiral knew he’d just been dismissed from command. It was subtle, but it was what it was. Someone else would take over the reign of the by now truly weakened Imperial Navy.

It wasn’t that he was mad about losing his post. After all, he’d failed numerous times. It was the shame of it all. Grand Admiral Isoroku Yamamoto, the mastermind behind the Japanese Blitzkrieg, the conquest of the entire Pacific, and the destroyer of enemy fleets.

He was defeated.

(…) Thailand, March 1st, 1944 (…)

“Remember, Tanaka,” said Captain Hayabashi to Ishiro as he loaded on the departing destroyer’s ramp. “If you survive this god-forsaken war, come to me and my family. There will always be work for a resourceful man like you.” Ichiro nodded. “Yes, Captain, I wish you a great return home.” “And I wish you to continue to thrive and survive.” Remember, come to Ishaka Street and ask for me.”

And at that, the Captain walked on the steel ramp and got onto the departing destroyer’s deck. The man’s connection back in Japan had finally come true and he had been recalled to home duties a week ago. It was a good thing since things weren’t going well in Southeast Asia for the Empire.

The 18th Division was holding on to dear life like the rest of the Imperial units as they executed a fighting retreat southward. Now that his patron and benefactor was gone, Ichiro wondered what the future held for him. Turning toward the North, where the frontline was and where he heard the distant rumbling of artillery and battle, he breathed in to calm himself.

(…) Exiting the Malacca Strait (…)

Sub-skipper Jim Cloutier read the radio transcript one more time. Like Admiral Yamamoto, the words were now written in his mind, but for a very different reason. Pride. Pride in him, pride in his crew, and pride in Cisco.

… From U.S. Navy HQ, Pearl Harbor …

Congratulations to Cisco for the sinking of Nagato. Head to the Andaman Islands for medals and commendation ceremony.

Things were sweet, and Cloutier was now known throughout the entire USA for being the one who sank one of the big Japanese battlewagons, the battleship Nagato. It was sweet to be a sub captain.

(…) The situation in the Pacific at the close of February 1944 (..)

The Japanese Empire was shrinking with every passing day in 1944. The Hawaiian Islands were back under American control, as well as Johnston Island and its vaunted Japanese base protected by the two concrete battleships. American forces were racing toward Midway and Wake to land and liberate the strategic islands on the direct route to the Japanese Home Islands.

In the South Seas, the fight was almost over, and it looked like it would end with a total and complete Allied victory. Rabaul was under siege, and it was only a matter of time before it fell. MacArthur was already preparing the landing in the Admiralty Islands, and the Americans were in the last planning stages of Operation Hailstone, the destruction of the Truk Japanese base.

America also had its eyes on the Marshalls, the Marianas, and the Palau’s before it could lunge at the real prize, the Philippines. Japan was busy fortifying the islands in order to give the best reception possible to their Yankee enemies.

In Southeast Asia, things looked dire for the Japanese, but they were not desperate. The mutual destruction of both Admiral Hata and Admiral Somerville’s fleets created the condition for a slugging match on the ground. The Allies advanced everywhere, but Japanese resistance was stiffening.

And finally in Japan, there were those, like the Emperor and the new Minister of the Navy, Isoroku Yamamoto, who believed that the war was lost and that it was perhaps time to contemplate peace with the Allies.
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Also, from the same author:

BLITZKRIEG PACIFIC

The year is 1942.

The world is at war. Almost every major nation has declared for the Allies or the Axis. Europe is occupied by the Third Reich, and the British Islands have been invaded and conquered by the Germans. Metropolitan France has fallen, along with its North African colonies. Spain and Turkey have joined the Axis. The Middle East is Axis. The USA and Soviet Russia are also at war with the Third Reich.

Only one major power is still on the sideline. Imperial Japan, already busy in its war of conquest in China, dawns to the idea of conquering the Pacific and Southeast Asia following German successes in Europe and the subsequent weakening of the resource-rich Franco-British and Dutch colonies.

The United States, following Japan’s occupation of the French colony of French Indo-China in 1940, froze all of Tokyo’s assets, stopped scrap metal deliveries, and is just about to stop delivering oil to the hungry Japanese military machine. A move certain to trigger a reaction from the warmongers in Tokyo.

President Roosevelt’s decision to do so is about to have dire consequences for America. The Imperial Navy has set its sights on the main US base in the Pacific, Pearl Harbor. And all across the Japanese-held islands of the Pacific, the forces of the Rising Sun prepare for a full-scale invasion that they hope will give them control over the resources the country needs to continue on its expansion.

This is the story of the War in the Pacific. 


Also, from the same author:

AUSTERLITZ ALTERNATE

DECEMBER 2ND, 1805

The War of the Third Coalition rages in Europe. Battles have been fought, and Napoleon Bonaparte's Grande Armée sweeps everything before it. After a big victory over an Austrian Army in Ulm, the French occupied Vienna, the capital of the Austrian Empire.

The Russians entered Austria to come to the help of their Allies and under pressure from the British.  The Austro-Russians and the French are about to clash in a small, unknown town called Austerlitz.

And then everything changes. The French stop trying to retake the Pratzen Heights, and the day's battle ends in a stalemate for both armies. Kutusov, the allied army's leader in the absence of young Tsar Alexander (who fell ill and is still somewhere in Galicia), decides to retire the army northward with the Austrian Emperor's approval.

The news galvanizes the Revolution's enemies and of the Empire, jealous of Napoleon's success and wanting him gone. The Prussians decide to join the war and move their troops into Austria to link their forces with the two other powers. The German states and other countries like Naples rethink their stances in the conflict. And the French Emperor's internal enemies, ever-wishing the old regime's return, start plotting to overthrow the government in Paris.

All the while, the Ottoman Empire, convinced by the French several months earlier to enter the war, has decided to intervene in favor of Bonaparte and invade southern Hungary with an Army. Austria is on the brink of annihilation, but Napoleon's Grande Armée also has a big challenge ahead since it now needs to defeat three major powers simultaneously.

Everything will come down to either Napoleon's genius to overcome the odds and win regardless of the troops arrayed against him or his defeat and the end of the French Empire.

This is the story of the Napoleonic Wars.


Also, from the same author:

THE BEAR AND THE SWASTIKA

The year is 1939.

The World rocks with the news of the signing of the Germano-Soviet pact. A dark veil soon falls on Europe as Poland is invaded and destroyed by the overwhelming forces of the Wehrmacht and the Red Army.

France and the United Kingdom can only sit by and watch the two military juggernauts obliterate the Polish state. No one believes the two totalitarian regimes can agree in the long term as their ideologies completely contradict each other.

Russia wants influence in the Balkans, has eyes on Finland, and wants an opening to the Mediterranean. Germany needs Romanian oil to keep its war machine operational, and Hitler is adamant about not letting the Bolsheviks gain another inch of ground in Europe. At least not more than he has already given out in the treaty of non-aggression signed before the Polish campaign.

The year is 1940.

The French campaign then unfolds with a disaster for the Allies, and the Germans win an incredible victory over the combined forces of the United Kingdom and France. British forces narrowly escape to their island with the remnants of their armies, and France surrenders. Half of the country is occupied by the Germans. It seems that the swastika will conquer the world, especially with the Russian bear watching its back.

Germano-Soviet Axis talks were organized in October 1940 concerning the Soviet Union's potential entry as a fourth Axis Power during World War II. The negotiations include a two-day conference in Berlin between Soviet Foreign Minister Vyacheslav Molotov, Adolf Hitler, and German Foreign Minister Joachim von Ribbentrop. The two powers will try to agree on a formal alliance to divide the world.

The fate of liberty hangs in the balance.


Also, from the same author:

SPACE WAR, An Empire Divided

The Empire built by Haakon the Great is no more. It's 4124, and the Human race has spread to the stars in four different star clusters by discovering light speed and wormholes. A civil war has broken out between the different human enclaves to see who will be the next emperor of humanity.

The Ptolemy and Hadesian Star Nations are invading Elysium, allied with New America from the Alpha Perseis Cluster. Large battles are being fought in star systems between former comrades of the Imperial Fleet. In space, battleships unload their powerful weapons at each other while giant battle mechas fight for control of the ground.

The opportunity is too great for the evil Cybernetic forces in the Caldwell 14 Star Cluster. Having fought – and lost – a terrible war against the Empire two hundred years ago, they are gathering for a return engagement against humanity.

A thousand years before, Haakon has dreamed and foreseen a terrible time for humanity. The Black Death is coming to consume all, and his Empire will not be there to fight it.
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